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Directors’ Report
Introduction and Background Information
Hertfordshire Partnership Foundation Trust obtained its Foundation Trust status on
1 August 2007, under the National Health Service Act 2006 and is regulated by Monitor, the
Independent Regulator of Foundation Trusts.
This Directors’ report covers the year ending 31 March 2010.
We provide:
•
•
•

Child and adolescent mental health services in Hertfordshire
Specialist health services to people with learning disabilities in Hertfordshire and
Norfolk
Integrated health and social care to people who need mental health services in
Hertfordshire, which has a population of 1 million.

Our strategic objective is to become the leading provider of Mental Health and Specialist
Learning Disability services in the country.
We plan to deliver quality services, make good use of resources, be an excellent employer,
create a learning organisation, and with others promote mental well-being.
The Trust was very proud to be accepted as the first Mental Health and Specialist Learning
Disability Health and Social Care Foundation Trust. Foundation Trust status gives us a
number of opportunities to improve the service we provide to the community by:
•
•
•

A stronger involvement with local communities through membership
The ability to re-invest finance in local service developments
Increased stability from longer term contracts with commissioners

Financial Review
Overview
This section of the Directors’ report provides a commentary on the continued excellent
financial performance of the Trust, leading to a net surplus (excluding exceptional items)
of £3.9m for the financial year 2009/2010. The commentary provides an overview of the
accounting processes and an analysis of the financial performance. To supplement this
analysis and provide an indication of future financial performance appropriate financial
trends through comparison with last year’s performance are included.
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Financial Statements and Accounting Policies
The full set of financial accounts and accounting policies are set out within this report.
These have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS), completed in accordance with the directions given by Monitor and are
designed to show a true and fair view of the Trust’s financial activities. The detailed
accounting policies comply with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and
form the basis on which the financial statements have been compiled. The titles of the
Financial Statements have been renamed since the 2008/2009 accounts in accordance
with IFRS and are now:
Financial Statement

Previous Title

Statement of Comprehensive
Income (SOCI)

Income &
Expenditure
Account
Balance Sheet

Statement of Financial
Position
Statement of Cash Flows

Cash Flow
Statement

Annual
Accounts
ref.
page 2
page 3
page 5

The Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses has been incorporated on the face
of the SOCI and a new ‘Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity’ added.
Accounting policies relating specifically to pensions and other retirement benefits are set
out in note 2.5.2 to the accounts. Details of staff who retired early on ill health grounds are
set out on page 25 of the accounts.
Having adopted IFRS, the prior year accounts (2008/2009) have been restated such that
the year-on-year figures are comparative. The completion of this restatement exercise
was undertaken in the summer of 2009 and reviewed by external financial advisors to
confirm the appropriate accounting treatment, particularly in relation to assets held on our
balance sheet. The restatement is both technical and presentational in nature, but has no
effect on ongoing cash transactions and finances of the Trust. The Directors adopted the
restated 2008/2009 accounts in July 2009 and these were subsequently audited and
approved by our external auditors before being submitted to Monitor in September 2009.
Going Concern
The accounts have been prepared on the basis that the Trust continues to operate as a
‘going concern’, reflecting the ongoing nature of its activities. After making enquiries, the
Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Trust has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts.
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External Audit
The annual accounts were reviewed by the Trust’s external auditors, the Audit
Commission, who issued an unqualified opinion. So far as the Directors are aware, there
is no relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware. The Directors have
taken all the steps they ought to have taken as Directors in order to make themselves
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that
information.
The Audit Commission have been approved as the Trust’s external auditors by the Board
of Governors through to 2011/2012. The Trust’s Engagement Lead is Mark Hodgson and
Cathy Smith is the Trust’s External Audit Manager. The focus of the Audit Commission’s
work centres on the audit requirements of the Code of Audit Practice but can also cover
some non-audit work as directed by the Trust. The cost of these other services is shown
separately in the accounts. Any additional non-audit work can only be requested on the
basis of an agreed protocol as it remains important that the external auditors’
independence from management and objective approach is both maintained and
transparent the total external audit fee for 2009/2010 was £85,739 comprising:
Audit Area
Statutory Audit
Work
Other work

Audit Fee
£
58,000
27,739

Counter Fraud Activities
In order to counter fraud and corruption, the Trust engages a dedicated Local Counter
Fraud Specialist (LCFS) through RSM Tenon. The Trust has an Anti-fraud and
Corruption Policy and Work Plan approved by the Board of Directors’ Audit Committee,
reflecting the NHS Counter Fraud and Security Management Services framework, with
regular reports received throughout the year by the Audit Committee. The Trust has also
adopted a Standards of Business Conduct Policy and both policies are accessible
through the Trust website.
Related Parties
During the year none of the Board Members, Governors or members of the key
management staff or parties related to them, has undertaken any material transactions
with the Trust. Details of other related party disclosures are set out in the accounts on
pages 38 & 39.
Private Patient Income
Whilst Foundation Trusts are able to generate income through the provision of services to
private patients, this must not exceed a predetermined cap. The Trust’s private patients’
cap is £nil and therefore no private patient income was generated in the financial period
(see note 5.2 in the accounts).
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Charitable Funds
As an NHS Foundation Trust we make no political or charitable donations. However, the
Trust does continue to benefit from the receipt of charitable funds arising from donations
and fund raising activities and is extremely grateful to fundraisers and members of the
public for this continued support. The Trust Board acts as Trustees ensuring appropriate
stewardship for these funds which are used for the purchase of equipment or services
according to the purpose of the funds. Where funds are for ‘general purpose’, these are
used more widely for the benefit of service users and staff. The Annual Accounts and
Report for these charitable funds for the financial year 2009/2010 are available separately
on request from the Director of Finance and Performance Improvement. There is of
course no charge for this.
Cost Allocation and Charging Requirements
The Trust has complied with the cost allocation and charging requirements set out in the
HM Treasury and Office of Public Sector Information Guidance.

Analysis of Financial Performance
Financial Outturn
This has been another successful year for the Trust, building on the ‘excellent’ rating
awarded by the Care Quality Commission for ‘use of resources’ for the financial year
2008/2009 and this year achieving an underlying year end surplus of £3.9m (before
adjusting for impairments). This surplus is available for reinvestment in programmes to
continually improve the quality of our services and service user experience. In 2009/2010
we have invested in a range of developments, including:
•
•
•

Completion of new Psychiatric Intensive Care, Low Secure and Child and
Adolescent units
Refurbishment of The Meadows and The Stewarts
Rationalisation and alteration of office accommodation

Exceptional Item
The impairment of £7.1m arises from the formal 5 yearly revaluation of all fixed assets (in
line with all NHS organisations) together with a specific exercise to reflect the value of two
new assets, the Oak & Beech (psychiatric intensive care unit/low secure unit), and Forest
House (psychiatric unit for adolescents), brought into use during the year. These
impairments are ‘non-cash’ items and in line with accounting rules have been written off
as a ‘technical’ loss during the year. For assets where the revaluation reserve has been
exhausted, the charge is made within expenditure shown on the face of the SOCI. These
charges reduce the underlying surplus of £3.9m to a technical deficit of £3.2m. As a
technical accounting adjustment there is no effect on the financial risk rating assessment
by Monitor.
The Directors are of the opinion that there are no fixed assets where the market value is
significantly different from the value included in the financial statements.
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Financial Risk Rating
Monitor has assessed and awarded the Trust a Financial Risk Rating of 4 for 2009/2010
reflecting the strong financial performance of the Trust. Detailed and comparative data
and an explanation of the regulatory rating framework are set out on page 81 of this
report
(E – Regulatory ratings section).
Key Metrics (financial indicators)
The Financial Risk Rating is comprised of key metrics drawn from the financial
statements and incorporates four key criteria which further demonstrate the strong
financial performance of the Trust:
Financial
Criteria

Metric

2009/2010

2008/2009

Underlying
Performance
Financial
Efficiency

EBITDA Margin

5.6%

5.0%

Income &
Expenditure
Surplus Margin
Return on
Assets
Liquidity Ratio

2.0%

1.7%

5.3%

6.3%

57 days

75 days

Financial
Efficiency
Liquidity

Working Capital and Liquidity
The Trust continues to proactively manage its cash balances and ended the year with a
strong cash position, partly as a result of our close attention to the collection of income
due. This strong position has enabled the Trust to manage its cash flow without recourse
to the utilisation of its working capital loan facility during the year. Cash balances are
prudently invested during the year in accordance with the Treasury Policy approved by
the Directors, with security and liquidity of funds being paramount. This yields interest
which is reinvested in services, but due to the ‘credit crunch’ and minimal interest rates
available, these returns have been significantly reduced at £302,000 for 2009/2010
(£1.87m 2008/2009). The Statement of Cash Flows illustrates the sources and uses of
cash generated by the Trust during the financial year.
Financial Investments
The Trust does not have any investments in subsidiaries or joint ventures and does not
have any significant exposure to interest rate or exchange rate risks and therefore does
not hold any complicated financial instruments to hedge against such risks. Details are
shown on pages 17, 18 and 35 of the annual accounts.
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Summary of Key Results from the Accounts
Headline information on the key results from the accounts is set out in the following table:

Total Income
Income from Mandatory Clinical Services
Surplus for the Year (excluding Impairments
and Exceptional Items)
Capital Expenditure
Capital Charges (Depreciation & Public
Dividends)

2009/2010
£000
198,098
190,959
3,936

2008/09
£000
188,567
182,118
3,250

9,983
6,993

25,022
7,705

Income
In the financial year 2009/2010 the Trust generated income totalling £198m of which the
majority relates to income from activities as illustrated below:
£000
190,959
7,139

Income from Activities
Other Operating Income

%
96.4%
3.6%

The 2009/2010 Operating Framework included 0.5% uplift on allocations available to
Trusts as a condition of achieving Commissioning for Quality Improvement and Innovation
(CQUIN) goals. The Trust agreed a schedule of CQUIN targets with the Hertfordshire
Joint Commissioning Team and an associated monetary value of £602,000. The Trust
was successful in securing £570,000 (95%) against the agreed schedule.
Operating Expenses
Total operating expenses can be analysed into the following main categories:

16%

6%
5%
3%

63%

5%
2%
Pay
Clinical Supplies and Services
Depreciation and Impairments
Premises
Services from other NHS Bodies
Services from non-NHS Bodies
Other
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In common with other Trusts, the most valuable and significant area of resource is
staffing. However, as a Partnership Trust with delegated secondary commissioning
responsibilities and operating from over 100 sites in Hertfordshire and Norfolk, there are
other significant categories of cost to manage. Further detail of expenditure for the
financial year can be found under note 6 (page 21) of the accounts.
Management Costs
Management costs, as defined by the Department of Health guidelines, represent 6.0% of
Trust turnover for the financial year (5.7% 2008/09). Further information detailing the
costs to be included in this calculation can be found at:
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Managingyourorganisation/Financeandplanning/NHSmanagementcosts/DH_4000338

Specific reference to senior managers’ remuneration is detailed at note 6.2 of the
accounts and within the remuneration report (pages 22 & 23).
Policy and Payment of Creditors
The Trust adopts the Confederation of British Industry (CBI) ‘Better Payment Practice
Code’ in respect of invoices received from NHS and non-NHS suppliers. This requires
payment to be made within 30 days of receipt of goods or a valid invoice (whichever is the
later), unless other terms have been agreed. Our payment policy is consistent with this
objective and our measure of compliance with the code is:

Total non-NHS invoices paid to 31st March
2010
Total within target
Percentage within target

Number of
Invoices
31,699

Value
£000
64,499

28,352
90%

58,773
91%

Total NHS invoices paid to 31st March 2010
Total within target
Percentage within target

1,543
1,306
85%

28,429
26,737
94%

In line with the Government’s commitment to support local and national suppliers through
the ‘credit crunch’, we aim to make payments to non-public sector suppliers within a 10
day window and have achieved 51% success in making payments at least 20 days earlier
than required.
Capital Programme
During 2009/2010 we invested £9.9m in providing new or improved assets (land, property
and equipment) through the capital programme agreed and reviewed by the Directors.
The key features funded through the 2009/2010 capital programme are:
•
•
•
•
•

the completion of the new Oak and Beech units and redevelopment and upgrade
of inpatient adolescent services at Forest House, all on the Harperbury site;
upgrading work at The Stewarts to provide single rooms and ensuite facilities and
refurbishment of The Meadows;
reprovision of the Little Plumstead day services in Norfolk (ongoing);
development of Bowlers Green to provide ‘step-down’ facilities; and
reconfiguration and centralisation of bases in Stevenage (Saffron Ground) and
Borehamwood (Civic Centre).
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Prudential Borrowing Limit
As a Foundation Trust we have the freedom, within Monitor’s Prudential Borrowing Code,
to seek commercial borrowing to finance capital expenditure, or to manage working
balances. The Trust has been set a limit based on this code to reflect its ‘credit
worthiness’ (page 18 of the accounts). These limits are:
•
•

£39,300,000 for long term borrowing
£13,000,000 as a working capital facility.

The capital programme to date has been met from internally generated resources and
therefore there has been no requirement to borrow any external finance on a commercial
basis.
Forward Look
Despite reasonable hopes last year that although growth in NHS spending might be a
modest 1.2% for 2010/2011 (1.7% 2009/2010), the Operating Framework published by
the Department of Health in December 2009 indicated that the tariff will rise by a net 0%,
PCTs having been instructed to hold back a 2% contingency reserve as a buffer to the
position in future years. For the following three years (2011-14) allocations are not
expected to increase at all due to the need to ‘manage the downturn’ of public finances.
Hertfordshire County Council have indicated that over the same period a similar picture is
expected. Efficiency savings over this period are likely to be a minimum of 4.5% for each
year. A comprehensive ‘leading by design’ programme is being developed as part of our
forward planning in order to meet these efficiency requirements. This approach will focus
on the transformation and reconfiguration of current provision, encouraging innovation in
the approach to the delivery of high quality services.
In addition the Directors have agreed a list of development proposals based on our
strategic priorities and taking into account:
•
•

the Trust Strategy and Integrated Business Plan; and
backlog maintenance and asset registers.

The 2010/2011 capital programme totals a £15m investment and an outline plan for the
following two years illustrates the significant investment of a further £54m envisaged over
this period.
The major investments in 2010/11 relate to the improvement of mental health and
learning disability inpatient facilities, the replacement of our electronic patient record
system, and investment required to meet our carbon reduction targets.
During 2009/2010 the Trust has been successful in winning a tender to supply Specialist
Learning Disability services in North Essex commencing 1 April 2010, with an annual
contract in the region of £12m, being commended for its innovative thinking and value for
money. The Trust’s Directors will continue to explore similar opportunities, generating
additional contribution to the success of the Trust.
Our strong financial position will help the Trust meet the challenge of continuing to deliver
improved high quality services, maintaining waiting times and meeting other
committments to our users, carers and commissioners across the planning period.
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Operating Review
Introduction
Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (HPFT) provides health and social
care both for people with mental ill health and those with a learning disability.
We are committed to providing the highest quality services to enable people to make a
positive difference to their lives.
Our vision is ‘to be the leading provider of mental health and specialist learning disability
services in the country’. We recognise that this can only be achieved through a process of
continuous service improvement and transformation which places the needs of service
users and their carers at the centre of everything we do.
Meeting the needs of service users and their families through providing high quality care
and treatment has been and remains at the top of our agenda. The Trust is committed to
working in a recovery orientated way, enhanced by the provision of seamless health and
social care. We will strive to support people to maximise their potential and to lead
meaningful, independent lives wherever possible. We will focus on working with an
individual’s particular strengths and foster the expectation of improvement.
Our Values
Value 1: Provide high quality, responsive services
Work to develop and deliver high quality services which protect our service users.
Value 2: Equality and respect for all
Treat service users, carers and staff in an effective and supportive way.
Value 3: Work in partnership (consultation and involvement)
Consider it important to involve service users, carers, staff and other organisations when
we develop and improve our services.
Value 4: Learning from experience
Recognise that it is important to learn from past experience to be more efficient and to
perform better in the future.
Value 5: Valuing our workforce
Appreciate that our workforce is very high quality and committed and makes a vital
contribution to our service.
Value 6: Use resources effectively
Ensure that our resources are used as efficiently as possible and that our services are
good value for money.
Value 7: Providing innovative services and promoting good health
Aim to be a leader when it comes to developing new practice and promoting good health
in the population.
Value 8: Sustaining our services
Constantly review our services ensuring that those which work well continue into the
future, develop and grow.
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Key Service developments and priorities for 2010/11
•

Complete refurbishment programme of inpatient units within Hertfordshire

•

Complete successful integration of North Essex learning disability services

•

Define new locality model for community services.

•

Define care pathways

•

Define model for future inpatient care and clinical specialities

•

Implement healthy workforce (Boorman) plan

•

Complete the development of productivity and efficiency measures for all service
areas

•

Deliver smoking cessation programme successfully in partnership with the PCT

•

Deliver first year of carbon reduction programme
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NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance
The Independent Regulator for NHS Foundation Trusts (Monitor) published a Code of
Governance in October 2006 which requires Foundation Trusts to make a disclosure
statement in two parts as required by the UK Listing Authority on listed companies on the
application of the combined code. The two part disclosure is to:
• Report on how it applies the main and supporting principles of the code; and
• Either confirms that it complies with the provisions of the code or where it does not, to
provide and explanation.
Board of Directors Statement on Main and Supporting Principles
The Boards of Governors and Directors fully support the main and supporting principles of
the Code of Governance published by the Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation
Trusts. In the Directors’ opinion Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
complied throughout the review period with the main and supporting principles of the
Code of Governance with the following exceptions:
Balance and independence of Board of Directors
•

Independence of Non-Executives

A.3.3 One of our Non-Executive Directors declared on 6 April 2008 that their partner
would be taking up an appointment as a senior employee within the Trust from July 2008.
The Non-Executive’s term of office expired on 1 August 2009 and they did not seek
reappointment.
Appointments and terms of office
•

Appointments to the Boards

C.1.3 Two Committees have been established. One for the nomination of Executive
Directors chaired by the Chair of the Board of Directors and a second for the appointment
and remuneration of Non-Executive Directors. This Committee is chaired by a Governor
as it was felt this was more appropriate and the Chair attends the Committee. The
Annual Report includes a section concerning their work.
•

Re-election

C.2 Compliant in respect of Non-Executive Directors and Governors. Executive Directors
will not be subject to re-appointment at intervals of 5 years as it is not felt that this will
improve the on-going management of the organisation. They will be subject to
satisfactory performance reviews annually.
The Board of Directors, Chair and Executive, and Balance of Board
The Board of Directors believes the Foundation Trust is led by an effective Board, as the
Board is collectively responsible for the exercise and the performance of the NHS
Foundation Trust.
Chair and Chief Executive
The Board of Directors has agreed on a clear division of responsibilities between the
Chairing of the Board of Directors and Governors and the Executive responsibility for the
running of the Foundation Trust’s business. The Chair is responsible for providing
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leadership to the Boards of Directors and Governors ensuring governance principles and
processes of the Boards are maintained whilst encouraging debate and discussion.
The Chair is also responsible for ensuring the integrity and effectiveness of the
Governors’ and Directors’ relationship. The Chair also leads the performance appraisals
of both Boards as well as the Non-Executive Directors’ performance appraisals.

Board of Directors
Non-Executive Director Appointments
The Trust is managed by full-time Executive and part-time Non-Executive Directors.
Together they make up the Trust's Board of Directors. In attendance at Board meetings
is a representative from Hertfordshire County Council supporting partnership
arrangements.
During 2009/10 Yasmin Batliwala, Non-Executive Director, did not seek reappointment at
the end of her term of office due to a change in circumstances. In the previous year,
Cedric Frederick had resigned. Following a rigorous recruitment process the
appointments of Manjeet Gill and Steve Marsden were approved by the Board of
Governors at their meetings on 11 May 2009 and 9 June 2009 respectively, each were
appointed for a three year term of office ending in 2012.
The NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance specifies that Non-Executive Directors,
including the Chairman, should be subject to re-appointment at intervals of no more than
three years following formal performance evaluation. Any term beyond six years should
be subject to rigorous review and take into account the need for progressively refreshing
the Board.
Three Non-Executive Directors come to the end of their term of office in July 2010 and
were seeking reappointment and all three had had satisfactory performance appraisals.
The Board of Governors took into consideration that two of the Non-Executive Directors
had only recently been appointed to the Board of Directors before deciding on the terms
of reappointment. At its meeting on 21 October 2009 the Board of Governors approved
the reappointments of the Chair, Ruth Sawtell and Colin Sheppard as follows:
Colin Sheppard is reappointed as a Non-Executive Director for a further term of three
years until 1 August 2013.
Ruth Sawtell is reappointed as a Non-Executive Director for a further term of 2 years until
1 August 2012.
Hattie Llewelyn-Davies is reappointed as a Non-Executive Director and Chair for a further
term of three years until 1 August 2013.
The terms of appointment of the remaining Non-Executive Directors, Carol Kennedy Filer
and Bill Brown are until 1 August 2011.
Executive Director Appointments
Our Executive Directors are appointed through open competition in accordance with the
Trust's Recruitment and Selection Policies and Procedures. The period of notice for
Executives is six months. Tom Cahill was appointed to the post of Chief Executive
following Bill Macintyre’s retirement in 2009. Following his appointment, the CEO
reviewed the portfolios and titles of the existing Executive Directors and from 1 April 2009
the following Executive Director posts were put in place:
Executive Director Quality and Medical Leadership
Executive Director Strategy and Organisational Development
Executive Director Finance and Performance Improvement
14

Executive Director Service Delivery and Transformation
Executive Director Quality and Safety.
The Posts of Executive Director of Service Delivery and Transformation and Executive
Director Quality and Safety were not filled by permanent appointments and interim
arrangements were put in place to fill these posts whilst the recruitment process was
undertaken. An interim Director Quality and Safety, Chris Carter, was appointed on a
part-time basis, with the Board responsibilities for nursing representation being
undertaken by the CEO. An interim Executive Director of Service Delivery and
Transformation was appointed, Keith Moullin (formerly Joint Deputy Director of
Operations), from 1 April 2009.
The substantive appointments to the posts following the recruitment process and approval
by the Board were: Stanley Riseborough, Executive Director Service Delivery and
Transformation appointed from 2 November 2009 and Oliver Shanley, Executive Director
Quality and Safety appointed from 10 November 2009.
The Board of Directors is responsible for all operational issues, the management of which
is delegated to the Trust's operational staff in accordance with its Standing Orders and
Standing Financial Instructions. It also, with input from the Board of Governors, sets the
strategic direction of the Trust.
Board Committees
The effectiveness of the Board Committees: Audit, Finance and Investment,
Remuneration and Nomination and Integrated Governance, is considered on an ongoing
basis via the regular reports presented to the Board of Directors at their monthly
meetings. Each Committee and the Board of Directors is appraised annually.
So far as the Directors are aware there is no relevant audit information of which the
Auditors are unaware and the Directors have taken all of the steps they ought to have
taken as Directors in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information.
There were 13 Board of Directors meetings between 1 April 2009 and 31 March 2010.
This includes the Annual General Meeting for members. The individual attendance of
each Board member is indicated in brackets.
Tom Cahill, Chief Executive
(11 out of a possible 13)
• To be accountable for the overall clinical and financial management performance of
the Trust. Accountable means accountable to the Secretary of State and the Trust
Board through the Chair.
• To take the lead in driving the Trust towards continued improvement in service
provision, manage external relationships and develop partnerships with stakeholder
organisations, service users and the community at large.
• Ensure the Trust’s services are culturally sensitive, relevant and accessible to meet
the diverse needs of the population.
• To take forward the Trust’s commercial approach, preparing and implementing
business strategies for marketing and business development in order to win business
within a competitive health market place.
• Has a Masters in Business Administration
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Geraldine O’Sullivan, Executive Director Quality and Medical Leadership
(10 out of a possible 13)
• Provides advice and guidance on professional issues including medicines
management, medical staff and revalidation, as well as training of future doctors.
• Oversees clinical risk in the organisation and leads on the accessibility of clinically
effective care within available resources across the organisation.
• Takes an overview of issues around quality of clinical care
• Caldicott Guardian for Trust
Jim Andrews, Executive Director Strategy and Organisational Development
(12 out of a possible 13)
• Is responsible for planning, securing and developing the future workforce of the
organisation.
• Also responsible for organisational development, which includes learning, education
and a particular focus on leadership development.
• Lead for Human Resource management, including medical staffing
John Jones, Executive Director Finance and Performance Improvement
(13 out of a possible 13)
• Responsible for ensuring that the Trust meets all its financial targets and makes best
use of its funding.
• Responsible for the informatics service within the trust.
• Leads on ensuring that the Trust will be able to continue to provide services in the
event of a major incident within Hertfordshire.
Stanley Riseborough, Executive Director Service Delivery and Transformation
(appointed November 2009)
(5 out of a possible 5)
• Responsible for the transformation and operational management of the services of the
Trust, including both health and social care within mental health services, for adults of
working age, older people and child and adolescent services, Drug and Alcohol
services, Specialist Learning Disability Services and Forensic Services. Also manages
the informatics and facilities support services.
• Works closely with service users and carers to engage them in the process and with
the Assistant Director of Mental Health and Learning Disabilities within the County
Council to ensure both the social care and health aspects of our services are
addressed.
• Is the Board lead for Mental Health Act legislation
Oliver Shanley, Executive Director Quality and Safety (appointed November 2009)
(5 out of a possible 5)
• Is Executive/Board lead for Nursing, Social Care, Allied Health Professionals and
Psychology.
• Responsible for risk management and safety, equality and diversity, communications
and partnerships, standards, protection of vulnerable adults and the management of
violence and aggression.
.

16

Hattie Llewelyn-Davies, Chair
(13 out of a possible 13)
• Appointed in 2001 as the Chair of Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Trust having
previously chaired one of the five predecessor organisations that formed HPT and
current term of office in Hertfordshire Partnership Foundation NHS Trust expires in
August 2013.
• Background is in social housing and the voluntary sector and has successfully run
own business for the past 15 years providing services on governance, mergers and
regulation matters.
• Has a number of other Non-Executive roles including Chairing a commercial audit
firm, Vice-Chair of a Building Society and a Governor of Peabody Trust.
• Has an OBE for services to homeless people.
Bill Brown, Non Executive Director
(13 out of a possible 13)
• Appointed to the Board in July 2007 and his current term of office expires in August
2011. He is Chair of the Trust’s Audit Committee.
• Has a Law Degree and is a Chartered Accountant.
• Retired as a Partner in PricewaterhouseCoopers in June 2004 after a long career with
the firm where he specialised in audit, financial due diligence, and corporate
governance.
• Currently a Non-Executive Director of Business Link for London and of AbilityNet and
was previously a Non-Executive Director of Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust.
• Is a Panel member of the Disciplinary Tribunal of the Accountancy Investigation and
Discipline Board.
• Is now in business as a consultant in financial accounting and corporate governance
matters.
Manjeet Gill, Non-Executive Director
(9 out of a possible 11)
• Appointed to the Board in June 2009 and current term of office expires in August 2012
• Has been a Chief Executive of a Local Authority and is a Non-Executive Director in a
social investment business
• Has a Masters in Business Administration as well as Diplomas in Health and Safety
and Environmental Health.
Carol Kennedy Filer, Non Executive Director
(11 out of a possible 13)
• Appointed to the Board in July 2007 and current term of office expires in August 2011.
• In 2002 started a management consultancy specialising in the strategic marketing for
the healthcare industry, particularly supporting manufacturers of critical care
disposables and equipment. With expertise across a number of hospital sectors, and a
Masters Degree in Business, this new venture built upon over 13 years working within
one of the largest British medical companies within Smiths Group plc, latterly as
Strategic Marketing Director.
• Has also had a number of years working within the voluntary sector, particularly as
past Secretaries of the Dacorum Macmillan Cancer Research Committee and
Chartered Institute of Marketing – Medical Group. In addition, has worked alongside
the Association of Anaesthetists to raise its profile with the public and had a short
secondment to the Department of Health in 1997.
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Stephen Marsden, Non-Executive Director
(7 out of a possible 8)
• Appointed to the Board in August 2009 and current term of office expires in August
2012
• Has experience as a global general manager and international business leader within
a consultancy organisation.
Ruth Sawtell, Non-Executive Director
(13 out of possible 13)
• Appointed to the Board in December 2004 and current term of office expires in August
2012.
• Her career has spanned senior level experience in banking and social housing.
• Is a Non-Executive Director of Metropolitan Housing Partnership, Chair of Hertnet, a
primary care research network based at the University of Hertfordshire and a Trustee
of Education Services, an educational charity. Also a Council Member of the Nursing
and Midwifery Council and the Advertising Standards Authority.
Colin Sheppard, Non-Executive Director
(10 out of a possible 13)
• Appointed in January 2008 having originally been co-opted to the Board of Directors in
May 2007. Current term of office expires in August 2013.
• Is the Senior Independent Director and Chair of the Finance and Investment
Committee.
• Is a Chartered Surveyor and spent his 32 year executive career with substantial
property organisations; in particular, 25 years with MEPC Plc - then the second largest
UK property company and a FTSE 100 Company.
• Over the past decade, has widened his corporate, Non-Executive Director and
property experience and expertise including Board level roles with Arlington
Securities, Chesterton, Barnardos, Centrepoint, Family Mosaic Housing Group and
National Counties Building Society. He also offers consultancy advice to several
property owning bodies as well as running his own portfolio
Yasmin Batliwala, Non-Executive Director
(3 out of a possible 5)
• Appointed to the Board in 2001; her term of office expired in August 2009.
• Has a Masters Degree in Psychology and has worked for the Audit Commission and
North Thames Regional Health Authority.
• Is a Mental Health Review Tribunal member and has an extensive understanding of
mental health issues.
• Chairs the Watford Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership
• Chair of the Westminster Drug Project, which provides services for hard to reach drug
users.
• Has been a Magistrate for the past 18 years and Deputy Chair of the Central Herts
Bench.
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Register of interests:
The register of Directors’ interests is available from the Company Secretary, at
Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust, 99 Waverley Road, St Albans,
Hertfordshire AL3 5TL. Tel: 01727 804642
There are no Company Directorships held by the Directors where companies are likely to
do business or are seeking to do business with the Trust.

Committees
Audit Committee
The Audit Committee provides assurance to the Board. It oversees the probity and
internal financial control of the Trust, working closely with external and internal auditors.
Key activities include reviewing governance, risk management and assurance functions. It
also approves the External Audit plan, the Internal Audit plan, Counter Fraud plan,
accounting policies and reviews draft Annual Accounts before submission to the Board of
Directors.
During the year the Committee completed a self assessment exercise to evaluate its
effectiveness, reviewed and updated its terms of reference and conducted private
discussions with both sets of auditors.
Anybody concerned about a matter of corporate governance or probity can contact any
member of the Audit Committee in confidence
There were five meetings of the committee during the financial period and members’
attendance is shown below
•
•
•
•
•

Yasmin Batliwala, Non-Executive Director (until 31 July 2009)
Bill Brown (Chair), Non-Executive Director
Carol Kennedy Filer, Non-Executive Director
Steve Marsden, Non-Executive Director (from 1 Aug 2009)
Ruth Sawtell, Non-Executive Director

(2 of 2)
(5 of 5)
(3 of 5)
(3 of 3)
(5 of 5)

The Director of Finance and Performance Improvement, the Company Secretary and
appropriate internal and external audit representatives normally attend meetings. Other
Executive Directors are invited to attend when the Committee is discussing areas of risk
or operation that are their responsibility. The Chief Executive is invited to attend at least
annually to discuss with the Committee the process for assurance that supports the
Statement on Internal Control.
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Integrated Governance Committee
The key role and function of the IGC is to lead on the development and monitoring of
quality and risk systems within the Trust to ensure that quality, patient safety and risk
management are key components of all activities of the Trust. The Committee ensures
that appropriate risk management processes are in place to assure the Board that action
is taken to identify and manage risks within the Trust. It is also responsible for the
development of systems and processes to ensure that the Trust implements and monitors
compliance with the Department of Health Standards for Better Health and from 2010 the
registration requirements of the Care Quality Commission. The Committee makes sure
that treatments and services provided are appropriate, reflect best practice, represent
best value for money and are responsive to service user needs and that the views and
experiences of service users and carers are reflected in service delivery
There were four meetings of the Committee during the financial period and members’
attendance is shown below:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Bill Brown, Non-Executive Director
Carol Kennedy Filer, Non-Executive Director (member until June 2009)
Steve Marsden, Non-Executive Director (member from Aug 2009)
Jim Andrews, Executive Director Strategy and Organisational Development
Tom Cahill, Chief Executive (Chair)
Chris Carter, Interim Director Quality & Safety
John Jones, Executive Director of Finance and Performance Improvement
Keith Moullin, Interim Executive Director Service Delivery and Transformation
Geraldine O’Sullivan, Executive Director Quality and Medical Leadership
Stanley Riseborough, Executive Director Service Delivery and
Transformation (from Nov 2009)
Oliver Shanley, Executive Director Quality and Safety (from Nov 2009)

(2 of 4)
(0 of 1)
(1 of 2)
(4 of 4)
(2 of 4)
(3 of 3)
(4 of 4)
(2 of 2)
(4 of 4)
(1 of 2)
(2 of 2)

In attendance at the meeting will be the Company Secretary, Chair of Medical Staff
Committee, other nominated Directors and service user representation
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Finance and Investment Committee
The Finance and Investment Committee provides assurance to the Board that Board
members have an adequate understanding of key financial issues. In particular it reviews
investment decisions and policy, financial plans and reports and approves the
development of financial reporting, strategy and financial policies, consistent with the
Foundation Trust regime.
All members of the Board of Directors are members of the Finance and Investment
Committee.
There were four meetings of the Committee during the financial period and members’
attendance is shown below
Finance and Investment Committee Members
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Colin Sheppard (Chair)
Hattie Llewelyn-Davies, Non-Executive Director
Ruth Sawtell, Non-Executive Director
Yasmin Batliwala, Non-Executive Director
Bill Brown, Non-Executive Director
Carol Kennedy-Filer, Non-Executive Director
Manjeet Gill, Non-Executive Director
Steve Marsden, Non-Executive Director
Tom Cahill, Chief Executive
John Jones, Executive Director Finance & Performance Improvement
Geraldine O’Sullivan, Executive Director of Quality & Medical
Leadership
Jim Andrews, Executive Director Strategy & Organisational
Development
Stanley Riseborough, Executive Director of Service Delivery and
Transformation
Oliver Shanley, Executive Director of Quality & Patient Safety

In attendance
• Barbara Suggitt, Company Secretary
• Chris Carter, Interim Executive Director of Quality & Patient Safety
• Keith Moullin, Interim Executive Director of Service Delivery and
Transformation
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(4 of 4)
(3 of 4)
(3 of 4)
(0 of 2)
(2 of 4)
(3 of 4)
(0 of 3)
(2 of 2)
(3 of 4)
(4 of 4)
(4 of 4)
(4 of 4)
(1 of 1)
(0 of 1)
(4 of 4)
(3 of 3)
(3 of 3)

Remuneration and Nomination Report
Board of Directors Nominations and Remuneration Committee
The Nominations and Remuneration Committee reviews and makes recommendations
to the Board on the composition, skill mix and succession planning of the Executive
Directors of the Trust. All Non-Executive Directors are members of the Committee and
the Chief Executive, Company Secretary and Executive Director Strategy and Organisational
Development are normally in attendance.
There were six meetings of the Committee during the financial period and members’
attendance is shown below:
• Yasmin Batliwala, Non-Executive Director
(1 of 2)
• Bill Brown, Non-Executive Director
(6 of 6)
• Manjeet Gill, Non-Executive Director
(3 of 5)
• Carol Kennedy Filer, Non-Executive Director
(5 of 6)
• Hattie Llewelyn-Davies, Chair
(6 of 6)
• Steve Marsden, Non-Executive Director
(4 of 4)
• Ruth Sawtell, Non-Executive Director
(6 of 6)
• Colin Sheppard, Non-Executive Director
(5 of 6)
Board of Governors Appointments and Remuneration Committee
The Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the Board of Governors on
the following:
Appointment and remuneration of Chair and Non-Executive Directors
Appraisal of Chair
Approval of appointment of Chief Executive
Succession planning for posts of Chair and Non-Executive Directors
Analysis of action required following appraisal of performance of Board of Governors.
The Committee is made up of five Governors: three public, one staff and one appointed. The
Chair, Company Secretary and Executive Director Strategy and Organisational Development
are usually in attendance.
There were three meetings of the Committee during this financial period and members’
attendance is shown below:
•
•
•
•
•

Alan Franey (Chair of committee/Public Governor)
Sheena Garbutt (Public Governor)
Glyn Trollope (Public Governor)
Irma Mullins (Staff Governor)
Hazel Jones (Appointed Governor)

(3 of 3)
(2 of 3)
(3 of 3)
(3 of 3)
(3 of 3)

The Trust has a pay framework for the remuneration of senior managers which relates to
the standing financial instructions which state that the Committee will make such
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration and terms of service of Executive
Directors (and other senior employees) to ensure they are fairly rewarded for their
individual contribution to the Trust – having proper regard to the Trust’s financial
circumstances and performance and to the provision of any national arrangements for
such staff, where appropriate.
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Executive Directors of the Trust have defined annual objectives agreed with the Chief
Executive. A report on their performance is received by the Committee annually. The
performance of Directors is linked to pay through a performance bonus scheme.
Executive Directors are appointed through open competition in accordance with the
Trust’s recruitment and selection policies and procedures and NHS guidance, including
the requirement for external assessors. All Executive Directors covered by this report
hold appointments which are permanent.
The Board of Governors’ Appointments and Remuneration Committee was involved
during the previous year with the process for the recruitment of the Chief Executive, due
to the retirement of Bill Macintyre, notified from August 2009. They also undertook a
recruitment process for Non-Executive Director vacancies resulting from the resignation
of Cedric Frederick in August 2008 and the notification that Yasmin Batliwala would not
be seeking reappointment at the end of her term of office in August 2009. Open
advertising was used for the appointments and a robust recruitment process was
developed to ensure that the relevant knowledge, skills and experience of those seeking
appointment will be of high calibre and complement and add to the Board of Directors’
existing strengths.
Robust processes are in place for the annual appraisal of the Board of Directors. The
Chair leads the Non-Executive Directors in their appraisal and the Chief Executive leads
the process for Executive Directors. The Chief Executive is appraised by the Chair and
the Chair is appraised by representatives from the Board of Governors and the Board of
Directors. As part of the ongoing training and development of the Board the majority of
the members have undergone training with the Institute of Directors and achieved their
accredited qualification.
No significant awards were made to past senior managers during 2009/10.
The salary, allowances and benefits of senior managers are included on pages 22 and 23
of the annual accounts
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Board of Governors
The Board of Governors includes (21) Public Governors elected by the members of the
Foundation Trust. There are two public constituencies: one for Hertfordshire and one for
The Rest of England and Wales which was formed in 2008 to reflect the new provision of
Specialist Learning Disability services outside of Hertfordshire. It also has five Staff
Governors elected by Trust staff. They are joined by 13 nominated representatives from
our partner organisations.
An election to the seats falling vacant as a result of Governors reaching their end of term
was held under the auspices of the Electoral Reform Society during the period June/July
2009.
The Public Governors elected for Hertfordshire were:
Mary Antony
Stephen Behrman
Neela Mukhapadya
Celia Young
A Public Governor for the Rest of England and Wales was:
Lesley Morris
The Public Governors who were re-elected in the Hertfordshire constituency were:
Alan Franey
Carol Jeavons
Mary Porter
Annemarie Smith
Glyn Trollope
Hazel Ward
Two Staff Governor seats remained unfilled and therefore a further election was carried
out again under the auspices of Electoral Reform Society during the period
September/October 2009.
The Staff Governors elected were:
Tara Gouldthorpe
Peter Cargill
Resignations from nominated Governors were received due to changes within their
organisations and one became vacant due to a death. The Primary Care Trust nominees
have been held open until the new financial year as the Trusts merge from the 1 April and
a single nominee will be sought at that stage.
One Public Governor from the constituency of Hertfordshire moved outside the
constituency in March 2009 leaving a vacancy which will be filled at the next election to
be held in June 2010.
A seat remains vacant for Carers in Herts as they were unable to nominate a Governor
due to staff shortages, however an observer attended some of the Board of Governors’
meetings.
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The Board of Governors and the Board of Directors have a good working relationship
both chaired by the Trust Chair, Hattie Llewelyn-Davies and have three joint meetings
annually, one of which is the Annual Members’ Meeting. In addition, the Board of
Directors have an open invitation to attend all the Board of Governors’ meetings. The
Chair and the Company Secretary act as the main links between the two Boards and
reports and briefings are shared by the Governors and Directors.
The Board of Governors has dealt with a range of issues as part of their statutory duties:
including the appointment of the auditors; the performance appraisal of the Chair and the
approval of the appointment of two Non Executive Directors: Manjeet Gill (11 May 2009)
and Steve Marsden (9 June 2009).
They have also been involved in the Survey of Mental Health Working Age Adults in
Hertfordshire, the Trust’s Annual Members Day and the Kaleidoscope Festival as well as
some workshops.
There were four Board of Governors’ meetings, and two extraordinary meetings held in
09/10. Each Governor’s attendance is shown in the constituency table below:
Board of Governors
Pamela Dossang
(nee Acheson)
Richard Adkin
Mary Antony
Stephen Behrman
John S Biggs
Alan Franey
Sheena Garbutt
Ray Gibbins
Catherine Hislop
Carol Jeavons
Michelle Karpus
Paul Mosley
Neela Mukhapadya
Mary Porter
Chris Reynolds
Annemarie Smith
Glyn Trollope
Hazel Ward
Steve Wright
Celia Young
Lesley Morris
Divya Acton
Steve Iwasyk
Irma Mullins
Tara Gouldthorpe
Peter Cargill
Julie Nicholson
(Previously Attree)
Dennis Edwards

Public

Attendance
0/6

Appointment
01/08/07 – 31/07/10

Public
Public
Public
Public
Public
Public
Public
Public
Public
Public
Public
Public

4/6
1/2
2/2
3/6
4/6
3/6
6/6
4/6
6/6
2/6
4/6
2/2

01/08/07 - 31/07/10
01/08/09 – 31/07/12
01/08/09 – 31/07/12
02/09/09 – 31/07/10
01/08/07 – 31/07/10
01/08/07 – 31/07/10
01/08/07 – 31/07/10
01/08/07 – 31/07/10
01/08/09 - 31/07/12
02/09
– 31/07/10
01/08/07 – 31/07/10
01/08/09 – 31/07/12

Public
Public
Public
Public
Public
Public
Public
Public
Staff
Staff
Staff
Staff
Staff
Appointed

4/6
5/6
3/6
6/6
5/6
5/6
2/2
1/2
4/6
6/6
4/6
1/1
0/1
3/6

01/08/09 – 31/07/12
01/08/07 – 31/07/10
01/08/09 – 31/07/12
01/08/09 – 31/07/12
01/08/09 – 31/07/12
01/08/07 – 31/07/10
01/08/09 – 31/07/12
01/08/09 – 31/07/12
01/09
– 31/07/10
01/08/07 – 31/07/10
01/08/09 – 31/07/12
11/09
– 31/07/12
11/09
– 31/07/12
01/08/07 – 31/07/10

Appointed

5/6

01/08/07 – 31/07/10
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David Hewitt
Chris Hayward

Appointed
Appointed

1/4
1/2

25/10/07 – 31/07/10

Appointed
Appointed
Appointed
Appointed
Appointed
Appointed
Appointed
Appointed

3/6
4/6
4/6
1/6
3/6
4/6
5/6
3/6

01/08/07 – 31/07/10
01/08/07 – 31/07/10
06/08
– 31/07/10
06/08
– 31/07/10
01/08/07 – 03/10
01/08/07 – 31/07/10
09/08
– 31/07/10
11/09
– 31/07/10

(replaced David
Hewitt)

Dorothy Hone
Hazel Jones
Brian Littlechild
Ian McCreath
Anne McPherson
Mike Paul
Mary Pedlow
David Thomson

The Board of Governors has two sub-groups which meet regularly to take forward a work
plan on behalf of the Governors, and report to each of the meetings of the Board of
Governors. The areas which the groups have worked on in the last year are highlighted
below:
Quality:
During the past year the group has taken an interest in a number of issues including:
•
The action plan to improve in-patient services
•
Trust processes for eliciting feedback from service users and carers
•
The Trust’s response to feedback from service users and carers i.e. concerns
about medication highlighted in the voluntary sector’s user and carer questionnaire
•
The mechanisms service user and carer involvement
•
The development of recovery approaches across the Trust
•
The role of the third sector in supporting recovery and the extent to which there is
collaboration with CMHTs
•
Progress in recording advanced decisions
With some exceptions the group has tended to focus on Trust wide perspectives,
reviewing reports and plans and hearing input from the Centre.
The issue of “patchiness” across the Trust is a concern that has crossed the various
enquiries of the group.
Future focus:
Rather than widen the number of issues that the group explores, it would seem
appropriate to deepen the exploration of those issues the group has already started to
explore.
Communications:
During the year the group have:
•
Reviewed the Terms of Reference to clarify the role and purpose of the group
•
Reviewed progress in the on-going development and functionality of the HPFT
website with particular reference to the Governors’ area
•
Reviewed the Terms of Reference for the Editorial Board to guide development of
the membership newsletter
•
Considered ways to recruit new members to increase membership
•
Agreed not to have a separate Membership Involvement Strategy but to make it
part of the overall Involvement strategy
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•
•

Raised issues of improving input from less well represented and vulnerable groups
in consultative forums
Ideas for the Annual Members’ Day

Register of interests:
The register of Governors’ interests is available from the Company Secretary, at
Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust, 99 Waverley Road, St Albans,
Hertfordshire AL3 5TL. Tel: 01727 804642
There are no Company Directorships held by the Governors where Companies are likely
to do business or are seeking to do business with the Trust.
Expenses:
Governors may claim expenses at the following rates per mile for travel
Engine Capacity
Rate

Up to 1000cc
£ 0.374

1001-1500cc
£ 0.473

Over 1500cc
0.583

and other reasonable expenses incurred on Trust business. They are not otherwise
remunerated.

Membership:
In line with our membership strategy, public membership numbers grew to
12,033 during the year
To be eligible for membership people must be over the age of 14 and living either within the
County of Hertfordshire or the Rest of England and Wales Or be employed by the Trust and:
•
•
•
•

have a permanent contract;
a short term contract of 12 months or more;
although not directly employed by the Trust, have been employed in excess of 12
months by another organisation that is providing core services to the Trust;
seconded to the Trust to provide core services;

During the year the staff constituencies were amended to reflect the new operational
management structure following consultation with Staff Governors and staff. Staff membership
at the end of the year breaks down as follows:
Acute Services
Community Services
Secure and Rehabilitation Services
Specialist Services
Corporate and Support Services

481
893
672
679
327

Increasing our membership
Growing and engaging a diverse and representative membership which reflect the population
and communities we serve continues to be a focus for the Trust and the Governors.
Members receive quarterly editions of Foundation Matters, the members’ newsletter, and have
access to further information about the Trust and the work of the Board of Governors and
Directors through the web site.
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We are planning developments that will highlight information of particular interest to members
and enable them to take part in workshops and discussions around issues such as health
promotion and anti-stigma campaigns.
Membership levels are increased through regular recruitment drives, through the local press,
Foundation Matters and direct mailings as well as public health events. We are also discussing
how we may work jointly with our neighbouring Acute Trusts who are moving to Foundation
status in the coming year about joint recruitment ventures.
We continue to try and ensure that membership reflects the diversity of our communities and
have worked with our Equality and Diversity lead in the Trust to ensure that we make contact
with hard to reach groups. We plan to remain at our standing target of 12,000 members over the
coming year with a view to increase the number of members in Norfolk and North Essex.
Members are encouraged through public website and the members’ newsletter, to communicate
with Governors via the Membership Office.
Membership Report 01/04/2009 to 31/03/10
Gender
Female
Male

6971
5062

58%
42%

Gender

7000
6000
5000
4000

6971
5062

3000
2000
1000
0
Female

Male
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Age Group
0-16
17-21
22+
Not stated

496
1110
9603
824

4%
9%
80%
7%

Age Group
12000
9603

10000
8000

0-16
17-21

6000

22+
Not stated

4000
2000
496

1110

824

0

Ethnic Group
White
Mixed
Asian or Asian British
Black or Black British
Other
Not Stated

10148
143
591
396
243
512

85%
1%
5%
3%
2%
4%

2% 4%
3%
5%
1%

White
Mixed
Asian or Asian British
Black or Black British
Other
Not Stated

85%
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Public Constituency (England & Wales)
At year Start (April 1)
New Members
Members Leaving
At year end (March 31)

Last Year
119
555
7
667

New Year (estimated)
667
100
10
757

Public Constituency (Hertfordshire)
At year Start (April 1)
New Members
Members Leaving
At year end (March 31)

Last Year
8781
2598
13
11366

New Year (estimated)
11366
300
20
11646

Staff Constituency
At year Start (April 1) *
New Members
Members Leaving
At year end (March 31)

Last Year
2848
492
320
3004

New Year (estimated)
3294
558
350
2968

*

The information takes into account the transfer of staff at Stamford Avenue in Jan 2010
and North Essex staff on 1 April 2010.
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Quality Account
Part1. Statements by Chief Executive
1.1.

Foreword.

I am delighted to present the first Quality Account for this Trust and to take the opportunity to
describe to a wide local audience the story of how we have aimed to provide the best possible
care and treatment for all our service users and carers in 2009/2010 and beyond.
Our vision is:

‘to become the leading provider of mental health and specialist learning
disabilities services in the country’
I recognised, as soon as I started as Chief Executive, that the quality of our services – as
experienced each day by all our service users and carers – had to be at the heart of this vision.
To be clear about where we are heading, we agreed with our stakeholders a 5 year strategy,
with our customers and their experience in the forefront.
To make sure there was the strongest possible leadership on Quality the roles of two of our
Executive Directors were revised so that they took on joint responsibility for Quality across the
Trust. We did not find it difficult to involve staff in sharing their views on what makes for an
excellent service; the idea of giving the same importance to Quality as to Finance in the work we
do and the way we account for it to our public was immediately attractive, and ever since we
began this dialogue in early 2009 all stakeholders have shown a passionate interest in it.
That is not to suggest that it is simple to agree how best to measure and improve the quality of
the services we provide. The Trust now employs nearly 3 000 staff, with 80 community teams
and over 600 inpatient beds and covers the whole of Hertfordshire and beyond. As well as
mental health services for all age groups and specialist learning disabilities services in
Hertfordshire and Norfolk, we provide community drug and alcohol services and mental health
services in primary care alongside GPs.
The needs of our service users, deriving from their mental health conditions, can be complex
and intractable. Many factors can stand in the way of service users being helped to recover in
the manner that suits them and to realise their aspirations and sometimes things can go wrong.
This account aims to give an honest picture of Quality in the Trust in the past year.
Part 1 contains the brief statements required to introduce the account and to confirm the
accuracy of its information.
Part 2 explains the priorities for Quality in the coming year and covers the information
prescribed by law.
Part 3 describes how the Trust performed in 2009/2010 – combining the hard data, wider
descriptions of Quality through the year, and what some service users have said.
It has been crucial that a wide range of stakeholders have been involved from the start in helping
us develop ways of measuring Quality and then improving it. From early 2009, service users
(through our own involvement systems and through Viewpoint), carers (through our own
systems and through Carers in Herts), staff at all levels, Governors, partner organisations and
commissioners, have assisted in this enterprise and I am grateful to them all.
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Part 2. Priorities for Improvement and Statements of Assurance
2.1. Priorities for Improvement in 2010/2011.
This section of the account looks forward to the year that has just started and shows how the
main targets for improving Quality have been agreed, and how progress will be measured and
reported.
2.1.1. Review of evidence.
During 2009/2010 Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust provided 42
Services (as specified in our contract).
These comprise:
• 7 Mental Health Services for Older People
• 14 Specialist Learning Disabilities Services
• 1 Drug and Alcohol Service
• 3 Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services
• 17 Mental Health Services (Working Age)
HPFT has reviewed all the data available to it on the quality of care in all these services.
The income received by the NHS services reviewed in 2009/2010 represents 100 % of the total
income received from the provision of NHS services by the Trust in 2009/2010.
This review of data was organised around the information reported to the four sub-committees of
the Integrated Governance Committee, shown below.
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Integrated Governance Structure
BOARD OF
GOVERNORS
REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE
FINANCE AND INVESTMENT
COMMITTEE

TRUST BOARD
MHA MANAGERS
COMMITTEE

AUDIT
COMMITTEE

Integrated Governance Committee
Executive Directors’
Operational Group*
Risk Management &
Patient Safety Group

Quality & Best Value
Group

Service User & Carer
Experience Group

Workforce &
Organisational
Development Group
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-Strategy and
development
-Operations &
Performance
-Managing
resources

•

Service User and Carer Experience Committee

Data considered included national service user survey reports, feedback from service users
and carers via Having Your Say questionnaires, Patient Experience Trackers and the Service
User and Carer Councils, and Complaints, Compliments and PALS reports
•

Quality and Best Value Committee

Data considered included clinical audit reports (local and national), NICE compliance reports,
and outcomes reports especially using HoNOS (Health of the Nation Outcomes Scales)
•

Risk Management and Patient Safety Committee

Data considered included Incidents reports (serious and low level), reports of internal
investigations into major incidents, Infection Control reports and the Risk Register
•

Workforce and Organisational Development Committee

Data considered included reports on mandatory training, staff survey results and reports on
staff sickness and disciplinaries.
2.1.2. Consultation
In February 2010, as a basis for consultation, a long list of 47 possible quality indicators was
drawn up, taken from the following sources:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The Trust’s quality indicators for the previous year 2009/2010
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) targets for 2009/2010
Monitor’s “Consultation on seeking external assurance on the Quality Accounts of
Foundation Trusts” (Dec 2009)
“Framework for Quality Accounts” (DoH, Oct 2009)
“Implementing the NHS Performance Framework” (DoH Nov 2009)
“Quality and Risk Profile for HPFT” (CQC Jan 2010)
“Safe in the Knowledge” (Healthcare Commission, March 2009)

The NHS Information Centre and the Public Health Observatory for the East of England were
also checked for possible quality indicators from which to select.
The 47 possible indicators were circulated to stakeholders who were asked to rate their top
three in each of the domains of Safety, Clinical Effectiveness and Service User and Carer
Experience. Responses were received from service users, carers, staff (from frontline staff to
senior managers), Governors (via the Governors’ quality sub-group), and the Joint
Commissioning Team.
This led to priorities for 2010/2011 being presented to the Executive Team for their comment
and subsequently being agreed by Board in March 2010.
2.1.3. Quality Priorities 2010/2011
On the basis of the consultation, priorities were selected that reflect what is most important to
stakeholders and what we know we need to improve. Each of the three areas are wide and
include aspects of care that are already satisfactory as well as areas where we are
determined to do better.
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The three Trust priorities for quality improvement in 2010/2011 will be:
1.
Inpatient Safety.
Advancing patient safety for all inpatients, including promoting dignity, privacy and sexual
safety, minimising absconsions of detained patients, and ensuring safe and effective
arrangements for admission and discharge
2.
Successful and recovery-oriented outcomes.
Clinically effective services with a positive impact, with better access to helpful psychological
therapies, greater use of outcomes measures to show the benefits of services, and more
service users being helped into employment and settled housing
3.
Positive and therapeutic engagement with service users and carers.
Involving service users and carers more effectively in all aspects of care, by developing care
plans together, providing good information and explanations of care at all stages, and
treating people well
Indicators 10/11
domain

priority

indicator

Safety

1. Inpatient
Safety

1.1. Maintain compliance
with PCT same sex
accommodation measures

Clinical
Effectiveness

2.
Successsful
outcomes

09/10
quality
account
indicator
yes

10/11
CQUIN
target

Monitor
mandated

no

no

1.2. Rate of inpatients
saying they feel safe

no

no

no

1.3. Rate of absconsions by
detained inpatients

yes

no

no

1.4.Rate of staff subject to
incidents of assault

no

no

no

1.5. 7 day follow up after
inpatient care

yes

no

yes

1.6. Rate of readmission
within 28 days

yes

no

no

1.7. Rate of those admitted
who had access to CATT

no

no

yes

2.1. Improved access to
psychological therapies
(working age MH)

yes

yes

no

2.2. Rate of service users
finding psychological
therapy helpful
2.3. Rate of service users
with paired outcomes scores
(HoNOS)
2.4. Rate of service users
leaving acute inpatient care
with lower HoNOS scores

no

no

no

yes

yes

no

yes

yes

no
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Service User and
Carer Experience

3. Positive
engagement

2.5 Rate of those in
employment
2.6. Rate of those in settled
housing
2.7 Rate of those saying
they are making progress in
recovery
3.1.Rate of service users
helped to take part fully in
planning their care
3.2. Rate of inpatients who
felt informed and involved in
decision-making about
themselves
3.3. Rate of carers feeling
valued as partners in care
planning
3.4.Rate of carers receiving
support or
advice/information
3.5. Rate of service users
experiencing delayed
transfers of care

yes

no

no

yes

no

no

no

yes

no

no

yes

no

no

yes

no

no

yes

no

yes

no

no

yes

no

yes

Notes:
1.

2.

The quality account needs to include all care groups. Therefore the indicators above
will (where possible), be reported in terms of working age mental health, older
people’s mental health, specialist learning disabilties and child and adolescent mental
health.
Satisfaction measures specific to Child and Adolescent Mental Health services and
Learning Disabilities services will also be continued.

2.1.4. Improving Quality in 2010/2011.
Having agreed where improvements are most necessary, it is essential that we are clear
about how such improvements are to be achieved.
Thus quality improvement this year will have the following key elements:
•

Continued strong leadership at Executive Team level. As previously, the Executive
Director – Quality and Medical Leadership and the Executive Director – Quality and
Patient Safety, will jointly lead this agenda through the year.

•

Close involvement of Board. Quarterly quality reports will continue to be provided to
Board, showing progress against each of the agreed indicators through the year. Where
performance is not improving, the Board will expect additional action to be taken and its
impact checked.

•

Ongoing involvement of staff. Monthly performance to teams already highlights quality
account indicators and this will be refined in the coming year. The shift to evidence of
CQC standards compliance at service level gives an opportunity to organise feedback to
teams on all aspects of quality at a local level.
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•

Ongoing involvement of other stakeholders. Rather than only consulting at the end of the
year, it is agreed that key stakeholders such as Governors, commissioners and the Local
Involvement Network (LINK) will receive reports on progress through the year and will
have the chance to comment and suggest how improvements can be made. Each year
will bring both successes and setbacks and the Trust will need to be agile in responding
to challenges and in sharing best practice.

•

As well as the quarterly reporting, teams will benefit from feedback that is closer to “real
time”. Following on from the first Alliance Survey in 2009, Having Your Say reports and
reports using the Patient Experience Trackers (or their successors) will help teams
respond more quickly to quality issues as they arise.

•

Data (both hard and soft) that is relevant for measuring quality is widespread in the Trust
and not all of it will be collected under the quality account. It will be important that other
initiatives and drivers relevant to quality – such as the quality schedule and its reporting
as part of monitoring of the new 3 year contract with commissioners – are kept consistent
with the quality account priorities shown above.

•

The financial outlook for 2010/2011 and beyond is not comfortable, and quality
improvement will therefore be expected to take place in the context of disinvestment from
services. Work to transform services radically under the title of Leading by Design is
underway and a fundamental principle of this is that it is possible to improve quality and
make savings at the same time by improving efficiency, simplifying care pathways and
“getting it right first time.”

2.2. Statements of Assurance.
The format and scope of the statements in this section are prescribed by law.
2.2.1. see section 2.1.1 .
2.2.2. During 2009/2010 8 national clinical audits and one national confidential enquiry
covered the NHS services that HPFT provides.
During that period HPFT participated in 75 % of national clinical audits and 100% of
national confidential enquiries, out of the total number which it was eligible to participate in.
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that HPFT was eligible to
participate in during 2009/2010 are as follows:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

National Continence Care Audit
National Audit of Dementia
National Falls and Bone Health Audit
POMH-UK: Topic 7a Monitoring of patients prescribed lithium
POMH-UK: Topic 1: Prescribing high dose and combined antipsychotics on adult acute
and psychiatric intensive care wards
POMH-UK: Topic 2: Screening for metabolic side effects of antipsychotic drugs in patients
treated by assertive outreach teams
POMH-UK: Topic 9: Use of antipsychotic medicine in people with Learning Disabilities
POMH-UK: Topic 6: Assessment of side effects of antipsychotic medication
National Confidential Inquiry into Suicides and Homicides: Annual Report (July 2009)
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The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that HPFT did participate in
during 2009/2010 are as follows:
1. National Continence Care Audit
2. POMH-UK: Topic 7a Monitoring of patients prescribed lithium
3. POMH-UK: Topic 1: Prescribing high dose and combined antipsychotics on adult acute
and psychiatric intensive care wards
4. POMH-UK: Topic 2: Screening for metabolic side effects of antipsychotic drugs in patients
treated by assertive outreach teams
5. POMH-UK: Topic 9: Use of antipsychotic medicine in people with Learning Disabilities
6. POMH-UK: Topic 6: Assessment of side effects of antipsychotic medication
7. National Confidential Inquiry into Suicides and Homicides: Annual Report (July 2009)
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that HPFT participated in, and
for which data collection was completed during 2009/2010, are listed below alongside the the
number of cases submitted to each audit or enquiry as a percentage of the number of
registered cases required by the terms of that audit or enquiry:
1. National Continence Care Audit -96% (77 cases)
2. POMH-UK: Topic 7a Monitoring of patients prescribed lithium- (92 cases)
3. POMH-UK: Topic 1: Prescribing high dose and combined antipsychotics on adult acute
and psychiatric intensive care wards- (227 cases)
4. POMH-UK: Topic 2: Screening for metabolic side effects of antipsychotic drugs in
patients treated by assertive outreach teams- n/a
5. POMH-UK: Topic 9: Use of antipsychotic medicine in people with Learning Disabilitiesn/a
6. POMH-UK: Topic 6: Assessment of side effects of antipsychotic medication-n/a
7. National Confidential Inquiry into Suicides and Homicides: Annual Report (July 2009) –
the Trust provided information on 25 cases in the calendar year 2009
The reports of 5 national clinical audits were reviewed by HPFT in 2009/2010 and the Trust
intends to take the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided:
•

On receipt of the single outstanding report which is being finalised, implement all
action plans to address any shortfall.

•

Re-audit to close the audit loop.

With regard to the National Confidential Inquiry into Homicides and Suicides Report, the
Trust contributes each year to this ongoing national process of learning from suicides
homicides and unexplained deaths in Mental Health Trusts. The annual report (July 2009)
shows declining rates of suicide nationally and in Mental Health Trusts and this Trust’s
performance reflects this pattern, but it should be noted that the data only extends from 1996
to 2006 and so does not address any subsequent changes in the suicide rate.
The reports of 85 local clinical audits were reviewed by the Trust in 2009/2010 and the
Trust intends to take the following actions to improve the quality of the healthcare provided:
•
•
•
•

Score each report and associated Action Plan in relation to learning and clinical
effectiveness.
Ensure all action plans are implemented successfully via the Practice Audit and
Clinical Effectiveness team.
Disseminate and learn from findings at the right level across the organisation.
Re-audit to check for improvement.
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It can be seen that the Trust has a robust clinical audit programme and is committed to
participation in relevant national audits. The Trust aims in the coming year to shift its focus
from mere participation in national audits to scoring in the top 20%.
2.2.3. The number of service users receiving NHS services provided or sub-contracted by
HPFT in 2009/2010 that were recruited during that period to participate in research approved
by a research ethics committee was 386.
This compares to 310 in the previous year.
The Trust is committed to providing the most effective medical and psychological treatments
to all service users and to ensuring that research projects focus on areas that are most
important to this and other mental health service providers.
It is felt that simply the numbers of service users participating in research is not a strong
indicator of quality and also that in mental health care (compared to acute medical care), it is
less easy for participation in research to offer access to “cutting edge” treatments, as our
service users will often be excluded from studies because they lack capacity to consent or
have multiple difficulties.
Having said that, a new project in 2009/2010 focussing on “whole life” approaches to
recovery did enable an enhanced level of community mental health care to be made
available to the subjects.
2.2.4. A proportion of HPFT’s income in 2009/2010 was conditional on achieving quality
improvement and innovation goals agreed between HPFT and commissioners through the
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation payment framework. The Trust gained £570,000
out of £602 000 available in total (95%).
A summary is shown below. Further details of the agreed CQUIN goals for 2009/2010 and
for the following 12 month period are available from Jonathan Wells, Head of Practice
Governance.

CQUIN Objectives (2009/2010)
• To improve the quality of Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (HPFT)
services in specific and measurable ways

• To respond to feedback from service users and carers and to achieve the following
outcomes within Mental Health Services:

¾ Service users are supported to have as much control as possible of their care
planning

¾ Carers being valued and fully involved as partners in care
¾ Service users having the most positive experience possible of inpatient care that
supports their recovery and helps them to move on.

¾ Carers feeling respected, supported, actively involved and well informed both
personally and in the care and recovery of the cared for person.
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¾ People have an informed choice and timely access to a range of effective

psychological therapies that promote recovery and meet their individual needs.

• To improve the quality of services for Learning Disability, Child and Adolescent Mental
Health (CAMHS) and Drug and Alcohol through a range of measures

• To complement the Trusts QIP (Quality Improvement Plan) and Quality Accounts
• To increase access to ‘Having Your Say’ and to expand the mechanisms for Service
users and carers to comment on their services and to improve the reporting on this
feedback

CQUIN Objectives (2010/2011)
objective
Access to services
Service user and carer experience
Eligibility criteria development and implementation (transfer of cases to
primary care)
Reduction of older people going into residential placements
Reduction of CAMHS out of county placements
Increased use of community detoxification programmes
Improved recovery oriented outcomes scores
total

Proportion of
funding
20%
20%
16%
15%
10%
4%
15%
100%

Throughout 2009/2010 we were at pains to ensure that the Quality Account approach and
CQUIN were closely aligned. As a result, many targets were held in common, and for both
processes there was agreement that the main source of evidence of quality should be the
self-reported service user and carer experience.
The Trust’s achievement of 95% of the available CQUIN funding for 2009/2010 shows our
commitment to using every available avenue towards improving quality.
2.2.5.The Trust is required to register with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) and its
current registration status is “Registered with no conditions.”
Under the previous approach that applied in 2009/2010, the Trust declared itself compliant
with all the core Standards for Better Health. The Trust again received a rating of Excellent
for Quality from the CQC in the annual health check.
The CQC has not taken enforcement action against HPFT in the year 2009/2010.
2.2.6. HPFT is subject to periodic reviews by the CQC but has not been required to
participate in one during the period 2009/2010.
2.2.7. HPFT has not participated in any special reviews or investigations by the CQC during
the reporting period.
2.2.8. HPFT submitted records during 2009/2010 to the Secondary Uses service for inclusion
in the Hospital Episodes Statistics which are included in the latest published data.
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The percentage of records in the published data which included the patient’s valid NHS
number was:
• For admitted inpatient care: 99.2%
• For outpatient care: 99.8%
The percentage of records in the published data which included the patient’s valid General
Medical Practice Code was:
• For admitted inpatient care: 95.6%
• For outpatient care: 99.8%
2.2.9. HPFT’s scores for 2009/2010 for Information Quality and Records Management
assessed using the Information Governance toolkit, were:
Clinical information assurance
Confidentiality and data protection assurance
Corporate information assurance
Information governance management
Information security assurance
Secondary use assurance

87%
80%
75%
82%
78%
70%

By adding together the attainment level scores for the requirements of Mental Health Trusts
with regard to information quality, the following percentage score is found:
46 out of a maximum of 63 = 73%.
2.2.10. HPFT was subject to the Payment by Results clinical coding audit during the
reporting period by the Audit Commission and the error rates reported in the draft report for
that period for diagnoses and treatment coding (clinical coding) were:
% correct
% correct

Primary diagnosis
Secondary diagnosis

42.0%
13.4%

It is important that these results should not be extrapolated further than the actual sample
audited, and it should be noted that this report is currently in draft form.
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Part 3. Review of Quality Performance (2009/2010)
3.1. Introduction.
In this part of the account, we come to the heart of the description of how we have used the
quality account process to measure and improve quality of services through 2009/2010.

3.2. First Principles.
Lord Darzi’s report “High Quality Care for All” (2008) gave us our definition of quality which
(slightly adapted), we have reiterated to staff and other stakeholders many times since:
“Safe and effective treatment and care of which the service user and carers’ experience is
wholly positive.”
In early 2009 we were clear that we needed to move fast to engage with stakeholders in
order to agree our quality indicators and priorities before the start of the year 2009/2010.
Staff, service users, carers and Governors were engaged in debate about what quality meant
to them. As expected, a wide variety of views were expressed. Some clinicians were doubtful
as to whether quality in mental health and specialist learning disability care could truly be
measured and there was some concern that an emphasis on data collection and reporting
might even distract from or undermine the quality of direct services. We found that staff were
enthusiastic in sharing their views about quality – as everyone who works in or supports NHS
services wants them to be as good as possible. Agreeing how best to measure quality and
what the Trust’s priorities should be was much more problematic.
One result of this first period of consultation was agreement of a set of principles to which we
have returned through the year.
These are as follows:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

That quality improvement must consistently reflect the Trust’s 5 year strategy and its
objectives
That services can always be improved, with or without extra resources
That quality improvement must be meaningful at team level if it is to have a lasting
impact
That quality measures will focus on the experience of receiving care itself, (rather than
recycling current centrally held data sets which may or may not reflect the lived
experience of service users)
That (unless legislation or national guidelines state otherwise), the plan will reflect the
priorities of Hertfordshire stakeholders – service users, carers and staff- with an
avoidance of “window-dressing”.
That service user and carer experience, safety and clinical effectiveness and outcomes
will be the core elements of our quality account
That indicators will be selected on the basis that the data is already available (or already
has to be developed)
That an extra burden of data gathering will not be placed on frontline staff
That the plan will pay attention to all care groups
That process will not be more important than outcomes – e.g. measurement and
reporting will not be more important than improvements in quality.
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3.3. Selection of Priorities and Indicators.
Three main factors helped in the choice of quality priorities for 2009/2010.
Firstly, the consultation exercise in early 2009 led to agreement that quality was best
measured in terms of the actual and self-reported service user and carer experience – “it is
not good until it’s been experienced as good.”
Commissioners held the same view which meant that the quality account and the CQUIN
targets could be pursued in the same way.
Secondly, we were required by Monitor to include our priorities in a quality report as part of
the annual report, which concentrated our thinking.
Thirdly, we referred to the national Indicators for Quality Improvement for ideas, although
they were at an early stage of development and of limited value for Mental Health Trusts.
Above all, we welcomed the chance to select those indicators which made most sense to our
local stakeholders and to current and possible future users of our services. Some of the
indicators we eventually chose were very much our own – such as “Proportion of those
admitted to an acute inpatient unit which is not the most local”. Closure of two wards in the
past three years had led to beds not always being available locally; carers and Governors in
particular argued for and got inclusion of this indicator.
3.4. Indicators – Rationale and Progress.
Each of the chosen 2009/2010 quality indicators is briefly discussed below, followed by a
table showing performance through the year.
Indicators where improvement was achieved are shown in the graph below.
Green denotes improvement achieved (11of 17)
Amber denotes information not yet available (1 of 17)
Red denotes improvement not achieved (5 of 17)

16
14
Improvement Achieved

12
10

Information not yet
available
Improvement not
achieved

8
6
4
2
0

11

1

5
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Safety 1: 7 Day Follow Up.
Definition: Proportion of service users on the Care Programme Approach contacted within 7
days of discharge from an inpatient facility.
Data source: This is a performance indicator; data is taken from CareNotes, the electronic
patient record.
Rationale: This is a well known performance indicator in Mental Health. The Department of
Health expectation is 100%. The Trust has reduced its acute inpatient beds to 125 in 2009,
and reinvested in community services, meaning that inpatient occupancy rates have been
higher and average length of stay reduced. The 7 days after discharge are known nationally
to be a high risk period for suicide and other incidents. Prompt support from community
services – often the Crisis Assessment and Treatment Teams – is very important in ensuring
safe transitions into the community.
Progress: 793 out of 820 individuals were contacted as required within 7 days of discharge.
This consistently good performance was achieved through continued focussed efforts by
community teams supported by the central performance team.
Safety 2: Proportion of detained patients absconding.
Definition: Number of absconsions in the quarter of detained patients as a proportion of the
number of inpatients who have been on a section of the Mental Health Act at any time in the
quarter.
Data source: CareNotes.
Rationale: On acute inpatient units, a disappointing national service user survey in early
2009 led to a need to improve inpatient safety. More inpatients are now admitted under the
Mental Health Act and (although some absconsions are harmless and others not) inpatient
teams should be as effective as possible in preventing them if clinical risks are to be well
managed, with the aim of avoiding any incidents of absconsion.
Progress: It is good that performance throughout has been better than the target set
remaining below 5%, but it has declined slightly through the year in the face of unremitting
pressures on inpatient care. Steps have been taken to standardise practice across acute
units and inpatient units for people with learning disabilities are being made safer through
training and enhanced supervision of staff.
Safety 3: Compliance with PCT measures for same sex accommodation.
Definition: NHS Hertfordshire established a detailed set of standards for all provider Trusts
to ensure the safety of men and women on inpatient units.
Data source: This is a local target; data is qualitative and is gathered from services and
agreed by the Executive Team.
Rationale: HPFT had to report at least monthly to the PCT on its compliance with these
standards. The sexual safety of women on mental health inpatient units has been a clear
priority. The safe care of all inpatients in the same unit when some inpatients are disturbed in
their behaviour and some buildings are not well designed for safe care has been known to
present a challenge.
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Progress: In early 2009 a commissioners’ audit found lapses in standards, which had to be
promptly addressed. Since then, full compliance with the standards has been maintained
through the year which represents a very good performance. Where possible wards have
been separated by gender (for example the two acute inpatient wards at the Queen Elizabeth
Hospital, Welwyn), inpatient staff have been much more vigilant about potential breaches of
the rules, signage has been improved and very close monitoring by the PCT has been
effective.
Repeated surveys tell us that not all inpatients still feel safe so more remains to be done.
Safety 4: Proportion of those admitted who have accessed crisis resolution and home
treatment service.
Definition: Of total admissions in each quarter, the number who are recorded to have been
assessed beforehand by the Crisis Assessment and Treatment Teams.
Data source: CareNotes.
Rationale: Those who are acutely mentally unwell need services that are responsive and
safe, where possible providing care and treatment at home. This indicator is one of three
mandated by Monitor for their Quality Report.
Performance: This has been consistently good – above the target of 90% and in fact above
95% each quarter.
Clinical Effectiveness 1: Proportion on the Care Programme Approach with HoNoS
score.
Definition: The percentage of service users on the Care Programme Approach with at least
one recorded Health of the Nation Outcomes Scale (HoNOS) score, at the end of each
quarter.
Data source: CareNotes.
Rationale: The preferred national method for measuring clinical outcomes in mental health
services is HoNOS, but nationally implementation has been slow. It consists of a simple 12
point rating scale completed by a member of staff, which gives an indication of the service
user’s level of need at any given time. Without this objective measure, the Trust is not able to
demonstrate directly the clinical benefit of its services. Reduced scores over time indicate the
positive impact of services. Whilst outcomes are not actually measured until paired scores
can be compared, the existence of at least one score is a valid measure of an organisation’s
commitment to outcomes measurement.
Progress: By the end of the year performance was at 73.1%, clearly above the set target of
60% and showing steady improvement through the year. Progress has been good.
Clinical Effectiveness 2: Rate of service users leaving acute inpatient care with lower
HoNOS scores on discharge.
Definition: Out of those who had paired scores for the admission, the proportion who
showed reduced scores, indicating the positive impact of acute inpatient care.
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Data source: CareNotes.
Rationale: In view of the disappointing service user acute inpatient survey in 2009, it was
very important to focus on improving the quality of acute inpatient care and show that most
patients were benefitting.
Progress: This has shown some variation through the year, and falls short of the target of
90% but quarter 4 performance of 81.6% is the best yet, indicating some steady
improvement. There has been considerable debate during the year about what is an
appropriate target for this indicator. The consensus is that 90% is reasonable, given that
inpatients who are not detained may choose to go home for several reasons not necessarily
related to reduced levels of clinical need.
New posts were created to make the experience of acute inpatient care more therapeutic as
part of a comprehensive programme of improvements.
Clinical Effectiveness 3: Readmission rate.
Definition: Of all those discharged from inpatient care the proportion who are readmitted
within 28 days, (excluding planned readmissions and those who self-discharge).
Data source: CareNotes.
Rationale: Clinical effectiveness includes the effective use of inpatient care and good
management of discharge with provision of the right levels of care in the community.
Readmission rates are a well known way of examining quality of care in the very important
period after discharge.
Progress: This has fluctuated through the year, although the final quarter shows the best
performance (not statistically significant). The target has not been reached. A short stay
recovery unit linked to the acute inpatient units was opened this year, and the Crisis
Assessment and Treatment Teams are being reorganised and joined up with mental health
liaison services in Accident and Emergency Departments. Both these projects should assist
in reducing readmissions.
Clinical Effectiveness 4: Recorded employment status of those aged 18 to 69 on CPA.
Definition: Those on the Care Programme Approach with this field completed on their
electronic care record.
Data source: This is a social care performance indicator. Data is taken from CareNotes.
Rationale: This indicator is a measure of data quality not quality of care. It is an important
social care performance indicator and an important way of judging if service users are being
helped to avoid social exclusion and fulfil their aspirations. As a step towards measuring
progress it was decided for 2009/2010 to concentrate on improving the data quality.
Progress: This has improved from 9.5% to 93.8% through the year, an excellent
performance against the indicator as defined.
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Clinical Effectiveness 5: Recorded housing status of those aged 18 to 69 on CPA.
Definition: Those on the Care Programme Approach with this field completed on their
electronic care record.
Data source: This is a social care performance indicator. Data is taken from CareNotes
Rationale: as for the above. Rates of service users in settled accommodation and in
employment can be a good way of indicating whether they are being helped to recover, and
complement as measures the more clinical HoNOS ratings.
Progress: This has improved from 2.7% to 92.7% through the year, an excellent
performance against the indicator as defined.
Clinical Effectiveness 6: Participation in Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health
(POMH) UK Audits.
Definition: POMH UK reports received in 2009/2010 which include HPFT.
Data source: Number of reports received as reported by the Head of Medicines
Management.
Rationale: For the first year of quality accounts, the national set of possible quality
indicators included this, as a way of showing a Trust’s commitment to measuring and
improving clinical effectiveness in terms of psychiatric treatments. Service user surveys such
as the Alliance survey in early 2009 raised important questions about the effectiveness of
medical treatments and the programme of detailed POMH – UK audits allows the Trust to
benchmark its performance in this area.
Progress: The Trust successfully achieved its target for participation in these national audits.
Clinical Effectiveness 7: Parental Satisfaction Questionnaires completed in Child and
Adolescent Mental Health Services.
Definition: The number of parental satisfaction questionnaires completed on acceptance
into CAMHS services as a proportion of the total number of cases accepted.
Data source: CAMHS clinic managers reporting to the head of practice governance.
Rationale: It was noted in-year that the set of quality indicators for 2009/2010 was not fully
representative of all Trust services and so this indicator was added to reflect CAMHS. Here
under CORC (CAMHS Outcomes and Research Consortium), customer satisfaction and
clinical outcomes are measured. To ensure its development county-wide, this particular
aspect of CORC was chosen for the first year, as an essential building block which should be
in place in all clinics by the end of the year.
Progress: This is only reported for the last half of the year and is fairly good but not yet up to
the target. This figure should be seen in the context of the very thorough approach to
outcomes measurement that CORC represents. Once performance on this measure is up to
target, we will focus on getting all CAMHS clinics routinely obtaining responses both at the
start and after six months so that progress can really be measured.
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Service User and Carer Experience 1: Proportion of mental health service users who
say they have been given or offered a copy of their care plan.
Definition: Out of those completing the national service user survey for working age adult
mental health community service users, the proportion who say they were given or offered a
copy of their care plan.
Data source: National community mental health service user surveys 2009 and 2010.
Rationale: Service users and carers still say they do not always feel sufficiently involved in
the planning of their care. The Trust and commissioners agreed this remained a key
measure of whether their experience is positive and promotes recovery.
Progress: Performance on this indicator is measured annually via the results of the national
community mental health service user survey. 2010 results were published internally on
4 May 2010. For working age mental health service users there was a marginal decline from
59% being given or offered a copy of their care plan to 51%. This may be because this year
a mail shot to send out copies of care plans in addition to the routine practice did not take
place. The survey results will now be fully analysed and extra actions will be planned.
Service User and Carer Experience 2: Access to Psychological Therapies for those
using Working Age Mental Health Services.
Definition: The difference between those saying they wanted psychological therapies and
those saying they received them.
Data source: National community mental health service user surveys 2009 and 2010.
Rationale: Evidence from NICE audits (e.g. schizophrenia clinical guidelines) and from
service user and carer surveys indicates an important problem of such services still being at
times hard to access. The Trust’s efforts are concentrating first on achieving improvements
for working age adults who use mental health services, so this is the focus.
This indicator was added in-year.
Progress: Performance on this indicator is measured annually via the results of the national
community mental health service user survey. 2010 results were published internally on
4 May 2010. For working age mental health service users there was a reduction in this gap
from 17% to 14%. This falls 1% below target but nevertheless indicates that the
psychological therapies redesign project may be beginning to take effect. The Trust is well
placed to build on this improvement in the coming year.
Service User and Carer Experience 3: Proportion of those admitted to an acute
inpatient unit which is not the most local.
Definition: Out of all those admitted to Trust acute inpatient units in a given quarter, the
proportion admitted to the unit which covers their geographical area.
Data source: Bed and Management and Placement Service (Trust team).
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Rationale: This is a local quality measure which was especially important to service users,
carers and Governors when consulted in early 2009. It reflects concerns that the quality of
acute inpatient care is difficult to maintain when inpatient care is provided away from the
local community and the local community mental health services.
Progress: Despite a range of measures to improve the efficiency of acute inpatient care, bed
pressures have been unremitting and this indicator shows unsatisfactory performance which
remained below target. Improvements have been made in avoiding the admission of service
users to the private sector because there was no Trust bed; unfortunately they have not gone
so far as to have an impact on making a local Trust bed always available.
Service User and Carer Experience 4: Quality of Inpatient Environment.
Definition: The quality of inpatient environments across the Trust.
Data source: The Patient Environment Action Team (PEAT) scores are given through visits
to units through the year with service user involvement that pay attention to cleanliness,
infection control, food and others basic aspects of good patient care. One summary score
(on top of specific ward scores) is given at the end of the year.
Rationale: Service user and carer feedback continues to tell us that the quality of the
environment in which they receive inpatient care is very important to their recovery.
Progress: The final PEAT score for 2009/2010 is not yet available.
Service User and Carer Experience 5: Proportion of carers receiving support or
advice/information.
Definition: Proportion of service users receiving a service who have a carer who has
received assessment/advice.
Data source: This is a social care performance indicator. Data is taken from CareNotes.
Rationale: It remains important for the Trust to fulfil its statutory duties to support informal
carers in this most valuable role, and carers say this can and should be improved. The Trust
created a new carer development manager post in the year to take this forward.
Progress: This has improved significantly through the year, although performance remains
below the nationally given target. The Trust created a new carer development manager post
in the year to take this forward. He is beginning to have an impact in promoting the carers’
information packs, advertising more widely the respite care options available to carers and
telling staff about best practice in carer assessments and how to record them on the new
improved document.
Service User and Carer Experience 6: Proportion of patients experiencing delayed
discharge from inpatient care.
Definition: Number of delayed bed days as a proportion of total number of occupied bed
days.
Data source: This is a local target; data is taken from reporting to the Bed Management and
Placement Service.
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Rationale: It is not a good experience for service users, carers or staff for individuals to
remain inpatients when this is no longer needed. It also means that resources are not being
used efficiently. Older people with mental health problems can be especially vulnerable to
being in an acute hospital setting for too long.
Progress: Although more needs to be done, performance has been maintained as better
than the target level (below 7.5%) throughout the year. The development of more acute
options in the community – such as the Intensive Outreach Team for people with dementia has assisted with this. Host families and crisis houses are being explored as new alternatives
for adults with mental health problems who might otherwise be admitted or remain too long
as inpatients.
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QUALITY ACCOUNT
MEASURES

Annual
Target

Qtr 1

Qtr 2

Qtr3

Qtr 4

YTD

Target

≥98%

≥98%

≥98%

≥98%

≥98%

Actual

95.8%
(208/217)

98%
(192/196)

96.2%
(200/208)

97%
(193/199)

96.7%
(793/820)

Target

≤5%

≤5%

≤5%

≤5%

≤5%

0.8%

3.4%

2.86%

4.39%

2.84.%

Target

Comply

Comply

Comply

Comply

Comply

Actual

Comply

Comply

Comply

Comply

Comply

Target

≥90%

≥90%

≥90%

≥90%

≥90%

Actual

96.9%

97.8%

96.9%

97.7%

97.3%

Target

≥45%

≥50%

≥55%

≥60%

≥60%

Actual

48%

50%

70.2%

73.1%

73.1%

Target

≥75%

≥75%

≥85%

≥90%

≥90%

Actual

73%

77%

69.8%

81.6%

75.3%

Target

≤5%

≤5%

≤5%

≤5%

≤5%

4.8%

7.1%

6.4%

4.7%

5.7%

Target

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Actual

9.5%

37.6%

91.9%

93.8%

93.8%

Target

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Actual

2.7%

33.7%

92.9%

92.7%

92.7%

Target

1

2

3

3

≥3

Source

Description

Trustwide /
service specific
indicator

Safety

7 day follow-up
Proportion of detained inpatients
who have absconded in past 3
months
Compliance with PCT measures
for mixed sex accommodation
Access to crisis resolution home
treatment teams on admission to
inpatient care
Clinical Effectiveness &
Outcomes
Proportion on CPA with HoNOS
score
Rate of service users leaving
acute inpatients with lower HoNOS
scores on discharge

Readmission Rate
Recorded Employment Status of
those aged 18 - 69 on CPA
Recorded Housing status of those
aged 18 - 69 on CPA
Participation in POMH-UK audits
Parental Satisfaction
questionnaires complete in
CAMHS

98%

5%
100%
≥90%

60%
90%

5%
100%
100%
3

Actual

Actual

Monitor /
Periodic
Review

Local Target
Local Target /
DoH
Guidance
Monitor /
Periodic
Review

Local Target
CQUIN / Local
Target

% of people on CPA who are contacted within 7
days of discharge from an inpatient facility
Numerator: Number of absconsions (on section).
Denominator: number of service users who have
been on section at any time during Qtr. (If 1 service
user absconds twice in the Qtr this is counted twice
in denominator but once in numerator)

Trustwide (CPA only,
over 18 years old)
Inpatients from all wards
(Acute, Specialist,
Secure &Rehab)

Compliance with PCT measures for mixed sex
accommodation

Trustwide

% of service users admitted to adult MH inpatient
units who were gatekept by CATT

Acute

% of people on CPA with at least one HoNOS score
(snapshot at end of Qtr)

Trustwide

Local Target

Improvement in HoNOS score for those where there
are paired scores
Numerator: Number of emergency readmissions
within 28 days of discharge excluding those who self
discharge. Denominator: Number of discharges in
the period from one month prior to the beginning of
the Qtr to one month before the end.

Social Care PI

% of service users aged 18 - 69 on CPA with
employment field complete

Trustwide (CPA only)

Social Care PI

% of service users aged 18 - 69 on CPA with
accommodation field complete

Trustwide (CPA only)

Acute only

Trustwide

Actual

3

3

3

3

3

Local Target

Completed reports

Trustwide

Target

N/A

N/A

88%

95%

95%

Actual

N/A

N/A

88%

79%

84%

Local
Target

Number of parental SDQs completed at assessment
as proportion of all new cases CAMHS only

CAMHS
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QUALITY ACCOUNT
MEASURES
Service User and Carer
Experience
Proportion of mental health service
users who say they have been
given or offered a copy of their
care plan
Access to psychological therapies
for those using working age mental
health services
Proportion of those admitted to an
acute inpatient unit, which is not
the most local
Quality of inpatient environment
% of carers receiving support or
advice/information
Proportion of patients experiencing
delayed discharge from inpatient
care

Annual
Target

Target
100%

Actual
Target

13%
8%
5
25%
7.5%

Qtr 1

Qtr 2

Qtr3

Qtr 4

YTD

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

59%

59%

59%

51%

51%

13%

13%

13%

13%

13%

Actual

17%

17%

17%

14%

14%

Target

≤10%

≤9%

≤8%

≤8%

≤8%

Actual

11.7%

17.0%

19.6%

14.6%

15.4%

Target

5

5

5

5

5

Actual

3.6

3.6

3.6

N/A

N/A

Target

≥25%

≥25%

≥25%

≥25%

≥25%

Actual

4.2%

4.4%

10.8%

15.2%

15.2%

Target

≤7.5%

≤7.5%

≤7.5%

≤7.5%

≤7.5%

Actual

7.2%

4.6%

6.4%

7.4%

6.3%
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Source

Description

Trustwide /
service specific
indicator

Local Target

% of people answering 'yes' to this question in
community survey (working age mental health)
% gap between working age adults with mental
health problems saying they wanted psychological
therapies and % saying they received them.

Community MH

Local Target

% of people admitted to an acute inpatient unit that
is not the most local to them

Acute only

CQC

NPSA /
CQUIN
Social Care PI
Monitor /
Periodic
Review

Community MH

PEAT Score - annual
% of service users receiving a community based
service who have a carer who has received carers
assessment/advice/information

Trustwide

Numerator: Number of delayed bed days.
Denominator: Number of occupied bed days

Acute, Specialist,
Secure & Rehab

Trustwide

Our Approach to Quality Improvement.
Some aspects of the Trust’s attitude to quality have been outlined above, with the
description of the principles we agreed with stakeholders on how to develop the quality
account, and the emphasis on leadership, from the Executive team and beyond.
3.5.1. The Workforce.
We have taken a long term view by starting to develop talent at all levels through
coaching and other developmental initiatives to help us design a workforce which is up
to date and will be fit to practice in the future.
Our plans have focused on ‘quality and innovation’ in how we deliver excellent
care to service users.
We have worked and will continue to work, with key leaders and influencers in the Trust
who, with development, can deliver major transformation of frontline services.
Other initiatives have included addressing some of the cultural and engagement issues
which exist, by improving lines of communication through more regular team meetings,
senior leaders’ meetings, one-to-one supervision and appraisal.
We are currently producing a capability plan for the Trust which will incorporate the key
competencies required to deliver high quality services over the next five years and our
learning and development teams are designing and developing relevant training and
continuous professional development (CPD) for clinical and operational leaders who,
where possible, are participating in this process.
The staff experience is itself an important way of measuring quality, whether derived
from the national staff survey or incident data, and we have deliberately incorporated a
staff measure as an indicator of inpatient safety (priority 1) in our list of indicators for
2010/2011.
3.5.2. Resources.
As we enter a period of considerable financial stringency, it will be crucial in the coming
year that the organisation understands the relationship between quality and resources.
The principle was agreed in early 2009, (and has been reiterated many times since),
that extra resources are not necessary in order to improve the quality of the care and
treatment we provide. Staff themselves, recognise that there can be too much
duplication and too many internal boundaries in services which do not make for the best
possible service user and carer experience.
This view is central to the way the Trust in the coming year will redeploy resources.
Through our major programme entitled Leading by Design, the Executive Director of
Service Delivery and Transformation will implement radical changes to services,
increasing efficiency and maintaining safety and quality. Our methods of evaluating
services, based around service user and carer feedback but also including a wider data
set comprising incidents, complaints, audit results and staffing information, will enable
us to keep measuring the impact on quality. This will feed into next year’s quality
account.
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3.5.2. Data Quality.
A powerful quality account requires good information. In Part 2 above, the mandatory
set of data quality statements has been included, supported by the mandatory
statement in Part 1.
The Trust’s statement on internal control for 2009/2011 refers to the ways in which the
accuracy of this quality account is assured. Internally, this has been by the Integrated
Governance Committee and the Board on a quarterly basis, whilst externally it is
through the formal right of the Primary Care Trust to see and comment on the draft
quality account in May 2010. This is supplemented by the chance for the County
Council’s Health Scrutiny Committee and the Mental Health and Learning Disabilities
Sub-group of the county Local Involvement Network (LINK) to also provide written
comments.
For each of the selected quality indicators for 2009/2010, definitions and the data
source have been stated.
3.5. Quality in 2009/2010 – the Rest of the Story.
We have found that the best way to discuss quality in the Trust is to start with the hard
numbers, consider highlights through the year (planned and unplanned), and end with
the service user and carer experience.
So in this section some more narrative is provided to round out the picture, followed by
a sample of direct quotations from service users and carers.
3.5.1. Some Events.
In 2009/2010, the NHS as a whole was reminded by events in Mid-Staffordshire and
elsewhere that poor quality care can still happen, and persist. Like most NHS Trusts,
HPFT tightened up on its internal monitoring and reporting to Board as a result.
In late summer 2009 it became clear that serious untoward incidents (SUIs) appeared to
be showing an increase for the first half of the year. This included possible suicides. A
review was organised led by the Executive Director – Quality and Medical Leadership
and an external consultant was commissioned to analyse the data. It was concluded
that the increase was partly due to a shift in the categorisation of incidents; issues were
also found about a cluster of cases in one locality, some concerns about the quality of
clinical risk assessments, (procedures and training), interfaces both within the Trust and
between the Trust, GPs and Acute Hospitals and delays in internally investigating
incidents so that lessons can be learnt. It was also accepted that having developed
enhanced mental health services in primary care, the Trust had taken on responsibility
for more service users with a wider range of needs.
The cluster of cases in one area was investigated promptly and no systems failures
were found. Action was taken about the other issues.
In the first three months of 2010, the Trust organised the transfer of specialist learning
disabilities services from North Essex into the Trust. Having been successful in the
tendering exercise the Trust took over provision of these services from 1 April 2010.
Inpatient units for people with learning disabilities can become isolated and
institutionalised and in the coming year we will be introducing ways of assuring the
quality of learning disabilities inpatient care through a standard system of peer review.
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Throughout the year, as well as challenges, there were many positive achievements
recognised as such by all stakeholders. Acute inpatient care remains under significant
pressure, but in the second half of the year it carried out a major programme of service
improvements. This included:
• Hospitality nurses on each shift
• Welcome packs for each patient on admission
• Initiatives to ensure same sex arrangements and to enhance patient safety
• “Productive Wards – Releasing Time to Care” – a major PCT-funded project to make
all inpatient units more efficient and more focussed on direct patient care
• Activity workers on wards, including evenings and weekends, making inpatient care
more therapeutic
• More psychology posts on acute inpatient units, adding to the availability of
psychological treatments
• Protected time in the afternoons, when ward staff are freed to talk one to one with
inpatients
• Surgeries where ward managers seek out the feedback of service users and carers
Patient Experience Trackers (PETs) are used on the six acute inpatient units to gather
feedback and so far this is positive but the national acute inpatient service user survey,
which the Trust is repeating this year, will confirm later in the summer whether the
intended improvements have had their full effect.
It has been a good year for Trust services being recognised outside Hertfordshire and in
particular, we were very proud that the new Oak and Beech units at Harperbury
received a national award for their design, reflecting our commitment in our quality
priorities to the inpatient environment.
The Intensive Outreach Team for older people with dementias was another national
award winner reflecting our commitment to community alternatives to admission, and
Logandene a unit at Hemel for older people with dementias, won national and
international recognition for the ways it implemented recovery principle
3.6.2 Some Comments.
Ending with the service user experience, some comments of service users made during
2009/2010 are listed below.
This shows the variety of customer experience – which ranges from good to bad to
indifferent. It illustrates both how much quality care is provided and also how much
more there is to do.
A. Was there anything particularly good about your care?
“I was impressed with the cleanliness of the hospital and that there was a lot of
entertainment provided.”
“Some of the nurses were very good and one doctor on the crisis team was excellent.”
“The care assistants were particularly helpful and attentive.”
“On the whole, very professional. Very impressed, thank you!”
“The hospital was clean and there were always staff to speak to.”
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“I was given the help that I needed. Treatment helped to make me better.”
“Without the help of the unit I would not be as I am today.”
“I found the staff very helpful they were very good at listening.”
“I was very impressed by the OT team as very friendly and helpful.”
“Particularly friendly and helpful staff.”
“My advance directive was used which I made prior to becoming very unwell. The health team
were fantastic.”
“I was very impressed by the care I received from the doctors, psychiatrists, nurses.”
“The time and trouble taken by my psychiatrists with my case.”
“Staff are always ready to listen and very helpful with motivation.”
“I enjoyed OT. I like the psychiatrist. I felt free and easy.”

B. Was there anything that could be improved?
“I felt that what other professionals said or wrote about me was always believed, even when this
was incorrect. When I pointed out that these things were wrong I was disbelieved.”
“The food. More talking therapy. More activities. The hospital could be a lot cleaner including the
rooms. The staff could be more friendly and helpful.”
“OT aftercare could be more thorough and complete.”
“If the nurses spoke English that would have been a great help. I couldn’t understand what was
being said to me so there was little or no conversation.”
“I kept asking for information about the medication I was given. Was promised daily that I would
be given a patient information leaflet – was only given it on the last day.”
“You could improve the food.”
“Staff could spend a lot more time talking to patients.”
“…..I have a physical disability as well and most meal times I never got anything to eat.”
“I need more benefit money. I asked before for help – nothing received.”
“Some of staff attitude could have been a bit better. Some a bit rude.”
“The process of diagnosis used at the hospital was poor and not accurate at all.”
“There were very few activities.”
“…….[need] continuity with psychiatrists and nursing staff.”
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“I had to provide a spreadsheet of my symptoms – no one had ever asked me what they were
and yet they were prescribing the medication.”
“It was a mixed sex ward so didn’t feel that safe to leave my room.”

Part 4. Final Notes.
4.1.

This document has been produced in accordance with the NHS (Quality
Accounts) Regulations 2010 (statutory instruments 2010 No. 279), and its
schedule.

4.2.

Under the regulations, Mental Health Trusts are required to produce a quality
account for their acute services; as these are considered part of the whole
mental health system and are not consistently defined, this account covers all
trust services – acute and community.

4.3.

The main guidance used in preparation of this account is the “Quality Accounts
toolkit” (DoH, February 2010).

4.4.

The account also fulfils the additional annual reporting requirements of Monitor
(March 2010). It is written to form the quality report aspect of the Trust’s annual
report, and also as a stand alone Quality Account.

4.5.

Where acronyms are used they are spelt out in full the first time in order to be as
clear as possible.

4.6.

This is the Trust’s own account finally of the quality of its services. However it
could not have been produced without the assistance of a wide range of
stakeholders – corporate and frontline HPFT staff, service users, carers,
Governors, partner agencies and commissioners. Their involvement is very much
appreciated and we look forward to building on it further in the coming year.
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Hertfordshire LINk’s response to Hertfordshire Partnership Foundation Trust (HPFT)
Quality Account
The LINk is pleased to see that HPFT has begun to address issues of mixed
accommodation systematically. This needs to be continued.
HPFT has rightly prioritised patient safety and most of the indicators are what LINk wanted
to see there. The move to more community-based provision has started but probably needs
more embedding, and issues of patient safety might arise again in this regard.
Regarding ‘Serious Untoward Incidents’ (SUIs), HPFT has openly acknowledged the serious
issue of increased SUIs which has been concerning us for some time and which we have
raised at the Joint Commissioning Partnership Board (JCPB). HPFT has begun to address
this systematically through research into the causes so that they can move on to prevention.
The focus on user and carer experience as discussed in the Quality Account is good, though
HPFT could possibly look this year to providing more services (including respite perhaps),
for carers of people who are long-term and severely unwell.
Hertfordshire LINk’s concerns about lack of meaningful recreational activity on inpatient
wards has also been addressed by the employment of people to provide this stimulus for
patients
There are some concerns being expressed now about the Improving Access to
Psychological Therapies (IAPT) programme. It is running reasonably well, though there are
a few issues which are being addressed by the Trust with commissioners. One of the main
problems seems to be with people who need further therapy after the end of the Cognitive
Behaviour Therapy (CBT) process, where waiting times are so long that they tend to nullify
the benefit of the CBT, we are told
For the future, Hertfordshire LINk would like HPFT to be looking at providing more mutual
support groups within local communities in the County as part of a strategy for creating
mentally healthy communities.
The work of the Community Development Workers (CDW ) team is to be commended, as
they are beginning now to make inroads into the needs of specific communities, including
Black and Minority Ethnic communities where mental health issues are often subject to more
stigma and difficult to reach and help.
Hertfordshire LINk looks forward to working with Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust in the coming year to improve quality and welcomes the offer of increased engagement
with its Mental Health and Learning Disabilities theme group.

Henry Goldberg, Chair Hertfordshire LINk

Service User, Carer and Stakeholder Relations
Involving Service Users, Carers and Members
A significant number of improvements to services provided by the Trust have been
possible due to the involvement of service users, carers and members during April 2009
to March 2010. These include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Hosting the Trust Annual Members’ Day
The development of a Membership Involvement Action Plan
Appointing senior staff members, including Executive Directors
Improving the information available for people with a learning disability
Developing training content, including training for Care Coordinator staff
Service user-led audits informing service improvement on inpatient wards
Informing the Trust review of psychological therapy provision
Influencing funding for a new Service Development Manager (Carers) to improve
the Trust’s services for carers.
Helping develop a Carer Information Pack
The development of an Involvement Network to influence services for older
people
The development of a BME Service User Forum and a BME Carer Forum

It is planned that efforts in 2010-2011 will further develop the involvement of children
and younger people, people with addictions and people with a learning disability, in
service improvement in line with the annually reviewed Trust Involvement Strategy
(2009-2012).
Compliments and Complaints
The Trust places considerable importance on the comments, compliments and
complaints provided by service users, their carers, relatives and friends. We actively
encourage people to raise concerns with staff on the units or to use the Comments,
Compliments and Complaints leaflets available on all wards and outpatient units.
We use the information provided in comments and complaints, together with the
outcomes of our investigations, to improve our services and we work closely with the
Risk Management and Practice Governance teams to ensure that lessons learnt are
turned into action plans, which are put into place and monitored.
We also celebrate what we do well, and all units are encouraged to send details of
compliments received to the PALS (Patient Advice and Liaison Service) and Complaint
team for logging.
Over the past year the team has worked with unit managers to raise awareness of the
service to enable and encourage service users, carers, advocates and others to
comment on the services that we provide. As a result there has been an increase in
both PALS contacts and complaints.
New regulations for the handling of complaints came into force on 1 April 2009, which
have had a great impact on the way Social Services for Adults and Health Services
resolve complaints and the way we record complaints, which meant that some informal
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complaints that would previously have been recorded as PALS contacts are now
recorded as formal complaints.
Formal Complaints
We investigate complaints with the aim of providing a fair, open and honest response
and to learn from them so that other users/carers can benefit from the changes made as
a result.
There has been a considerable increase in the number of complaints compared to last
year (48%). This is in part believed to be in response to the high profile the Trust is
giving to service user/carer experience and easier access through the PALS helpline,
and the ability to request that comments included in Having Your Say forms be treated
as complaints. In addition, changes imposed by the new regulations mean that informal
complaints that take longer than one working day to resolve are now logged as formal
complaints. Table B shows the number and main categories of complaints, comparing
2008/09 and 2009/10.
Table B: Number of formal complaints and main issues
Main complaint issue

01/04/08 –
31/03/09
5
50
27
3
7
3
42
137

Assault / abuse
Clinical practice
Communication
Environment etc.
Staff attitude
Security
Systems & Procedures
Total

01/04/09 31/03/10
3
67
39
2
26
1
65
203

Of the 203 complaints received during this year 160 were responded to within 25
working days and 20 were responded to over 25 working days. Twenty-three complaints
were still open at the time this report was prepared, 18 of which were still within time.
Permission is sought from complainants when it is known that a complaint is likely to go
overdue.
Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS)
PALS provides people with advice and assistance on who to contact and support if they
have a concern that they do not wish to raise as a formal complaint with the Trust. The
number of contacts has increased substantially (by 85%). In addition, the service has
been used to help complete Having Your Say forms for the first time.
Table A shows the number and main categories of PALS contacts, comparing 2008/09
and 2009/10.
Table A: Number of PALS contacts and main categories
Category

01/04/08 –
31/03/09
42
44
2
1
89

Advice
Issues for resolution
Feedback
Other
Total
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01/04/0931/03/10
67
89
4
5
165

Emerging themes from the PALS issues and complaints received.
Some of the PALS ‘Issues for Resolution’ are transferred to the formal complaints
process either because they can not be resolved within one working day or due the
serious nature of the issues raised.
Of the 67 clinical practice complaints, 38 concerned direct care, 15 care planning, 13
concerned administration of drugs and medicines, and one about the diagnosis. The 65
Systems and Procedures complaints fell into 10 categories, including 10 complaints of
alleged breach of confidentiality and six about policy decisions of the Trust. In addition
there were 10 complaints about access to treatment, 10 about assessment and
treatment and three about waiting lists for specialist children’s services.
During the year we received eleven requests for files from the Parliamentary and Health
Services Ombudsman. Five related to complaints completed over 15 months ago. Of
these one request was withdrawn, as the case had previously been dealt with by the
Healthcare Commission, one has been dismissed as no further action required and we
are awaiting feedback from the Ombudsman on the others. Of the seven requests for
files on more recent complaints three have been referred back to the Trust for further
local resolution, two because the Ombudsman felt the Trust could do more to resolve
the complaints and one because new issues were raised which the Trust needed to
respond to. We are awaiting the decision on the other four complaints.
Compliments
The units are asked to forward letters of thanks from service users, carers, advocates
and visitors to the PALS and Complaints Department by the services so that they can
be logged and reported. The team is currently reminding all units of the importance of
forwarding compliments to ensure that they are recorded accurately.
01/04/08 – 27/02/09
01/04/09 – 31/03/10

315
308

The number of compliments received does not reflect the very large number of verbal
compliments.
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Requests for Information
1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010
The Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOI) is a key piece of government legislation
which aims to break down the traditional culture of secrecy and give people the right to
know!
Requests for Information
Between April 2009 and March 2010 we received 81 FOI and 1 EIR requests. The
outcome of these requests is tabled below:
The information was released
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The information was not held by the
Trust

In part - 4
Whole - 5

The request was transferred to
another organisation

0

An exemption applied to all or part of
the information requested
Request withdrawn

16
2

Requests dealt with as non-FOI

1

Clarification requested but not
received
Requests still within timescale for
response

2
8

The Act gives the public the right to be told whether a piece of information exists and if
so, the right to receive it if requested (information may be withheld if an exemption
applies).
You can refer to the ‘disclosure log’ for further details on the information which has been
requested and disclosed in the ‘Freedom of Information’ section of our website
www.hertspartsft.nhs.uk
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Reporting of Personal Data Related Incidents
Loss of personal data is a risk which is nationally monitored and the table below shows
incidents within 2009/10 for the Trust which were at the lowest recorded severity level.
SUMMARY OF OTHER PERSONAL DATA RELATED INCIDENTS IN 2009-10

Category

Nature of incident

Total

I

Loss of inadequately protected electronic equipment,
devices or paper documents from secured NHS premises

0

II

Loss of inadequately protected electronic equipment,
devices or paper documents from outside secured NHS
premises

0

III

Insecure disposal of inadequately protected electronic
equipment, devices or paper documents

0

IV

Unauthorised disclosure

0

V

Other

5
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Sustainability and Climate Change
Commentary
Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (HPFT) recognises our responsibilities
towards protecting the environment, as part of our duties as a promoter and deliverer of
high quality healthcare and as a good corporate citizen.
As one of the largest employers in the local area and with operations in Norfolk (and
from April 2010 in Essex), we need to lead by example and demonstrate to our staff,
service users and the local community that we take all environmental issues including
carbon reduction seriously. The Trust aims to minimise the adverse environmental
impact made by all activities carried out within all Trust sites, improving our
environmental performance to reduce pollution, global climate change and damage to
the natural environment.
We recognise that the Trust directly contributes to CO2 emissions through buildings
energy consumption, water consumption, waste production, transport and procurement.
We are confident that involvement in this Carbon Management and Implementation
Plan will assist us in our endeavour to produce new and cost effective ways of reducing
our carbon emissions at the same time as embedding a process of engagement and
culture change within the Trust so that carbon management becomes part of the routine
management of the Trust at a strategic and operational level.
In 2008 HPFT was responsible for emissions of 10,646 tonnesCO2. Without full
commitment by all and clearly defined actions to reduce emissions we anticipate that
our carbon emissions will rise by 4% and our overall costs will increase from £2.3 million
p.a. to £3.6 million p.a. by April 2013 a 56% increase.
A Carbon Management and Implementation Plan (CMIP) has been developed which
sets out a range of actions that will enable us to reduce our carbon emissions by 25%
by 2013 based on 2008 levels.
Our low carbon vision
To be the leading low carbon provider of mental health and specialist learning disability
services in the country by providing high quality care with excellent treatment outcomes,
within a safe environment which meets the needs of our service users whilst ensuring a
sustainable future for all.
This vision fits well with the Trust’s Five
Year Strategic Vision which also aims to:
•

•
•
•

Work in partnership with the community to promote the wellbeing of others, whilst
making a positive contribution to the environment
Be the employer of choice where staff are highly valued well supported and
rewarded.
Ensure a sustainable future through income growth and the efficient use of
resources
The CMIP outlines our holistic approach to Carbon Management across the Trust
and identifies how this approach enables multiple benefits for people, places and
profit.
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Carbon Management Plan Governance
We are acutely aware that without strong and ongoing programme governance the
Carbon Management Plan will fail to deliver our targeted savings across the Trust. We
therefore intend to keep the existing structures for programme management and add
weight to these by appointing an Executive Project Sponsor who will have ultimate
responsibility for delivering the Plan. This will ensure:
•

Direction and ownership of the programme at Executive and Board level;

•

A forum for regular reviews and updates of implementation of the programme at a
strategic level and a place of discussion concerning barriers to implementation;

•

A forum to generate continued enthusiasm and energy concerning the
implementation of the Carbon Management Plan.

Summary performance
We are at the beginning of our Carbon Management Programme and as such are only
able to report our baseline consumption figures from 2008/09 financial year. 2009/10
data is currently being collated and will be reported next year.
Financial
data
(£k)

Financial
data
(£k)

2008/09

2009/10

Expenditure
on waste
disposal

£63,988

£73,921

150,652m³

Water

£141,256

£149,731

7,770MWh

8,353MWh

Electricity

£811,208

£876,105

Gas

23,907MWh

26298MWh

Gas

£776,980

£874,103

Other energy
consumption

N/A

N/A

Other energy
consumption

N/A

N/A

Nonfinancial
data
(applicable
metric)
2008/09

Nonfinancial
data
(applicable
metric)
2009/10

918
tonnes

1010
tonnes

- Methods of
disposal
(optional).

Various inc
landfill,
incineration
and recycle

Various inc
landfill,
incineration
and recycle

Water

142,798m³

Electricity

Area

Waste
minimisation
and
management

Finite
Resources

- Absolute
values for
total amount
of waste
produced by
the trust.

Future priorities and targets
The following section sets out projects and actions identified to deliver HPFT’s reduction
target and associated financial savings. This process is not static and additional
reduction initiatives will be ascertained and implemented as they become available.
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Outlined below are the existing, planned and future projects that will form the backbone
of our quantifiable carbon management programme. Projects specifically related to
improving buildings in the estate have been prioritised based on the performance of the
building against the relevant benchmark figure, with the worst performing buildings to be
addressed in the earlier years. Backed up by specific site energy surveys, this list may
be modified over time as the data quality improves and priorities are redefined. By
adopting this approach it is assumed that the least cost improvements can be made first
to deliver the highest carbon savings.
In reality some low cost building technical measures such as optimisation of controls
and the installation of low energy lighting may be appropriate for the majority of
buildings early in the programme. These measures have been identified, and will be
undertaken for appropriate buildings.
A number of measures have been identified for the buildings. In the sections below
these measures have been grouped under the following headings.
•

Optimise Heating, Ventilation and Cooling Controls: Optimisation of
controls will lead to significant savings across the estate. Measures include
ensuring controls are set to appropriate occupancy and comfort criteria and
that systems such as cooling and heating systems are turned off in
appropriate seasons;

•

New BMS: Where appropriate building management systems will be
installed;

•

Improved building fabric: A number of buildings within the estate would
benefit from improved loft insulation, some are suitable for cavity wall
insulation, some buildings could benefit from secondary glazing, whilst the
majority of buildings would benefit from improvement to the fabric to limit
draughts;

•

Heating system improvements: Gas consumption is the largest proportion
of energy consumption and carbon emissions from the Trust. Improvements
to the heating systems, including upgraded controls, pipe work insulation and
zoning are fundamental to achieving carbon reductions across the estate.
Furthermore replacing inefficient boilers with new more efficient boilers would
have significant benefits.

Additional projects include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Key Policy GAP Analysis;
IT management software;
Automatic meter reading;
Increased recycling;
Enabling video conferencing;
Emissions cap on all lease vehicles;
Printer Rationalisation;
Green Travel Plan;
Poorly Performing Buildings Energy Survey Report
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Emergency Planning
The Trust response to the Swine Flu Pandemic during 09-10 enabled the Trust
Business Continuity Plan to be tested and developed. This demonstrated our robust
control systems designed to mitigate the risk to continuity of our services in the event of
any type of major incident. We are also founder members of the Herts Environmental
Forum (HEF) and are active partners in the Herts Resilience Forum (HESMIC) taking
part in relevant exercises. These include exercises for Flood and Heat wave as part of
the civil contingencies requirements based on UKCIP 2009 weather projects, and
linking with our Carbon Reduction Strategy and Plan.
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Equality and Diversity
2009/10 has been an exciting year for the continued development of the Trust Equality
and Diversity agenda.
The Trust continues to monitor its performance against equality and diversity criteria
through the Trust Equality Steering Group, Chaired by the Executive Director of Quality
and Safety and supported by the Trust Equalities Manager.
As with previous years, the Trust has met its publication duties for race, disability and
gender through its Single Equality Scheme (SES) which also picks up on priorities for
age, religion, beliefs and sexual orientation. The Trust also continues to publish a full
diversity profile for its workforce covering all equalities strands as well as ensuring the
results of all equality impact assessments are published on the Trust public website,
www.hertspartsft.nhs.uk.
The SES action plan is updated annually stating what action will be taken by the Trust
to continue working towards achieving equality and human rights for all and works
alongside the Trust organisational goals, of which equality is one.
Some key successes for the past year include:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Development of Ethnic Minority Service User & Carer involvement groups
Cultural training programmes which develop ethnic minority users and carers as
trainers
Production of a DVD tackling mental health stigma within different cultures and
communities, receiving national and international recognition
Further development of spiritual care service to include chaplain and project
manager for Mental Health Services for Older People
The Trust made it into the 2010 Stonewall Workplace Equality Index as a top 100
UK gay friendly employer
The Trust secured the hosting of the national LGBT health summit which will be
held in September. HPFT is the first mental health and LD Trust to host the
LGBT health summit.

Statistics
The Trust is required under the public duties for equality to collect and publish diversity
data for staff. It is also required to publish this for its Foundation Trust membership.
We have seen an increase in the proportion of ethnic minorities represented in our
members rising from 8.5% in 08/09 to 10.5% in 09/10 to reflect more accurately the
local population or 11.2%. We have also seen a small increase in BME staff from 29%
in 08/09 to 30% in 09/10.
The Trust publishes a full equality profile covering access to training, disciplinary and
grievance, professional development, promotions and Agenda for Change banding
which is available via the Trust website.
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Staff
2008/09

Staff
2009/10

Membership
2008/09

Membership
2009/10

92 (3%)
405 (15%)
2032 (74%)
236 (8%)
-

111 (4%)
451 (15%)
2145 (70%)
343 (11%)
-

30 (0.5%)
543 (6%)
875 (9.5%)
3714 (40%)
3102 (34%)
920 (10%)

494 (4%)
1433 (12%)
1222 (10%)
4374 (36%)
3727 (31%)
783 (7%)

89 (3%)
16 (0.5%)
1 (0%)
138 (5%)

99 (3%)
18 (1%)
4 (0%)
136 (4.5%)

41 (0%)
12 (0%)
4 (0%)
357 (4%)

110 (1%)
30 (0%)
6 (0%)
394 (3%)

149 (5%)
57 (2%)
12 (0.5%)

181 (6%)
62 (2%)
17 (0.5%)

24 (0%)
18 (0%)
240 (3%)

134 (1%)
78 (0%)
264 (2%)

8 (0%)
3 (0%)
14 (0.5%)
8 (0%)

8 (0%)
6 (0%)
12 (0%)
13 (0%)

5 (0%)
109 (1%)

28 (0%)
115 (1%)

1405 (48%)
78 (2.5%)
137 (4.5%)

1542 (50%)
84 (3%)
155 (5%)

7427 (81%)
126 (1%)
318 (3%)

9774 (81%)
161 (1%)
417 (3%)

Chinese
Any other group
Not stated

27 (1%)
88 (3%)
680 (23%)

23 (1%)
85 (3%)
605 (20%)

46 (0%)
240 (2%)
457 (5%)

52 (0%)
264 (2%)
470 (4%)

Gender
Female
Male
Recorded Disability

2030 (70%)
886 (30%)
1%

2151 (70.5%)
899 (29.5%)
1%*

5356 (58%)
3828 (42%)

6971 (58%)
5062 (42%)

Age
0-16
17-24
25-34
35-59
60+
Not Stated
Ethnicity
Asian or Asian British
Indian
Pakistani
Bangladeshi
Other Asian
Black or Black British
Black African
Black Caribbean
Other Black
Mixed
White & Black Caribbean
White & Black African
White & Asian
Other Mixed
White
White British
White Irish
White Other
Other

The membership application currently
does not specifically monitor disability
but instead monitors for any special
needs. However this is currently being
reviewed to ensure that disability is
explicitly referred to.

* The Trust disability monitoring process is currently being revived given the low number of
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recorded disability

Priorities and Targets
The key priority areas for equality continue to be:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Age
Disability
Ethnicity/Race
Gender – including gender identity
Sexual Orientation
Religion and beliefs
Human rights

In addition to this the equality agenda also takes account of the wider determinants of
health e.g. housing, social status, finances etc.
Achievements against key priorities
Age
Age remains one of the areas that has not received a great deal of focus in 09/10,
however the Trust Equality Steering Group has been discussing how the Single Equality
Bill will affect the provision of services with the introduction of protections based on age
in the provision of goods and services. This area will require considerable attention and
one of the actions for 2010 looks at a full audit of age specific services to ensure they
are aligned to the Equality Bill.
The Equality Steering Group continues be well represented and is awaiting confirmation
from CAMHS regarding their involvement in the group.
Disability
From an employment perspective, the Trust has once again achieved the disability Two
Ticks Charter, identifying the Trust as a positive employer for disabled employees. The
Trust is still seeing a significantly low number of staff reporting that they have a disability
and the staff data monitoring on Electronic Staff Record has created some problems
including data not being carried across effectively from the EREC recruitment system.
Ethnicity/Race
The Trust has continued work on the Clinical Trailblazer Programme using Experts by
Experience (EbE) to train inpatient staff in Cultural Competence. This is funded with a
grant from the London Development Centre that was received in the previous financial
year. This project is currently behind schedule due to the commitments of both the pilot
site, and EbE’s involved. The pilot completed in February 2010 and will be rolled out to
QEII services from April 2010.
Gender
The most high profile issue over the past year has been the introduction of updated
legislation and guidance re same sex accommodation. Some services have been
restructured to create same sex wards whilst others have reviewed their processes for
providing same sex areas within all settings.
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Religion & Beliefs
Following the recruitment of a spiritual care coordinator in 2008, the Trust has recruited
a spiritual project manager for MHSOP on a fixed term contract funded through
specialist services money for spiritual care. The Trust has reoriented its funds for
providing chaplaincy via East and North Herts chaplaincy service - from 1 December
2009 - to now directly employ a full time Band 6 chaplain post, appointed May 2010.
The spiritual care department has this year launched a pastoral visitors’ programme that
offers a 12 week training programme to members of the community interested in
becoming volunteers in spiritual care for the Trust. To date 20 volunteers have been
trained from a variety of different faiths and the next training course will begin in Spring
2010. All volunteers are on contract and are enhanced CRB checked.
Sexual Orientation
The Trust was successful in making it into the Stonewall workplace equality index 2010
for the first time. The index ranks the top 100 gay friendly employers in the UK and the
Trust ranked at number 75. There is still a great deal of work to do, however it is a
great achievement for the Trust, nearly tripling our score from 2009.
SUMMARY OF OTHER ACHIEVEMENTS
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Visited by three NHS Trusts as an example of good practice re: equality.
Two new Community Development Workers in post and another being recruited.
Restructure of the Hertfordshire Cultural Competence training programme.
National publicity for BME DVD
LGBT Health Summit 2010 Hosts
Chief Executive Tom Cahill representing Eastern on the national NHS Equality
Council.
£10K of funding given to Hertfordshire Equality Council making HPFT a full
partner.

In accessing these groups the Trust continues to monitor all of these groups at:
• Staff level – Application for employment, successful employment, accessing
training, promotions, pay band, disciplinary and grievances, leaver.
• Service level – service users entering the service via the Electronic Patient
Record system.
The key priority areas for the Trust over the next year will include
•
•
•
•
•

A full audit of age specific services to ensure the Trust is aligned with single
equality bill.
Ensuring equality and diversity is clearly set out in the Trust 3 year business
plan.
Using staff and service user surveys to decide what improvements needs to be
made to service and employments processes – including results of specific
surveys e.g. BME user surveys
To host a high class national LGBT Health Summit 2010 on 6 - 7 September
2010, highlighting emotional health issues relating to Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and
Transgender people.
Full roll out of clinical trailblazers programme which engages BME services users
and carers and develops them into cultural competence trainers for services.
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•
•
•

Advanced equality training programme for managers.
Ensuring full embedding of human rights based approaches in the work of the
Trust.
Introduction of a cultural assessment for services to use during care planning,
covering all equality strands.
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Our Staff
Staff engagement
The Trust is committed to staff engagement and has a strong track record of
engagement at all levels with staff. This was clearly demonstrated in the Trust score for
the Staff Survey which put the Trust in the top 20% for MH/LD Trust. The Trust has
actively engaged staff in the development of the Trust strategy and values. From early
January 2010 a number of engagement events were held on managing the Trust’s
service transformation.
Feedback from these events has been key to shaping the Trust’s plan with progress
monitored within the relevant work streams.
Two key mechanisms are in place in order to monitor and learn from staff feedback at a
trustwide level.
•

A programme management office (PMO) has been established to coordinate
the implementation of the Trust’s strategy. A key role of the PMO is to
manage all stakeholder engagement, track progress against agreed actions
and ensure that this is effectively fed back as part of a wider communications
plan.

•

A staff survey action plan has been formulated in partnership with staffside,
governors and managers. Progress against this plan is monitored through the
Workforce and Organisational Development Group.

Summary of performance - NHS staff survey
NB. National Average refers to average for Mental Health/ Learning Disability Trusts.
2008/09

Response
rate

Trust
58.6%

2009/10

National
Average
55%

Trust

Top 4 ranking
scores
KF4. Percentage
of staff agreeing
that they have
an interesting job

Trust

KF1. Percentage
of staff feeling
satisfied with the
quality of work
and patient care
they are able to
deliver.

National
Average
55%

54.7%

2008/09

Trust
Improvement/Deterioration

Decrease of 3.9%

2009/10

82%

National
Average
81%

79%

59%

Trust

Trust
Improvement/Deterioration

87%

National
Average
82%

Increase of 5%

80%

76%

Increase of 1%

75

KF16. Support
from immediate
managers
(on a scale of 1
to 5)
KF12.
Percentage of
staff receiving
job-relevant
training, learning
or development
in the last 12
months.

3.79

3.73%

3.89

3.78

Increase of 0.1

84%

81%

84%

81%

Score has remained the same.

2008/09

Bottom 4
ranking scores
KF 26
Percentage of
staff
experiencing
harassment,
bullying or
abuse from
patients/
relatives in last
12 months

Trust

2009/10

33%

National
Average
27%

KF24.
Percentage of
staff
experiencing
physical
violence from
patients/
relatives in the
last 12 months

23%

KF39.
percentage of
staff believing
Trust provides
equal
opportunities
for career
progression or
promotion
KF9.
Percentage of
staff working
extra hours

Trust

Trust
Improvement/Deterioration

30%

National
Average
25%

Decrease by 3%

19%

21%

18%

Decrease by 2%

84%

88%

85%

90%

Increase by 1%

70%

64%

68%

63%

Decreased by 2%
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Key areas where staff experience has improved
Question

Trust Score 2008
40%

Trust Score
2009
55%

KF32. Percentage of staff
agreeing that they understand
their role and where it fits in

Trust Improvement
Increased by 15%

KF20. Percentage of staff
saying hand washing materials
are always available

56%

64%

Increased by 8%

KF16. Support from immediate
managers (on a scale of 1 to
5)

3.79

3.89

Increased by 0.1

KF 23. Fairness and
effectiveness of incident
reporting procedures (on a
scale of 1 to 5)

3.42

3.48

Increased by 0.06

Whilst overall the Trust score for the staff survey was excellent with 13 responses
ranked in the top 20% for MH/LD Trusts, the Trust has been particularly concerned in
relation to the response received for equality and diversity, physical violence and
harassment and bullying. Prior to formulating an action plan to specifically address
these areas, the Trust has embarked on a listening exercise targeting those areas that
had particularly negative response to tackle these issues. The Trust has involved Staff
Side representatives and Staff Governors to participate and members of the Executive
Team will go out and hear first hand views and concerns of staff to formulate a revised
action plan. This plan will be monitored via the Workforce & Organisational
Development Group.
Safer staffing for our Trust
On the 1 April 2008 the Department of Health introduced a revised system of vetting
and selection processes for new applicants recruited to any NHS organisation. The title
of this vetting is called the ‘6 Check Standards’. Hertfordshire Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust implemented this immediately. We have a rigorous system of
checking identity of applicants; the right for applicants to work in this country;
registration of professional staff and qualification checks; employment history and
reference checks; criminal record checks and occupational health checks. We are
working with Herts County Council and lead professionals to make sure that vulnerable
adults and children are fully protected. The lead nurse for child protection and other
senior leaders in the Trust are on county wide strategic groups to ensure that good
practice is followed in all organisations for safer staffing.
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Fair consideration for applications from staff with a disability
Our Recruitment, Selection and Vetting Policy ensures that all applicants with a
disability who meet the shortlist are offered an interview and are asked prior to an
interview what adjustments they require for the interview. They are also asked when
successful what adaptations they may require to be able to fulfil their post. Staff are
supported during all phases of their employment should a disability occur during their
working lives. Flexible working, working at home, using adapted equipment, working
differently are all successful tools that the Trust has used to take positive action for
people with a disability.
Employee Relations
The Trust has worked hard to ensure that our employee relations processes for
engaging with staff and our Trade Union colleagues are robust.
NHS Graduate Scheme
The Trust is an active supporter of the NHS National Graduate Scheme and gives
Graduates opportunities to learn our work and our Trust. The aim of our involvement is
to improve our succession planning for the future.
Staff Wellbeing
The Trust has a proactive occupational health service which aims to help our staff keep
physically and mentally well. Stress awareness sessions are delivered to managers
and staff to help them to identify stress, both in themselves and in their workforce.
There are additional services for our staff across the geographical spread of the Trust
on a monthly basis to improve the wellbeing of our staff. Healthy living is the key focus
of occupational health’s support for our staff.
Mindful Employer
The Trust has become a Mindful Employer and aims to be proactive and positive about
mental health and the Charter for this was signed in February 2009. This underpins our
good practice to ensure that any applicant with a mental health issue is fully supported,
both at the recruitment stage and during their employment.
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Sickness Absence Data
Org P1

Staff Group

FTE Days
Available
1,060,586.66

FTE Days
Sickness
46,625.06

% FTE Days
Sickness
4.40

Add Prof Scientific and
Technic
Additional Clinical Services
Administrative and Clerical
Allied Health Professionals
Estates and Ancillary
Healthcare Scientists
Medical and Dental
Nursing and Midwifery
Registered
Students

101,369.89

2,549.54

2.52

293,653.67
203,375.28
33,112.69
14,822.35
750.50
70,792.53
336,998.75

18,975.72
7,928.68
898.15
806.74
19.20
852.85
14,594.18

6.46
3.90
2.71
5.44
2.56
1.20
4.33

5,711.00
1,060,586.66

0.00
46,625.06

0.00
4.40

367 Trust
Board

Grand Total

Sickness absence data as provided quarterly to the Cabinet Office
Workforce and Organisational Development
The Workforce and Organisational Development Committee has continued to
concentrate on developing a workforce fit for the purpose of implementing the Trust’s
strategic goals and improving quality of care.
Developments in the past year include the following:
Learning and Development.
The learning programme for the year is developed based on the training needs
analyses submitted by teams. Because of the difficulties in releasing staff in numbers in
order to attend training events , much more use is now made of e-learning packages.
The mandatory training programme has been reviewed to make sure it is no bigger than
absolutely necessary. Internal audit of the mandatory training process found substantial
assurance that it was working well. However, 100% attendance at mandatory training is
not yet achieved.
Leadership and Organisational Culture.
The Trust has invested more this year in development of current and future leaders.
Senior Leaders’ events have become regular opportunities for senior managers to hear
about the challenges facing the Trust (and its successes) as presented by the Executive
Team and to generate solutions.
For all frontline staff the Trust Induction days have been revised in order to deliver more
powerful messages to staff from the start about the way we do things, in the context of
our vision and strategic goals.
The rebranding of the Trust and revision of the HPFT News and Trustspace have
contributed to efforts to communicate more clearly and supportively to staff about what
is expected of them and why.
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Supervision and Appraisal.
By Quarter 4 the Trust had 69% of staff on record as having had an appraisal in the
past year, still short of the 100% target. Where appraisal is not happening it appears
that supervision is also patchy, which means that a key method of ensuring the best
quality of practice is being inadequately used. The committee has continued to work
towards more consistent approaches to supervision across professional groups, with a
common understanding of the difference between clinical and managerial supervision
and more use of managerial supervision to gather evidence of policy compliance by
checking practice as recorded on CareNotes.
Information Governance.
The Trust has a robust system for auditing compliance with the information governance
standards, which cover all aspects of records management and protection of
information in paper and electronic formats. Levels of compliance are reported to the
committee.
Policy Development.
A further aspect of a quality service is that it has the necessary up-to-date policies on all
aspects of its services including practice. In 2009 the Head of Strategic HR rationalised
policies and reduced the total number. New policies due for development and existing
policies due for review are checked by the committee, and their content is checked
outside the committee for compliance with NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) standards.
Extra resource has been found to ensure all policies receive an Equalities Impact
Assessment before being ratified.
Other Issues.
During the year, the Trust has continued to develop its workforce capacity plan in
partnership with the Strategic Health Authority in order to take into account the cohort of
nursing staff approaching retirement age and to develop a skill mix suited to recoveryoriented services.
There are risks to the quality of care and also to the organisation if registration
procedures for all professional groups including the new roles under the revised Mental
Health Act are not sound. Heads of Professions have worked closely with HR to
address some problems that have arisen.
The Trust is proud of its record as a good employer but areas for improvement remain.
The sickness rate for example remains above the target of below 4%. Disciplinary
procedures can be time consuming, leading to inefficiencies and eroded front line
services.
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Regulatory Ratings
Monitor is the independent regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts. They were established
in January 2004 to authorise and regulate NHS Foundation Trusts. They are
independent of central Government and directly accountable to Parliament. Once a
Trust is authorised, they regulate Foundation Trusts to ensure they comply with their
terms of authorisation and comply with the conditions they signed up to, that they are
well led and financially robust.
Monitor assigns each NHS Foundation Trust a risk rating for finance, governance and
mandatory goods and services for the Trust’s annual plan for the year ahead and then
for the actual results for each quarter.
Financial risk ratings are allocated using a scorecard which compares key financial
metrics consistently across all NHS Foundation Trusts. The rating reflects the likelihood
of a financial breach of their terms of authorisation. A rating of 5 reflects the lowest level
of financial risk and a rating of 1 the greatest.
A green rating for governance risk indicates that an NHS Foundation Trust’s
governance arrangements comply with their terms of authorisation; an amber risk rating
reflects that concerns exist about one or more aspects of governance; a red risk rating
indicates that there are concerns that an NHS Foundation Trust is in significant breach if
its terms of authorisation.
NHS Foundation Trusts are also rated for the provision of mandatory goods and
services, as defined in their terms of authorisation. Again green/amber/red indicates the
level of compliance.
The regulatory performance for Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust for
2009/10 is summarised as follows which also includes the previous year’s ratings for
comparison:

Financial risk
rating
Governance
risk rating
Mandatory
services

Financial risk
rating
Governance
risk rating
Mandatory
services

Annual Plan
2008/09
4

Q1 2008/09

Q2 2008/09

Q3 2008/09

4

4

4

Q4
2008/09
4

Green

Green

Green

Green

Green

Green

Green

Green

Green

Green

Annual Plan
2009/10
4

Q1 2009/10

Q2 2009/10

Q3 2009/10

Q4 2009/10

4

4

4

4

Green

Green

Green

Green

Green

Green

Green

Green

Green

Green
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In addition it is imperative that the Trust maintains, and improves, its performance
against its national, contractual and local targets. Failure to do so would give the
perception of a Trust not performing to expected levels and thus could have a
detrimental effect on tender applications and/or commissioner perception.
Performance Section
Annual Health Check
The Trust was delighted to achieve a double excellent rating from the Care Quality
Commission as part of the 08/09 Annual Health Check. This builds on the previous
year’s rating of ‘excellent’ for quality of services and ‘good’ for financial management.
The assessment of quality of services was against a range of 12 different indicators and
the Trust scored full marks for 10 of these. Robust action plans have been put in place
to improve performance against the two areas where the Trust underachieved;
completeness of the Mental Health Minimum Data Set and CAMHs services.
The table below shows the target, performance and result in 08/09 and, where
available, performance in 09/10.
Target

Actual 08/09

Access to CATT (gate
keeping)
Best Practice in Mental
Health Services for People
with a Learning Disability
CPA 7 day follow-up
CAMHS

92.55%

MHMDS completeness
Ethnic coding data quality
Delayed transfers of care
Drug users in effective
treatment
Patient Experience
Staff Satisfaction
MHMDS patterns of care
Campus closure
(LD only)
Care Plans (LD only)
Access to Healthcare for
People with a Learning
Disability

Result 08/09

Actual 09/10

Achieve

97.3%

Achieve

10 x green
2 x amber

Achieve

96.7%

Underachieve

6 x 4 scores

Underacheive
Achieve
Achieve

TBC
TBC
TBC

Achieve

TBC

Achieve
Achieve

TBC
TBC

N/A

TBC

Achieve

100%

100%

Achieve

N/A

N/A

100%
2 scores of 4
(max)
3 scores of 3
1 score of 2

8 x green rating
4 x amber rating
97.6%
2 x4 scores
4 x 3 scores
98.73%
96.23%
4.98%
Improvement on
previous year.
Satisfactory
Satisfactory
Discounted due to
CQC data issues
100%
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Monitor Targets
The Trust maintained compliance with the four Monitor targets throughout 09/10. The
table below shows end of year figures, rounded down according to Monitor scoring
rules:
Indicator
CPA patients
a) receiving 7 day follow-up
Minimising delayed transfers of care
Admissions via CATT
No. of CATT Teams
(changed from 6 to 5 mid-year)

Threshold

Performance at End
of Year

95%

96%

≤ 7.5%
90%
5

6.3%
97%
5

Other Performance Issues
The Trust continues to work closely with colleagues in Adult Care Services, and has
made significant improvement with meeting its social care performance indicators. Work
has also commenced to work towards meeting the Pledge 2 Targets, set by East of
England in its strategy, ‘Towards the Best Together’.
The Trust is pleased with its overall performance in 09/10 and looks forward to building
on this throughout 10/11.
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Communicating with the wider Community
During the period 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010 the Trust has not led any formal
consultations, however the Trust is aware of a consultation on day services and future
plans for mental health services currently being undertaken by the Joint Commissioning
Team and would anticipate involvement in the forthcoming year.
Working Towards Recovery Conference
Passion, enthusiasm and hope are just some of the words that summed up the third
Annual Recovery Conference, held on 15 September 2009 in Stevenage.
Jointly hosted by HPFT and University of Hertfordshire the conference, entitled 'From
here to Recovery – Transforming the Journey', was a huge success and attracted an
array of high profile keynote speakers, delegates, service users, carers and staff.
International speakers included Gene Johnson, President and CEO of META Recovery
Innovations from the USA and Helen Glover, CE of Enlightened Consultants from
Queensland.
Alongside the presentations, visitors could choose from a range of workshops hosted
by Recovery experts and visit displays from a variety of mental health groups across
Hertfordshire including Mind in Mid Herts, Herts Mind Network, Carers in Hertfordshire,
Hearing Voices Network and Viewpoint.
Feedback from the day was extremely positive
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Section Two
Full Statutory Accounts including Statement of Accounting
Officers responsibilities in respect of the accounts and Statement
on Internal Control
1 April 2009 – 31 March 2010
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FOREWORD TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HERTFORDSHIRE PARTNERSHIP NHS FOUNDATION TRUST

Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust ('the Trust') is required to prepare Annual
Financial Statements in such form as Monitor, the independent regulator of Foundation
Trusts, may, with the approval of HM Treasury, direct. These requirements are set out in
paragraphs 24 and 25 of Schedule 7 to the National Health Service Act 2006
In preparing the Financial Statements the Trust has complied with any directions given by
Monitor, with the approval of HM Treasury, as to the methods and principles according to
which the statements are to be prepared and the information to be given in the statements.
The statements are designed to present a true and fair view of the Trust's activities
(paragraph 25(3), Schedule 7 to the 2006 Act).

If you require any further information on these accounts please contact:
Executive Director of Finance and Performance Improvement
Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
99 Waverley Road
St Albans
Hertfordshire
AL3 5TL
Telephone number: 01727 804265

Signed
Mr Tom Cahill, Chief Executive

Date 26th May 2010
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HERTFORDSHIRE PARTNERSHIP NHS FOUNDATION TRUST

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 March 2010

note

Operating Income from continuing operations
Operating Expenses of continuing operations

5
6

OPERATING SURPLUS BEFORE EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS
Exceptional items

7

OPERATING SURPLUS AFTER EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS
FINANCE COSTS
Finance income
Finance expense - financial liabilities
Finance expense - unwinding of discount on provisions
PDC Dividends payable
NET FINANCE COSTS
(DEFICIT)/SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR*

11
11
11

2009/10

2008/09

£000
198,098
(190,703)

£000
188,567
(181,963)

7,395

6,604

(7,121)

4,059

274

10,663

302
(101)
(285)
(3,375)
(3,459)

1,866
(110)
(291)
(4,819)
(3,354)

(3,185)

7,309

Other comprehensive income
Revaluation gains/(losses) and impairment losses property, plant and
equipment
Reduction in the donated asset reserve in respect of depreciation on
donated assets
Surplus/(deficit) for the year (as above)

3,943

(10,131)

(16)
(3,185)

(7)
7,309

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME / (EXPENSE) FOR THE YEAR

742

(2,829)

There is no income or expenditure attributable to a minority interest.
All income and expenditure is derived from continuing operations.
* The surplus for the year before exceptional items is £3,936k (2008/09 £3,250k)
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HERTFORDSHIRE PARTNERSHIP NHS FOUNDATION TRUST

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
31 March 2010

note

Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Trade and other receivables
Total non-current assets

12
13
17

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

16
17
18

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings (Finance lease obligations)
Provisions
Other liabilities
Total current liabilities

22
20
21

Total assets less current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings (Finance lease obligations)
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities

20
21

Total assets employed
Financed by (taxpayers' equity)
Public Dividend Capital
Revaluation reserve
Donated Asset Reserve
Income and expenditure reserve

19

Total taxpayers' equity

31 March
2010
£000

31 March
2009
£000

373
131,015
7,305
138,693

386
128,090
7,565
136,041

219
119,612
7,772
127,603

12
4,077
38,152
42,241

8
5,040
43,918
48,966

12
3,886
40,844
44,742

(23,106)
(156)
(2,095)
(34)
(25,391)

(26,887)
(156)
(5,889)
(42)
(32,974)

(34,922)
(155)
(4,492)
(48)
(39,617)

155,543

152,033

132,728

(795)
(15,768)
(16,563)

(850)
(12,946)
(13,796)

(896)
(13,213)
(14,109)

138,980

138,237

118,619

79,370
47,480
377
11,753

79,370
44,062
314
14,491

56,880
54,355
321
7,063

138,980

138,237

118,619

1 April 2008
£000

The financial statements on pages 2 to 5, together with the notes on pages 6 to 41 were approved by
the Board and signed on its behalf by:

Signed
Mr Tom Cahill, Chief Executive

Date 26th May 2010
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HERTFORDSHIRE PARTNERSHIP NHS FOUNDATION TRUST

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS' EQUITY
Total

Public
Dividend
Capital

Revaluation
Reserve

Donated
Assets
Reserve

Income and Note
Expenditure
Reserve

Year ended 31 March 2010
£000

£000

£000

138,237

79,370

44,062

314

14,491

(3,185)
(1,407)
5,350
(16)
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
(1,407)
5,271
0
(288)
(159)

0
0
79
(16)
0
0

(3,185)
0
0
0
288
159

138,980

79,370

47,480

377

11,753

Taxpayers' Equity at 31 March 2008
Restatement due to IFRS (see note 33)
Taxpayers' Equity at 1 April 2008

£000
119,512
(893)
118,619

£000
56,880
0
56,880

£000
55,291
(936)
54,355

£000
321
0
321

£000
7,020
43
7,063

Surplus/(deficit) for the year
Revaluation (losses) due to impairment on property, plant and equipment
Revaluation gains on property, plant and equipment
Reduction in the donated asset reserve in respect of depreciation on donated assets
Transfers to the income and expenditure account in respect of assets disposed of
Transfer of the excess of current cost depreciation over historical cost depreciation to the Income and Expenditure Reserve
Public Dividend Capital received

7,266
(11,119)
997
(16)
0
0
22,490

0
0
0
0
0
0
22,490

0
(11,119)
988
0
(31)
(131)
0

0
0
9
(16)
0
0
0

7,266
0
0
0
31
131
0

Taxpayers' Equity at 31 March 2009

138,237

79,370

44,062

314

14,491

Taxpayers' Equity at 1 April 2009
Surplus/(deficit) for the year
Revaluation (losses) due to impairment on property, plant and equipment
Revaluation gains on property, plant and equipment
Reduction in the donated asset reserve in respect of depreciation on donated assets
Transfers to the income and expenditure account in respect of assets disposed of
Transfer of the excess of current cost depreciation over historical cost depreciation to the Income and Expenditure Reserve
Taxpayers' Equity at 31 March 2010

£000

£000

Year ended 31 March 2009

Note (i): Surplus / Deficit figure quoted in 08/09 UKGAAP accounts and face of SOCI within this set of accounts as £7,309k. This has been carred through to reserves as a £43k adjustment as at 1 April 2008 and £7,266k arising in year.
Note (ii): Revaluation gains / losses figure quoted in the 08/09 UKGAAP accounts as £12,055k. This has been adjusted within the above table by the correction of the operating lease (£936k) previously carried as a finance lease.
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(i)
(ii)

HERTFORDSHIRE PARTNERSHIP NHS FOUNDATION TRUST

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 March 2010

note

2009/10
£000

2008/09
£000

24

7,419

8,709

Interest received

302

1,866

Purchase of intangible assets

(78)

(225)

(9,870)

(24,797)

217

5

(9,429)

(23,151)

0

22,490

Net cash inflows from Operating Activities
Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment
Sales of Property, Plant and Equipment
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Public dividend capital received
Capital element of finance lease rental payments

(55)

(45)

(101)

(110)

PDC Dividend paid

(3,600)

(4,819)

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities

(3,756)

17,516

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

(5,766)

3,074

Cash and Cash equivalents at 1 April
Cash and Cash equivalents at 31 March

43,918
38,152

40,844
43,918

Interest element of finance lease
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HERTFORDSHIRE PARTNERSHIP NHS FOUNDATION TRUST
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2010
1
1.1

General Information
The principal activity of the Trust is the provision of mental health and specialist learning dis
ability services in the East of England. Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust is
an independent public benefit corporation authorised and monitored by Monitor, the
independent regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts. It is domiciled in Great Britain. The address
of the Trust's registered office is 99 Waverley Road, St Albans, Herts AL3 5TL
The Trust’s financial statements are presented in Pounds Sterling (£), which is also its
functional currency.
These financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 26th
May 2010

2

Accounting Policies and Other Information

2.1

Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting
requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual (previously titled:
Foundation Trust Financial Reporting Manual) which has been agreed with HM Treasury
and mandated for all foundation trusts by Monitor. The accounting policies set out in that
manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the
European Union and also HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual to the extent that they
are meaningful and appropriate to NHS Foundation Trusts. These financial statements have
been prepared under the historic cost convention and modified to account for the revaluation
of property, plant and equipment. The policies set out below have been consistently applied
to all the years presented.

2.2

Consolidation
The directors have taken advantage of the dispensation obtained by Monitor from HM
Treasury from consolidating the accounts of the Trust’s charitable funds.

2.3

Acquisitions and Discontinued Operations
Activities are considered to be ‘discontinued’ where they meet all of the following conditions:
a.

the sale (this may be at nil consideration for activities transferred to another public sector
body) or termination is completed either in the period or before the earlier of three months
after the commencement of the subsequent period and the date on which the financial
statements are approved;

b.

if a termination, the former activities have ceased permanently;

c.

the sale or termination has a marked effect on the nature and focus of the Trust's operations
and represents a material reduction in its operating facilities resulting either from its
withdrawal from a particular activity or from a material reduction in income in the Trust's
continuing operations; and
the assets, liabilities, results of operations and activities are clearly distinguishable,
physically, operationally and for financial reporting purposes.

d.

Operations not satisfying all of these conditions are classified as 'continuing'.
Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ whether or not they are acquired from outside the
public sector.
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HERTFORDSHIRE PARTNERSHIP NHS FOUNDATION TRUST
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2010

2.4

Income
Income in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs
and is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable. The main source of income for the
Trust is contracts with commissioners in respect of health and social care services.
Where income is received for a specific activity which is to be delivered in the following financial year,
that income is deferred.
Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of sale
have been met, and is measured as the sums due under the sale contract.

2.5

Expenditure on Employee Benefits

2.5.1

Short-term employee benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is
received from employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but not taken by employees at
the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are
permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

2.5.2

Pension costs
NHS Pension scheme
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The
scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, general practices and
other bodies, allowed under the direction of Secretary of State in England and Wales. It is not possible
for the Trust to identify its share of the underlying scheme liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is
accounted for as a defined contribution scheme.
Employer's pension cost contributions are charged to operating expenditure as and when they become
due.
Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the scheme except where
the retirement is due to ill-health. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to
the operating expenses at the time the Trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method
of payment.
Local Government Pension Scheme
The Trust is also an admitted fully funded member of the Hertfordshire Local Government Pension
Scheme (LGPS), for those staff who transferred under TUPE from Hertfordshire County Council, to
the Trust’s employment since 2004/05. The LGPS is a defined benefit statutory scheme administered
by Hertfordshire County Council, in accordance with the Local Government Pension Scheme
Regulations 1997, as amended.
The Trust was admitted into the scheme on a fully funded basis, whereby it was allocated assets equal
to the value of the liabilities transferred.
As Hertfordshire County Council is responsible for any funding shortfall, the Trust accounts for the
pension scheme on a defined contribution basis.
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HERTFORDSHIRE PARTNERSHIP NHS FOUNDATION TRUST
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2010
Expenditure on Employee Benefits (continued)
As the scheme is accounted for on a defined contributions basis, the following LGPS figures are not
included in these accounts but are disclosed separately as follows:
Based on IAS19, the Actuary has estimated for the Trust that, for the year ended 31 March 2010, the
net pension liability is £7,027,000 (£492,000 as at 31 March 2009). The amount chargeable to the
operating profit is £540,000 (£432,000 as at 31 March 2009) and £6,634,000 (£2,420,000 as at 31
March 2009) is the loss recognisable in the Hertfordshire County Council Statement of Total Income
and Expense.

2.6

Expenditure on other goods and services
Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when they have been received and is measured at
the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses except
where it results in the creation of a non-current asset such as Property, Plant and Equipment.

2.7

Property, Plant and Equipment

2.7.1

Recognition
Property, Plant and Equipment is capitalised where:
• it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
• it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust;
• it is expected to be used for more than one financial year; and
• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

2.7.2

Capitalisation
Tangible assets are capitalised if they are capable of being used for a period which exceeds one year
and they:
• individually have a cost of at least £5,000; or
• collectively have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the
assets are functionally interdependent, had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to
have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or
• form part of the initial equipping and setting-up of a new building, ward or unit irrespective of their
individual or collective cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly
different asset lives e.g. plant and equipment, then these components are treated as separate assets
and are depreciated over their own useful economic lives.
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HERTFORDSHIRE PARTNERSHIP NHS FOUNDATION TRUST
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2010

2.7.3

Valuation
All property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at cost, representing the costs directly
attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary
for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. All assets are measured
subsequently at fair value.
All land and buildings are re-valued using professional valuations every five years. A three yearly interim
valuation is also carried out. The District Valuer, who are professionally qualified valuers in accordance
with the Royal Institute of Charted Surveyors (RICS) Appraisal and Valuation Manual, are employed by
Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust to carry out valuations.
The latest valuations were undertaken in early 2010 as at the prospective valuation date of 31st March
2010 and are accounted for in these Financial Statements. The interim valuation was undertaken in
2007/08 and was accounted for on 1st April 2008. However given the prevailing economic climate the
Trust recognised the potential for further impairment under FRS11 and commissioned the District Valuer
in April 2009 to carry out a desk top valuation and these revised valuations were reflected in the asset
values as at 31st March 2009.
The valuations are carried out primarily on the basis of modern equivalent asset approach for specialised
operational property and existing use value for non-specialised operational property.
Assets in the course of construction are valued at cost and are valued by professional valuers as part of
the five or three yearly valuation or when they are brought into use.
Operational equipment, other than IT equipment which is considered to have no inflation, is valued at the
net current replacement cost, through annual uplift by the change in value of relevant indices. Equipment
surplus to requirements is valued at net recoverable amount.

2.7.4

Subsequent expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly
attributable cost is added to the asset’s carrying value. Where subsequent expenditure is simply
restoring the asset to the specification assumed by its economic useful life then the expenditure is
charged to operating expenses.

2.7.5

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to write off the cost of non-current assets, less their
estimated residual value, over the expected useful lives on the following bases:

Medical equipment and engineering plant & machinery
Set up costs in new buildings
Furniture
Soft furnishings
Office and IT equipment

Years
5 - 15
10
10
7
5

Buildings held under finance lease agreements are depreciated over their expected useful lives as
determined by the District Valuer or over the term of the lease, if shorter.
Freehold land is considered to have an infinite life and is therefore not depreciated.
Property, Plant and Equipment which has been reclassified as ‘Held for Sale’ ceases to be depreciated
upon the reclassification. Assets in the course of construction are not depreciated until the asset is
brought into use.
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HERTFORDSHIRE PARTNERSHIP NHS FOUNDATION TRUST
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2010

2.7.6

Impairment loss
At each balance sheet date, the Trust reviews the carrying amounts of its non- current assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units). As a result some assets are tested
individually for impairment and some are tested at cash generating unit level.
Individual assets or cash generating units containing assets with an indefinite useful life or those not
yet available for use are tested for impairment annually. All other individual assets or cash generating
units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's or cash generating unit's
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value
less cost to sell and value in use based on an internal discounted cash flow evaluation. Impairment los
Assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognised may

2.7.7

Revaluation
Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except
where, and to the extent that, they reverse an impairment previously recognised in operating expense
in which case they are recognised in operating income.
Decreases in asset values and impairments are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that
there is an available balance for the asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating
expenses. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income as an item of ‘other comprehensive income’.

2.7.8

Assets held for sale
Assets intended for disposal are re-classified as ‘Held for Sale’ once all of the following criteria are
met:
• the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms which are usual
and customary for such sales;
• the sale must be highly probable i.e:
- management are committed to a plan to sell the asset;
- an active programme has begun to find a buyer and complete the sale;
- the asset is being actively marketed at a reasonable price;
- the sale is expected to be completed within 12 months of the date of classification as
‘Held for Sale’ and
- the actions needed to complete the plan indicate it is unlikely that the plan will be dropped
or significant changes made to it.
Following re-classification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and
their ‘fair value less costs to sell’. Depreciation ceases to be charged and the assets are not devalued,
except where the ‘fair value less costs to sell’ falls below the carrying amount. Assets are derecognised when all material sale contract conditions have been met.
Property, Plant and Equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition
as ‘Held for Sale’ and instead is retained as an operational asset and the asset’s economic life is
adjusted. The asset is de-recognised when scrapping or demolition occurs.
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HERTFORDSHIRE PARTNERSHIP NHS FOUNDATION TRUST
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2010

2.8

Donated Assets
Donated fixed assets are capitalised at their current value on receipt and this value is credited to the
donated asset reserve. Donated fixed assets are valued and depreciated as described above for
purchased assets.
Gains and losses on revaluation are also taken to the donated asset reserve and, each year, an
amount equal to the depreciation charge on the asset is released from the donated asset reserve to
the income and expenditure account. Similarly, any impairment on donated assets charged to the
income and expenditure account is matched by a transfer from the donated asset reserve. On sale of
donated assets, the net book value of the donated asset is transferred from the donated asset reserve
to the Income and Expenditure Reserve.

2.9

Intangible Assets

2.9.1

Recognition
Intangible Assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are capable of being sold
separately from the rest of the Trust’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights.
Intangible Assets are recognised at historical cost. They are recognised only where it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust and where the cost
of the asset can be measured reliably.

2.9.2

Software
Software which is integral to the operation of hardware e.g. an operating system, is capitalised as part
of the relevant items of property, plant and equipment. Software which is not integral to the operation
of hardware e.g. application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.

2.9.3

Measurement
Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to
create, produce and prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating in the manner
intended by management.
Subsequently intangible assets are measured at fair value. Increases in asset values arising from
revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they
reverse an impairment previously recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are
recognised in operating income. Decreases in asset values and impairments are charged to the
revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for the asset concerned, and
thereafter are charged to operating expenses. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve
are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as an item of ‘other comprehensive income.’
Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value less
cost to sell’.

2.9.4

Amortisation
Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful economic lives in a manner consistent with
the consumption of economic or service delivery benefits.
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HERTFORDSHIRE PARTNERSHIP NHS FOUNDATION TRUST
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2010

2.10

Government Grants
Government grants are grants from Government bodies other than income from Primary Care Trusts
or NHS Trusts for the provision of services. Grants from the Department of Health are accounted for
as Government grants as are grants from the Big Lottery Fund. Where the Government grant is used
to fund revenue expenditure it is taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income to match that
expenditure. Where the grant is used to fund capital expenditure the grant is held as deferred income
and released to operating income over the life of the asset in a manner consistent with the
depreciation charge for that asset.

2.11

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

2.12

Financial Instruments and Financial Liabilities

2.12.1

Recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from contracts for the purchase or sale of nonfinancial items (such as goods or services), which are entered into in accordance with the Trust’s
normal purchase, sale or usage requirements, are recognised when, and to the extent which,
performance occurs i.e. when receipt or delivery of the goods or services is made.
Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of assets acquired or disposed of through finance
leases are recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policy for leases described
below. All other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Trust becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

2.12.2

De-recognition
All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have
expired or the Trust has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership. Financial
liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.

2.12.3

Classification and measurement
Financial assets are categorised as loans and receivables.
Financial liabilities are classified as ‘Other Financial Liabilities’.

2.12.4

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which
are not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets.
The Trust’s loans and receivables comprise of cash and cash equivalents, NHS receivables, accrued
income and other receivables.
Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are measured
subsequently at amortised cost.

2.12.5

Other financial liabilities
All other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and
measured subsequently at amortised cost.
They are included in current liabilities except for amounts payable more than 12 months after the
Statement of Financial Position date, which are classified as non-current liabilities.
Interest on financial liabilities taken out to finance property, plant and equipment or intangible assets is
not capitalised as part of the cost of those assets.
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HERTFORDSHIRE PARTNERSHIP NHS FOUNDATION TRUST
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2010

2.12.6

Determination of fair value
For financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value, this is the amount at which the asset or
liability can be exchanged or settled. For finance lease obligations over one year the fair value is
based on the discounted cash flow. The nominal value of short-term receivables and payables is
deemed to be a reasonable approximation of their fair value.

2.12.7

Impairment of financial assets
At the Statement Of Financial Position date, the Trust assesses whether any financial assets are
impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses are recognised if, and only if, there is
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset and has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.
The loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced.

2.13

Leases

2.13.1

Finance leases
Where the substance of a lease arrangement is that substantially all the risks and rewards related to
ownership of the asset are transferred to the lessee, then this lease is accounted for as a finance
lease. The related asset is recognised at the time of inception of the lease at its fair value or, if lower,
the present value of the lease payments. A corresponding amount is recognised as a finance lease
liability.
The subsequent accounting for these assets is consistent with the policies applied to comparable,
owned assets. The corresponding finance lease liability is reduced by lease payments less finance
changes, which are expensed to finance costs. Finance charges represent a constant periodic rate of
interest on the outstanding balance of the finance lease liability.

2.13.2

Operating Leases
All other leases are treated as operating leases. Payments on operating lease agreements are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis. Associated costs such as maintenance and
insurance are expensed as incurred.

2.13.3

Leases of land and buildings
Leases of land and buildings are split into land and buildings elements according to the relative fair
values of the leasehold interests at the date the asset is initially recognised.
Where the portion of the lease element that would be recognised for the land element is immaterial,
the land and buildings are treated as a single unit for the purpose of classification and classified as a
finance or operating lease as described above.

2.14

Provisions
The Trust provides for legal or constructive obligations that are of uncertain timing or amount at the
Statement of Financial Position date on the basis of the best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the obligation. Where the effect of the time value of money is significant, the estimated riskadjusted cash flows are discounted using HM Treasury’s discount rate of 2.2% in real terms.
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2.14.1

Clinical Negligence Costs
The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Trust pays an
annual contribution to the NHSLA, which, in return, settles all clinical negligence claims. Although the
NHSLA is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with
the Trust. The total value of clinical negligence provisions carried by the NHSLA on behalf of the Trust
is disclosed at note 21.

2.14.2

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme.
Both are risk pooling schemes under which the Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation
Authority and in return receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership
contributions, and any ‘excesses’ payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating
expenses when the liability arises.

2.14.3

Back to Back Provisions
Of the provisions totalling £13,516k (£13,887k as at 31 March 2009, £14,199k as at 1 April 2008) for
pensions and injury benefits, £7,893k (£8,151k as at 31 March 2009, £8,392k as at 1 April 2008) of
these are subject to “Back to Back” agreements with a consortium of North West London and
Hertfordshire PCT’s. These agreements are shown as NHS Receivables in the accounts of the
Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust.

2.15

Contingencies
Contingent assets (that is, assets arising from past events whose existence will only be confirmed by
one or more future events not wholly within the entity’s control) are not recognised as assets, but are
disclosed in note 30 where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed in note 29, unless the probability of a
transfer of economic benefits is remote. Contingent liabilities are defined as:
• possible obligations arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the entity’s control, or
• present obligations arising from past events but for which it is not probable that a transfer of
economic benefits will arise, or for which the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with
sufficient reliability.

2.16

Public Dividend Capital (PDC)
Public Dividend Capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets
over liabilities at the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS Trust. HM Treasury has
determined that PDC is not a financial instrument within the meaning of IAS 32.
A charge reflecting the forecast cost of capital utilised by the Trust, is paid over as public dividend
capital dividend. The charge is calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the
average relevant net assets of the Trust.
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Public Dividend Capital (PDC) (continued)
Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of all liabilities, except for
(1) donated assets, (2) net cash balances held with the Government Banking Service (GBS) (3) and
any PDC dividend balance receivable or payable. In accordance with the requirements laid down by
the Department of Health (as the issuer of PDC), the dividend for the year is calculated on the actual
average relevant net assets as set out in the "pre-audit" version of the Financial Statements. The
dividend thus calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net assets occur as a result of the
audit of the annual accounts.

2.17

Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not
apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant
expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is
charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

2.18

Corporation Tax
The directors have determined that the Trust has no liability to corporation tax on the grounds that it is
not engaged in the provision of services to any party other than NHS commissioning bodies. As a
result of this, its income is wholly attributable to contracts with NHS bodies and others for the provision
of patient related health and social care services and is not therfore subject to corporation tax. Since
there is no liability to corporation tax, no deferred tax assets or liabilities arise in the preparation of the
Trust's accounts.

2.19

Third Party Assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the
accounts since the Trust has no beneficial interest in them. However, they are disclosed in note 27 to
the Financial Statements in accordance with the requirements of the HM Treasury Financial Reporting
Manual .

2.20

Losses and Special Payments
Losses and Special Payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed
funds for the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not
arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of
payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way each individual case is
handled.
Losses and Special Payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income on an accruals basis, including losses which would have been made good
through insurance cover had NHS Trusts not been bearing their own risks (with insurance premiums
then being included as normal revenue expenditure). Note 26 is compiled directly from the losses and
compensations register.

2.21

Exceptional Items
Exceptional items are items of a material sum which are irregular and unusual. They are classified as
exceptional to aid a more informed view of the interpretation of the financial statements.
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2.22

Segmental Reporting
A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services
that are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments. A
geographical segment is engaged in providing products or services within a particular economic
environment that is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of segments operating in
other economic environments. The directors consider that the Trust's activities constitute a single
segment since they are provided wholly in the UK, are subject to similar risks and rewards and all
assets are managed as one central pool.
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3

Financial Risk Management

3.1

Financial Risk Factors
The Trust's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk, cash flow risk and
fair value interest-rate risk. The Trust's overall risk management programmes focus on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the Trust's
financial performance.
Risk management is carried out centrally under policies approved by the Board of Directors.

3.1.1

Credit risk
Over 95% of the Trust’s income is from contracted arrangements with commissioners. As such any
material credit risk is limited to administrative and contractual disputes. Where a dispute arises,
provision will be made on the basis of the age of the debt and the likelihood of a resolution being
achieved. Note 17.3 shows the analysis of impaired debts and non-impaired debts which are past
their due date.

3.1.2

Liquidity risk
The Trust’s net operating costs are incurred under annual service agreements with Primary Care
Trusts and Hertfordshire County Council, which are financed from resources voted annually by
Parliament. The Trust also finances its capital expenditure from funds made available from the
Government via Commissioners. The Trust is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.

3.1.3

Cash flow and fair value interest-rate risk
100% of the Trust’s financial assets and 100% of its financial liabilities carry nil or fixed rates of
interest. The Trust is not, therefore, exposed to significant interest-rate risk.

3.1.4

Prudential Borrowing Limit (PBL)
The Trust is required to comply and remain within a prudential borrowing limit, which is made up of two
elements:
• the maximum cumulative amount of long term borrowing. This is set by reference to the four ratio
tests set out in Monitor’s Prudential Borrowing Code. One of these ratios, the financial risk rating is set
under Monitor’s Compliance Framework and therefore can impact on the long term borrowing limit.
• The amount of any working capital facility approved by Monitor.
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Financial Risk Factors (continued)

31 March
2010
£000

31 March
2009
£000

Long term borrowing limit set by Monitor
Working capital facility

39,300
13,000

37,500
13,000

Total Prudential Borrowing Limit

52,300

50,500

The Trust has no borrowings in the period.
Whilst the Monitor regime enables the Trust to finance capital expenditure through borrowing, the current
capital programme is affordable from within internally generated resources and, therefore, no formal loan
application has been submitted. Consequently the borrowing code ratios are of limited relevance until
such time as a loan request has been drawn down, but the compliance with the ratio is as follows:-

3.1.5

Financial ratios

Minimum dividend cover
Minimum interest cover
Minimum debt service cover
Maximum debt service to revenue

Approved
PBL ratios
2009/10

Actual
ratio
2009/10

>1
>3
>2
<2.5%

3.4
29.6
25.6
0.2%

Headroom
cover
£000
8,152
10,362
10,632
5,493

The Trust has been set a Tier 1 limit by Monitor, based on its 2009/10 Annual Plan submssion.
Further information on the NHS Foundation Trust Prudential Borrowing Code and Compliance
Framework can be found on the website of Monitor, the independent regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts.

3.1.6

Key estimates and judgements
The directors believe that the key estimates and judgements made in preparing these Financial
Statements relate to the provision made for irrecoverable receivables and the provisions made for
pensions and litigation costs incurred by the Trust. More details regarding the provision against potential
bad debts can be found in note 17.3. Note 21 contains further information regarding other provisions.
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4

Segmental Information
The Trust operates as a single operating segment as interpreted within IFRS8 since each of its
elements have similar economic characteristics and are similar in:
(a) the nature of service provided – provision of healthcare.
(b) the nature of the ‘production process’ and methods used – face to face contact between service user
and healthcare professional.
(c) the type of ‘customer’ – individuals with mental health needs and/or with learning disabilities.

5

Operating Income (by classification)

2009/10
£000
Income from Activities
Cost and Volume Contract income
Block Contract income
Clinical Partnerships providing mandatory services
Other clinical income from mandatory services
Total income from activities
Other operating income
Research and development
Education and training
Charitable and other contributions to expenditure
Transfer from donated asset reserve in respect of depreciation on donated
assets
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Other *** (see below)
Profit on disposal of other tangible fixed assets
Total other operating income
Total Operating Income

5,062
160,449
1,996
23,452

4,132
154,912
1,779
21,295

190,959

182,118

238
3,053
0
16

207
2,722
5
16

1,879
1,946
7

1,500
1,956
43

7,139

6,449

198,098

188,567

2009/10
£000

*** Analysis of Other Income (above)

9 2008/09
0 £000

9 2008/09
0 £000

Staff recharges
Staff accommodation rentals
Property rentals
Grossing up consortium arrangements
Other

318
130
1
459
1,038

381
121
3
668
783

Total

1,946

1,956
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5.1

Analysis between Mandatory and Non Mandatory Income from Activities
Under the Trusts' terms of authorisation, the Trust is required to provide mandatory health and social
services. The allocation of income from activities between mandatory services and other services is
shown below.

2009/10
£000
190,959

Mandatory income from activities

5.2

9 2008/09
0 £000
182,118

Private Patients Income Cap
In accordance with section 44 of the NHS Act 2006 NHS Foundation Trusts must not exceed a predetermined Private Patient Income cap (PPI), which is based on the level of private patient income
received in 2002/03. The Trust's PPI cap is zero and in line with this limit no private patient income was
generated in 2009/10 (none in £2008/09). Revised rules on how the PPI cap will be operated are
expected to come into effect from 1st April 2010.
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6

Operating Expenses (by type)
2009/10
£000
Services from NHS Foundation Trusts
Services from NHS Trusts
Services from other NHS Bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non NHS bodies
Employee Expenses - Executive directors
Employee Expenses - Non-executive directors
Employee Expenses - Staff
Drug costs
Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drug costs)
Supplies and services - general
Establishment
Research and development
Transport
Premises
Increase / (decrease) in bad debt provision
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
Amortisation on intangible assets
Audit services - statutory audit
Audit services - other services
Clinical negligence
Loss on disposal of land and buildings
Legal fees
Training, courses and conferences
Patient travel
Car parking & Security
Redundancy
Early retirements
Insurance
Other services, e.g. external payroll
Packages Of Social Care
Other

Impairments of property, plant and equipment
Total Operating Expenses

2008/09
underlying reported
£000
£000

1,168
5,134
2,624
11,962
1,120
154
121,025
4,612
313
4,464
3,823
0
1,885
6,570
(12)
3,527
91
58
28
308
58
181
575
38
333
(383)
228
31
6,767
13,198
823
190,703

876
6,268
2,073
15,052
1,050
147
113,653
4,200
254
4,463
3,494
170
1,311
6,892
(503)
2,828
58
80
19
406
0
245
689
35
176
902
229
28
4,320
11,103
1,445
181,963

876
5,636
2,073
14,062
1,050
147
110,130
3,487
217
4,292
3,204
170
1,311
5,878
(503)
2,828
58
80
19
406
0
245
595
35
176
902
229
28
4,106
11,103
1,312
174,152

7,121

0

3,752

197,824

181,963

177,904

For comparison purposes two columns are shown for 2008/09. That year's reported figures included the reversal
of exceptional expenditure valued at £7,811k This comprised a number of provisions for charges held in the
balance sheet over a number of years which did not subsequently materialise. Their reversal was disclosed
separately in the 2008/09 accounts in order to show the true underlying operational position of the Trust.

6.1

Limitation on Auditor's Liability
The Trust's external auditors, the Audit Commission, do not have a liability cap in relation to the annual statutory
audit. They do however include liability caps in relation to any additional service work undertaken and they set the
relevant caps out in the engagement letters for each specific piece of work.
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6.2

Salary and Pension Entitlements of Senior Managers

6.2.1

Remuneration
2009/10
2008/09
Salary
Other re- Benefits in
Salary
Other re- Benefits in
kind *
(bands of muneration kind *
(bands of muneration
£5,000) (bands of
(nearest
£5,000) (bands of (nearest
£5,000)
£00)
£5,000)
£00)

Name and Title

H Llewelyn-Davies (Chair)
Y Batliwala (Non-Executive Director) - Left June 2009
R Sawtell (Non-Executive Director)
W Brown (Non-Executive Director)
C Kennedy-Filer (Non-Executive Director)
C Sheppard (Non-Executive Director)
M Gill (Non-Executive Director) - Appointed June 2009
S Marsden (Non-Executive Director) - Appointed August 2009
T Cahill (Chief Executive) - Appointed April 2009
J Jones (Director of Finance & Performance Improvement)
J Andrews (Director of Workforce and Organisational Development) - Left March 2010
B Suggitt (Company Secretary)
G O'Sullivan (Medical Director)
K Moullin (Director of Service Delivery & Transformation) - April to November 2009
S Riseborough (Director of Service Delivery & Transformation) - Appointed November 2009
O Shanley (Director Quality & Safety) - Appointed November 2009

£000

£000

£00

£000

£000

£00

50 - 55

0

0

45 - 50

0

0

5 - 10
15 - 20
15 - 20
15 - 20
15 - 20
10 - 15
10 - 15
160 - 165
160 - 165
120 - 125
85 - 90
150 - 155
60 - 65
50 - 55
50 - 55

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
50 - 55
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
55
0
33
0
0
0
0
12

10 - 15
10 - 15
15 - 20
10 -15
10 - 15
0
0
115 - 120
150 - 155
115 - 120
90 - 95
145 - 150
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
55 - 60
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
33
18
40
0
0
0
0
0

Senior Managers are defined as "those persons in senior positions having authority or responsibility for directing or controlling the major activities
of the Trust".
* Benefits in kind represent the liability for tax payable by Executive Directors who are members of the Trust lease car scheme. Each Executive
Director pays for their own private fuel consumption.

Signed
Mr. Tom Cahill.

Chief Executive

26th May 2010
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6.2.2

Pension Benefits
Total accrued

Real
increase in
pension at
age 60
(bands of
£2,500)

Real
increase in
lump sum
at age 60
(bands of
£2,500)

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

20 - 22.5

60 - 62.5

60 - 65

180 - 185

J Jones

2.5 - 5

12.5 - 15

80 - 85

J Andrews - Left March 2010

0 - 2.5

2.5 - 5

B Suggitt

0 - 2.5

G O'Sullivan

Real
increase in
Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
value

Employer
contribution

£000

£000

£000

1,029

625

260

0

240 - 245

N/A

1,832

N/A

0

10 - 15

40 - 45

158

134

12

0

0 - 2.5

15 - 20

50 - 55

377

331

21

0

0 - 2.5

5 - 7.5

45 - 50

140 - 145

941

812

61

0

K Moullin - to November 2009

0 - 2.5

2.5 - 5

35 - 40

105 - 110

744

N/A

N/A

N/A

S Riseborough - Appointed November 2009

0 - 2.5

5 - 7.5

45 - 50

135 - 140

988

N/A

N/A

N/A

O Shanley - Appointed November 2009

0 - 2.5

2.5 - 5

30 - 35

100 - 105

570

N/A

N/A

N/A

Name and Title

T Cahill - Appointed April 2009

Lump sum
Cash
Cash
pension at
at age 60
Equivalent
Equivalent
age 60 at
related to
Transfer
Transfer
31 March 2010
accrued
value at
value at
(bands of
pension at 31 March 2010 31 March 2009
£5,000)
31 March 2010
(bands of
£5,000)

to stakeholder

pension
(nearest
£000)

Non-Executive Directors do not receive pensionable remuneration.
Cash Equivalent Transfer Values
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the member’s accrued
benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when
the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total
membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme
or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension
service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.
Real Increase in CETV
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits
transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period.

Signed
Mr. Tom Cahill.

Chief Executive

26th May 2010
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7

Exceptional Items
2009/10
£000
Exceptional items
- Reversal of Provisions for charges
- Impairment of Property, Plant & Equipment
Total

8

0
(7,121)
(7,121)

2008/09
£000
7,811
(3,752)
4,059

Commitments
The Trust leases various premises and equipment under non-cancellable operating lease agreements.
The leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights.
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

31 March
2010
£000

31 March
2009
£000

Future minimum lease payments due:
- not later than one year;
- later than one year and not later than five years;
- later than five years.

1,120
2,656
1,260

1,208
2,605
1,401

Total

5,036

5,214

9

Employee benefits

9.1

The employee benefit expense during the year was as follows

2009/10

2008/09

Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Pension costs - Employers contributions to NHS Pensions
Pension Cost - other contributions
Termination benefits
Agency/contract staff

£000
99,625
6,967
10,790
639
(155)
4,124

£000
92,713
6,669
10,064
551
0
4,706

Total

121,990

114,703

Other pension costs relate to Hertfordshire Council's Local Government Pension Scheme. See Note
2.5.2
Total employer pension contributions totalled £11,430k (£10,615k 2008/09)
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9.2

Number of employees
The average number of employees during the year was as follows (expressed in full time equivalents)

Medical and dental
Administration and estates
Healthcare assistants and other support staff
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff
Social care staff
Bank and agency staff
Other
Total

9.3

2009/10

2008/09

FTE's
186
571
630
856
216
218
498
7

FTE's
196
547
606
805
199
217
460
6

3,182

3,036

Retirements due to ill-health
During the period there were 4 (2008/09 - 3) early retirements from the NHS Foundation Trust on the
grounds of ill-health. The estimated additional pension liabilities of these ill-health retirements is £384k
(2008/09 £154k). The cost of these ill-health retirements will be borne by the NHS Business Services
Authority - Pensions Division.
These retirements represent 1.47 per 1,000 active scheme members.
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10

Better Payment Practice Code

10.1

Better Payment Practice code
The measure of compliance for 2009/10 has been analysed and can be found in the Trust's Annual
Report on page 7.

10.2

The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
There are no amounts included within Finance Costs (note 11.2) arising from claims made under this
legislation.
There is no compensation paid to cover debt recovery costs under this legislation.

11

Finance Income and Costs

11.1

Finance Income

2009/10
£000
Interest receivable

11.2

302

2008/09
£000
1,866

Finance Costs

2009/10
£000

2008/09
£000

Finance leases
Unwinding of discount on provisions

101
285

110
291

Total

386

401
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12

Intangible Assets

2009/10
Software
licences
£000

2008/09
Software
licences
£000

Opening cost at 1 April
Additions - purchased
Gross cost at 31 March

456
78
534

231
225
456

Opening amortisation at 1 April
Provided during the year
Amortisation at 31 March

70
91
161

12
58
70

Purchased at 31 March (opening cost less opening amortisation)

386

219

Purchased at 31 March (gross cost less amortisation)

373

386

Net book value

The economic life of these assets varies between 3 and 5 years.
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Property, Plant and Equipment

13

13.1 Balances as at 31 March 2010

Total

Land

Buildings
excluding
dwellings

Dwellings

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2009 as restated
Additions - purchased
Impairments charged to revaluation reserve
Reclassifications
Revaluation surpluses
Disposals

£000
142,733
9,905
(1,407)
0
5,342
(329)

£000
55,641
0
(315)
0
575
(150)

£000
69,925
8,196
(1,092)
10,284
4,595
(179)

£000
1,006
0
0
0
110
0

156,244

55,751

91,729

1,116

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2009
Provided during the year
Impairments recognised in operating expenses
Disposals

14,643
3,526
7,121
(61)

2,798
0
50
0

7,620
2,868
7,071
(61)

Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2010

25,229

2,848

Net book value
NBV - Owned at 1 April 2009
NBV - Finance lease at 1 April 2009
NBV - Donated at 1 April 2009

127,064
712
314

NBV total at 1 April 2009

Assets under
Construction &
Payments On
Account
£000
10,284
1,021
0
(10,284)
0
0

Plant &
Machinery

Information
Technology

Furniture &
Fittings

£000
1,069
40
0
0
27
0

£000
3,423
321
0
0
0
0

£000
1,385
327
0
0
35
0

1,021

1,136

3,744

1,747

50
30
0
0

0
0
0
0

552
109
0
0

2,601
397
0
0

1,022
122
0
0

17,498

80

0

661

2,998

1,144

52,843
0
0

61,279
712
314

956
0
0

10,284
0
0

517
0
0

822
0
0

363
0
0

128,090

52,843

62,305

956

10,284

517

822

363

Net book value
NBV - Owned at 31 March 2010
NBV - Finance lease at 31 March 2010
NBV - Donated at 31 March 2010

129,995
643
377

52,903
0
0

73,211
643
377

1,036
0
0

1,021
0
0

475
0
0

746
0
0

603
0
0

NBV total at 31 March 2010

131,015

52,903

74,231

1,036

1,021

475

746

603

NBV - Protected assets at 31 March 2010
NBV - Unprotected assets at 31 March 2010

117,497
13,518

49,623
3,280

67,873
6,358

1
1,035

0
1,021

0
475

0
746

0
603

Total at 31 March 2010

131,015

52,903

74,231

1,036

1,021

475

746

603

Cost or valuation at 31 March 2010

Estimated economic life of property, plant and equipment
Min Life Years
Max Life Years

N/A
N/A

2
50

28
31

N/A
N/A

5
15

3
5

Transfers from Assets Under Construction relate to the new Psychiatric Intensive Care Unit and the development of the Child & Adolescent Mental Health Unit, both based at Harperbury site.
Impairments recognised in operating expenses relate to the formal 5 yearly revaluation and a specific exercise undertaken to reflect the two new assets above being brought into use.
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Property, Plant and Equipment

13.2 Balances as at 31 March 2009

Total

Land

Buildings
excluding
dwellings

Dwellings

Assets under
Construction &
Payments On
Account
£000
£000
1,029
1,085
0
8,950
(29)
0
0
249
6
0
0
0

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2008 as restated
Additions - purchased
Impairments charged to revaluation reserve
Reclassifications
Revaluation surpluses
Disposals

£000
127,640
25,228
(11,119)
0
1,032
(48)

£000
59,639
6,540
(10,585)
0
95
(48)

£000
60,443
9,365
(505)
(249)
871
0

142,733

55,641

69,925

1,006

8,028
2,828
3,752
35

124
0
2,674
0

4,494
2,048
1,078
0

14,643

2,798

Net book value
NBV - Owned at 1 April 2008
NBV - Finance Lease at 1 April 2008
NBV - Donated at 1 April 2008

117,278
2,013
321

NBV total at 1 April 2008

Plant &
Machinery

Information
Technology

Furniture &
Fittings

£000
1,011
32
0
0
26
0

£000
3,113
310
0
0
0
0

£000
1,320
31
0
0
34
0

10,284

1,069

3,423

1,385

19
31
0
0

0
0
0
0

449
91
0
12

2,082
519
0
0

860
139
0
23

7,620

50

0

552

2,601

1,022

59,515
0
0

53,615
2,013
321

1,010
0
0

1,085
0
0

562
0
0

1,031
0
0

460
0
0

119,612

59,515

55,949

1,010

1,085

562

1,031

460

Net book value
NBV - Purchased at 31 March 2009
NBV - Finance Lease at 31 March 2009
NBV - Donated at 31 March 2009

127,064
712
314

52,843
0
0

61,279
712
314

956
0
0

10,284
0
0

517
0
0

822
0
0

363
0
0

NBV total at 31 March 2009

128,090

52,843

62,305

956

10,284

517

822

363

NBV - Protected assets at 31 March 2009
NBV - Unprotected assets at 31 March 2009

105,805
22,285

49,463
3,380

56,342
5,963

0
956

0
10,284

0
517

0
822

0
363

Total at 31 March 2009

128,090

52,843

62,305

956

10,284

517

822

363

Cost or valuation at 31 March 2009
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2008 as restated
Provided during the year
Impairments recognised in operating expenses
Revaluation surpluses
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2009

Additions for 2008/09 included £15,344k for the purchase of land and buildings at Harperbury and Little Plumstead Hospitals. These sites, previously rented from the Secretary of state, were
purchased by Public Dividend Capital issued to the Trust.(See also note 19).
Assets under construction relate to the new Psychiatric Intensive Care Unit and the development of the Child and Adolescent Mental Health Unit, both at the Harperbury site.
Included in the impairment charge of (£11,119k) is (£936k) which relates to finance lease revaluation increases, previously recognised in earlier years, now reversed due to the reclassification of the
finance lease for Oxford House which is now shown under operating leases in note 8.
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13.3

Disposal Of Property, Plant and Equipment

2009/10

2008/09

£000

£000

Profit on disposal of other tangible fixed assets

7

2009/10
£000
Loss on disposal of land and buildings

2008/09
£000
58

Profits and losses on disposal is for non protected assets in both years.
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14

Assets held under Finance Leases

2009/10
£000

2008/09
£000

Opening cost at 1 April

2,125

2,125

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April
Reclassifications
Revaluation surpluses
Provided during the year

1,413
0
0
69

112
405
827
69

Accumulated depreciation at 31 March

1,482

1,413

NBV total at 1 April

712

2,013

NBV total at 31 March

643

712

Net book value

The Trust leases two premises under non-cancellable finance lease agreements. The leases have varying terms,
escalation clauses and renewal rights. These premises are: Edinburgh House and 32 St. Peter's Street, both in St. Albans.

15

Impairment of Assets (Property, Plant & Equipment and Intangibles)
2009/10
£000

2008/09
£000

Revaluation

7,121

3,752

Total impairments

7,121

3,752

The above impairment charge includes a re-valuation by the District Valuer for the redeveloped Child & Adolescent Mental
Health Unit and the new Psychiatric Intensive Care Unit, both based at the Harperbury site (£6,534k) and other assets
following the five yearly revaluation (£587k).
The impairments in 2008/09 were a result of general falls in market prices.

16

Inventories

31 March 2010

31 March 2009

1 April 2008

£000

£000

£000

Pharmacy stock

12

8

12

Total

12

8

12

In 2009/10 a total of £734 (£3,487 in 2008/09) of inventories was included in the Statement Of Comprehensive Income as an
expense.
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17

Trade Receivables and other Receivables

17.1

Trade Receivables and other Receivables

31 March 2010 31 March 2009 1 April 2008
£000
£000
£000
Current
NHS Receivables
Provision for irrecoverable debts
Prepayments
PDC Receivable
Other receivables

3,118
(430)
713
225
451

2,824
(442)
659
0
1,999

2,579
(945)
542
0
1,710

Total current trade and other receivables

4,077

5,040

3,886

Non-Current
NHS Receivables
Other receivables

7,285
20

7,543
22

7,754
18

Total non-current trade and other receivables

7,305

7,565

7,772

NHS Receivables includes £7,893k as at 31 March 2010 (£8,151k as at 31 March 2009) relating to back to back pension
provisions.

17.2

Provision for irrecoverable debts

Balance at 1 April
Increase in provision
Unused amounts reversed

2009/10

2008/09

£000

£000

442
93
(105)

945
228
(731)

430

442

Balance at 31 March

17.3

Analysis of impaired debts and non-impaired debts past their due date

31 March 2010 31 March 2009
£000

£000

1 April 2008
£000

Ageing of impaired receivables
Up to three months
In three to six months
Over six months

23
57
350

31
23
388

183
97
665

Total

430

442

945

Ageing of non-impaired receivables past their due date
Up to three months
In three to six months
Over six months

851
191
337

1,160
1,165
746

359
203
187

1,379

3,071

749

Total
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18

Cash and cash equivalents
2009/10
£000

2008/09
£000

Cash and Cash equivalents at 1 April
Net change in cash and cash equivalents

43,918
(5,766)

40,844
3,074

Cash and Cash equivalents at 31 March

38,152

43,918

Comprising:
Commercial banks and cash in hand
Government Banking Service Bank balance
Paymaster General

37
38,115
0

18
0
43,900

38,152

43,918

During the year HM Treasury ceased providing retail banking services to the NHS. Theses have been replaced with
commercial arragements with the Royal Bank Of Scotland and Citibank and are collectively known as the Government
Banking Service. The new accounts operate as one account and there is no operational impact on the Trust.

19

Public Dividend Capital
2009/10
£000

20

2008/09
£000

Taxpayers' Equity at 1 April
Public Dividend Capital received

79,370
0

56,880
22,490

Taxpayers' Equity at 31 March

79,370

79,370

31 March 2010
£000

31 March 2009
£000

Payable:
- not later than one year;
- later than one year and not later than five years;
- later than five years.
Gross lease liabilities

156
623
655
1,434

156
623
810
1,589

156
623
979
1,758

Less: Finance charges allocated to future periods

(483)

(583)

(707)

Net lease liabilities

951

1,006

1,051

Expected timing of cashflows:
- not later than one year;
- later than one year and not later than five years;
- later than five years.

66
362
523

56
322
628

45
282
724

951

1,006

1,051

Finance Lease Obligations

Details of Finance Leases are included in note 14.
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21

Provisions for liabilities and charges (held in current and non-current liabilities)

2009/10

Total

£000

Pensions
relating to
other staff
£000

Legal and Agenda for
other claims Change
£000

£000

Injury
Claims
£000

At 1 April 2009, as restated
Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Unwinding of discount

18,835
1,309
(1,403)
(1,163)
285

12,679
300
(949)
0
259

2,564
524
(333)
(948)
0

2,384
455
(85)
(215)
0

1,208
30
(36)
0
26

At 31 March 2010

17,863

12,289

1,807

2,539

1,228

2,095
7,144
8,624

943
3,768
7,578

931
876
0

184
2,355
0

37
145
1,046

Total

17,863

12,289

1,807

2,539

1,228

2008/09

Total

At 1 April 2008
Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Unwinding of discount

£000
17,705
1,958
(1,105)
(14)
291

Expected timing of cashflows:
- not later than one year
- later than one year and not later than five years
- later than five years

At 31 March 2009
Expected timing of cashflows:
- not later than one year
- later than one year and not later than five years
- later than five years
Total

Pensions
Legal and Agenda for
relating to other claims Change
other staff
£000
£000
£000
13,012
1,820
1,686
309
858
762
(908)
(100)
(64)
0
(14)
0
266
0
0

Injury
Claims
£000
1,187
29
(33)
0
25

18,835

12,679

2,564

2,384

1,208

5,889
3,764
9,182

908
3,632
8,139

2,564
0
0

2,384
0
0

33
132
1,043

18,835

12,679

2,564

2,384

1,208

The 'Pensions relating to other staff' provison is the capitalised cost of early retirements as defined by the NHS Pensions
Agency. This mainly relates to early retirements of staff resulting from the closure of Hill End, Leavesden, Cell Barnes
and Harperbury Hospitals.
The 'Legal and other claims' provision includes provisions in respect of the Trust's employer and public liabilities, the
amount stated is subject to uncertainty about the outcome of legal proceedings. £50k (£1,963k as at 31 March 2009,
£193k as at 1 April 2008) is included in the provisions of the NHS Litigation Authority at 31 March 2010 in respect of
clinical negligence liabilities of the Trust.
The 'Agenda for Change' provision is the estimated liability for pay backdated to 1st October 2004 under the new NHS
pay system.
The 'Injury Claims' provision is the capitalised cost of injury benefits as defined by the NHS Pension scheme, for scheme
members who are permanently incapable of fulfilling their duties effectively through injury.
The 'Pension' and 'Other (Injury claims)' provisions together total £13,516k (£13,887k as at 31 March 2009, £14,199k as
at 1 April 2008). Of this £7,893k (£8,151k as at 31 March 2009, £8,392k as at 1 April 2008) is subject to 'Back to Back'
agreements.
The very nature of these provisions means that there are uncertainties regarding timing and amount of settlement, though
the amount provided is judged sufficient to meet these liabilities.
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22

Trade and other payables

Current
Receipts in advance
NHS Payables
Trade payables - capital
Other payables
Accruals
Total current Trade and other payables

31 March
2010
£000

31 March
2009
£000

1 April
2008
£000

1,194
4,224
634
7,211
9,843

2,687
4,986
599
7,893
10,722

1,033
5,161
2,224
11,841
14,663

23,106

26,887

34,922

The following amounts included in NHS Payables (above) relate to outstanding pension contributions:
£1,488,000 as at 31 March 2010
£1,365,000 as at 31 March 2009
£246,000 as at 31 March 2008

23

Financial assets and liabilities

23.1

Financial assets by category

23.2

31 March
2010

31 March
2009

1 April
2008

£000

£000

£000

NHS Receivables
Provision for irrecoverable debts
Other Receivables
Cash and cash equivalents (at bank and in hand) at 31 March

3,118
(430)
471
38,152

2,824
(442)
2,021
43,918

2,579
(945)
1,728
40,844

Total at 31 March

41,311

48,321

44,206

31 March
2010

31 March
2009

£000
951
4,224
4,831
9,843
634
4,346
24,829

£000
1,006
4,986
5,633
10,722
599
4,948
27,894

Financial liabilities by category

Obligations under finance leases
NHS payables
Trade and other payables
Accruals
Capital payables
Provisions under contract
Total at 31 March

Page 35

1 April
2008
£000
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23.3

Fair value of financial assets

Book value
£000

23.4

Fair value
£000

NHS Receivables
Provision for irrecoverable debts
Other Receivables
Cash and cash equivalents (at bank and in hand) at 31 March 2010
Total at 31 March 2010

3,118
(430)
471
38,152
41,311

3,118
(430)
471
38,152
41,311

NHS Receivables
Provision for irrecoverable debts
Other Receivables
Cash and cash equivalents (at bank and in hand) at 31 March 2009
Total at 31 March 2009

2,824
(442)
2,021
43,918
48,321

2,824
(442)
2,021
43,918
48,321

NHS Receivables
Provision for irrecoverable debts
Other Receivables
Cash and cash equivalents (at bank and in hand) at 1 April 2008
Total at 1 April 2008

2,579
(945)
1,728
40,844
44,206

2,579
(945)
1,728
40,844
44,206

Fair value of financial liabilities

Book value
£000

Fair value
£000

Obligations under finance leases at 31 March 2010
NHS payables
Trade and other payables
Accruals
Capital payables
Provisions under contract at 31 March 2010
Total at 31 March 2010

951
4,224
4,831
9,843
634
4,346
24,829

826
4,224
4,831
9,843
634
4,346
24,704

Obligations under finance leases at 31 March 2009
NHS payables
Trade and other payables
Accruals
Capital payables
Provisions under contract at 31 March 2009
Total at 31 March 2009

1,006
4,986
5,633
10,722
599
4,948
27,894

800
4,986
5,633
10,722
599
4,948
27,688

Obligations under finance leases at 1 April 2008
NHS payables
Trade and other payables
Accruals
Capital payables
Provisions under contract at 1 April 2008
Total at 1 April 2008

1,501
5,161
11,841
14,663
168
3,506
36,840

1,501
5,161
11,841
14,663
168
3,506
36,840
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Reconciliation of operating surplus to net cash flow from operating activities

£000

2009/10
£000

£000

2008/09
£000

274

Operating Surplus
Non cash flow movements:
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments
Transfer from the donated asset reserve

3,618
7,121
(17)

10,663

2,886
3,752
(16)
10,722

Movement in Working Capital:
(Increase) / Decrease in inventories
(Increase) / Decrease in receivables
Increase / (Decrease) in trade and other payables
Increase / (Decrease) in other liabilities

Increase / (Decrease) in provisions
Other movements in operating cash flows

Net cash inflow from operating activities
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(4)
1,223
(3,816)
(8)

6,622

4
(947)
(8,029)
(6)
(2,605)

(8,978)

(972)
0

1,130
(728)

7,419

8,709
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25

Related Party Transactions
During the year none of the Board Members, Governors or members of the key management staff or parties
related to them has undertaken any material transactions with the Trust.
Board members, Governors and other key management staff take decisions on Charity and Exchequer
matters but endeavour to keep the interests of each discreet and do not seek to benefit personally from
such decisions. Declarations of personal interest have been made and are available for inspection.
The Department of Health is also regarded as a related party. During the year, the Trust has had a
significant number of material transactions over £1m with the Department, and with other entities for which
the Department is regarded as the parent department. These entities are listed below:

2009/10

Income from Expenditure Receivables Payables to
Related Party payments to from Related Related Party
Related Party
Party
£000

£000

£000

£000

455

840

143

0

Strategic Health Authority
East of England

2,331

7

1

17

Primary Care Trusts
Barnet
East & North Hertfordshire
Hounslow
South East Essex
West Hertfordshire

1,960
195
970
6,828
1,347

55
2,167
0
328
235

787
1,107
585
0
2,361

4
271
0
616
241

NHS Trusts
Beds and Luton Partnership Mental Health
East & North Hertfordshire
West Herts Hospitals

0
13
1,412

9,925
2,918
1,810

0
13
325

1,352
49
286

Other
Hertfordshire County Council
Norfolk County Council
Westminster City Council
National Health Service Pensions Scheme
National Insurance Fund
HMRC (taxes and duties such as VAT)
NHS Business Services Authority

168,879
1,980
1,084
0
0
0
0

1,394
28
0
10,790
6,967
0
3,347

90
8
97
0
0
333
0

638
0
0
915
652
0
59

Totals

187,454

40,811

5,850

5,100

Department of Health
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Related Party Transactions (continued)

2008/09

Income from Expenditure Receivables Payables to
Related Party payments to from Related Related Party
Related Party
Party
£000

£000

£000

£000

203

16,721

45

0

Strategic Health Authority
East of England

2,569

0

722

0

Primary Care Trusts
Barnet
East & North Hertfordshire
Hounslow
South East Essex
West Hertfordshire

2,305
125
1,306
4,133
670

51
1,690
0
0
197

769
1,153
782
0
1,910

25
892
0
0
133

NHS Trusts
Beds and Luton Partnership Mental Health
East & North Hertfordshire
West Herts Hospitals

0
5
1,102

10,955
2,995
2,923

0
5
92

1,098
248
231

Other
Hertfordshire County Council
Norfolk County Council
Westminster City Council
National Health Service Pensions Scheme
National Insurance Fund
HMRC (taxes and duties such as VAT)
NHS Business Services Authority

160,636
1,938
1,068
0
0
0
0

5,307
26
0
10,076
7,184
0
3,202

806
0
1,042
0
0
199
0

1,781
0
0
1,194
1,014
1,245
0

Totals

176,060

61,327

7,525

7,861

Department of Health

In addition, the Trust has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and
other central and local Government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with Hertfordshire
County Council in respect of partnership working.
The Trust has also received revenue payments from a number of charitable funds, the Corporate
Trustees for which are also members of the Trust Board.
Remuneration of key management is disclosed in note 6.21
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Losses and Special Payments
There were 50 cases (97 cases in 2008/09) of losses and special payments totalling £43k (£43k 2008/09)
paid during 1st April 2009 to 31 March 2010. These are the cash payments made in the year and are not
calculated on an accruals basis.

27

Third Party Assets
The Trust held £2,178k cash at bank and in hand at 31st March 2010 (£1,959 at 31st March 2009) which
relates to monies held by the Trust on behalf of service users. This had been excluded from the cash and
cash equivalents figure reported in the accounts.

28

Post Balance Sheet Events
With effect from 1st April 2010 the Trust took over responsibility for Specialist Learning Disability services
in North Essex. The value of the services commissioned by Essex PCTs is c. £12m.

29

Contingencies

31 March
2010
£000

Value of contingent liabilities

(59)

31 March
2009
£000

(56)

1 April 2008
£000

(35)

There are no recoverable values from third parties (contingent assets).
Contingent liabilities consist of liabilities to third parties.
The very nature of contingent liabilities means there are uncertainties regarding timing and amount of
settlement.

30

Commitments under capital expenditure contracts
31 March
2010
£000
Property, Plant and Equipment
Total as at 31 March

2,036
2,036

Commitments as at 31 March 2010 include:
Warren Court Security, ESU, Watford
ADTU Project, Shrodells, Watford
Little Plumstead Day Services, Norfolk
QEII Hospital Fire Alarms, Welwyn Garden City
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£000
6,970
6,970

1 April 2008
£000
1,467
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31

Reconciliation of UK GAAP Income & Expenditure Account to IFRS Statement Of
Comprehensive Income for 2008/09
2009/10 is the first year that the Trust has published its Accounts under International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS). The adoption of IFRS has led to a number of re-classifications of
transactions from the previous UK GAAP to new discriptors under IFRS.
The adoption of IFRS has not resulted in any change to the substance of the Income and Expenditure
Account / Statement Of Comprehensive Income for 2008/09 and the Retained Surplus for that year
remains the published figure of £7,309k.

32

Reconciliation of UK GAAP Cash Flow Statement to IFRS Statement of Cash
Flows for 2008/09
The adoption of IFRS has not resulted in any change to the substance of the Cash Flow Statement for
2008/09 which remains as a decrease in cash and cash equivalents of £3,074k.

33

Reconciliation of UK GAAP Statement of Equity to IFRS for 2008/09
The adoption of IFRS has resulted in the following changes to the Statement of Taxpayers Equity as at

UK GAAP

Correction of
operating lease
previously
accounted for as
finance lease:
Oxford House

Gain on
disposal:
correction of
disposal
accounting

£000

£000

31 March 2008
£000

Public dividend capital
Revaluation reserve
Donated asset reserve
Income and expenditure reserve
TOTAL TAXPAYERS' EQUITY

56,880
55,291
321
7,020
119,512

0
(936)
0
0
(936)

IFRS Restated

1 April 2008
£000

0
0
0
43
43

The adoption of IFRS has not resulted in any change to the substance of the the Statement of
Taxpayers Equity as at 1st April 2009.
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56,880
54,355
321
7,063
118,619

STATEMENT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
April 2009 - March 2010
1. Scope of responsibility
The Board is accountable for internal control, and as Accounting Officer, and Chief Executive
of this Trust, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that
supports the achievement of the NHS Foundation Trust’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst
safeguarding the public funds and departmental assets for which I am personally responsible
in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me. I am also responsible for ensuring that
the NHS Foundation Trust is administered prudently and economically and that resources are
applied efficiently and effectively. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in the NHS
Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.
As the organisation works in partnership with many other agencies, I also ensure internal
control responsibilities are clear and are delivered within these partnerships.
Matters of accountability are clearly defined and monitored through an agreement with Adult
Care Services, our main service delivery partners. That is to say that, since its inception in
2001, the Trust, with the authority of Section 75 of the Health Act 1999, (now amended)
operates through a formal partnership with Hertfordshire County Council, Adult Care Services.
A written Partnership Agreement documents the detailed arrangements which allow previously
separate Health and Social Care functions to be integrated and the Trust to exercise various
local authority functions with pooled funds. An integrated management structure is achieved
through authorised officers on the Adult Care Services Management Board and the Trust
Executive Team, also holding membership of and attending the partner Management Team.
A number of contractual partnerships exist, with key commissioners, where the contract
designates clear responsibilities for all matters including internal control, and defines the
processes for monitoring these.
2. The purpose of the system of internal control
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to
eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal
control is based on an ongoing process designed to:
•

Identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the organisation’s policies,
aims and objectives of Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust

•

Evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be
realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.

The system of internal control has been in place in Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust for the period ended 31 March 2010 and up to the date of approval of the annual report
and accounts.
3. Capacity to handle risk
3.1 Leadership of the risk management process
As Chief Executive, I am ultimately accountable for assuring the Board of the quality of the
service provided by the Trust. This is achieved operationally through the delegation of the
responsibility of executive lead for Risk Management (except for financial risk) to the
Executive Director, Quality and Safety who also works with the officers responsible for
ensuring, through the Risk Management Framework, that all Risk Management policies and
procedures are in place and are competently used.
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The Trust’s Risk Management Strategy was updated and approved by the Risk
Management and Patient Safety Group and subsequently the Trust Board. The Risk
Management Strategy, which is promoted throughout the Trust, clearly defines levels of
responsibility for Risk Management across the organisation and summarises the extensive
tools and training available.
The risk management process within the Trust is further underpinned by a robust Risk
Management Policy. This policy describes the procedure for assessing, prioritising and
managing all types of risk within the organisation. The Trust Risk Register forms an integral
part of this and defines the process for grading and managing (or minimising) the
organisations key operational and business risks. The highest level risks are reviewed
regularly by the Trust Board.
3.2 Training in the management of risk
Staff are equipped to assess and manage risk through training in the use of the Risk
Management Policy and Procedure which is cascaded to all staff via the Senior Managers,
Professional Leads and Team Leaders and progress is monitored through the usual
supervision /performance management process. Mandatory Training in Clinical Risk
Management is also provided to all staff who work directly with service users, as they must
be competent in recognising, assessing and managing the risks which our service users
present to themselves and to others.
3.3 Learning from good practice
Analysis of ‘adverse events’ and sharing this intelligence through our extensive Practice
Governance Framework to improve services across the Trust, is a key aspect of our
approach to managing risk through service improvement.
During the past year, the Foundation Trust has also won a number of awards for good and
excellent practice, demonstrating that we operate, as far as possible, as a “learning
organisation” which communicates well and provides staff with every opportunity to learn
from each other and from the high quality leadership training provided.
Our learning and development teams provide regular opportunities for all our staff to attend
training updates and refresher programmes where these are deemed appropriate, or
necessary, by line managers.
Our Communications team constantly uses new and innovative approaches to inform staff of
opportunities to learn from others internally and externally, and to celebrate and
communicate all examples of good practice to ensure learning is ongoing and continuous.
4. The risk and control framework
4.1 The Risk Management Strategy
This document sets the scene with our Vision and Goals, then details the way risks are
identified, assessed and controlled in the Trust and contains the following key elements:
• Definition of the Risks and Risk Management
• The Strategic Objectives and Plans for Risk Management
• Responsibilities for Risk Management
• The Assurance and Risk Management Structure throughout the Trust
• The Risk Management Tools and Policies available
• The Risk Management Training and other resources available
4.2 The Executive Directors with specific responsibility for risk management are:
• The Executive Director Quality and Safety is the executive lead for Risk
Management.
• The Executive Director Quality and Medical Leadership has lead responsibility for
Practice Governance.
• The Executive Director Finance and Performance Improvement is responsible for
the management of financial and performance risks.
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•

The Executive Director Service Delivery and Transformation is responsible for the
day to day management of risk within operational services.

A number of other senior officers assist with these responsibilities and there are a variety of
systems in place to enable those responsible to identify, assess, prioritise and control
hazards and all types of risks on a regular and ongoing basis, listed in the Risk Management
Strategy.
4.3 Integrated Governance Risk Management is one of the building blocks of
Integrated Governance and the Trust’s committee structure integrates Risk Management
and other forms of Governance into a single structure. The Integrated Governance
Committee is the central driving force for the Risk Management Strategy and the Trust’s
internal control mechanisms, regularly reporting to the Trust Board on the risks being faced
by the organisation and how they are being managed/controlled.
Regular discussions take place at board meetings concerning the Trust’s appetite for risk,
determining the strategic parameters within which decisions involving various types of risk,
can then be made on a sound consistent basis.
4.4 The Board Assurance Framework and the Risk Register are the key tools
to facilitate and monitor the effects of systematic action plans to control and minimise
identified risks. They are central planks in the System of Internal Control.
The Board Assurance Framework specifically identifies potential risks to the
achievement of each of the Trust’s Strategic Goals and monitors the actions being taken
to control them. It acts as a major assurance tool by detailing the independent sources
and methods of assurance used to objectively measure the effectiveness of the controls
being used to minimise the risk of not achieving the Trust’s strategic objectives. The
Board Assurance Framework is formally reviewed 4 times a year. Two of these are full
reviews reported to the Risk Management and Patient Safety Group, the Integrated
Governance Committee, and to the Audit Committee which challenges the Controls and
assurance processes in order to assure the Board that they are working effectively as
part of the Internal Systems of Control. The other two, routine quarterly reviews, are
reported to the Risk Management and Patient Safety Group and the Integrated
Governance Committee.
The Risk Register operates at several levels within the organisation and enables local
Service Managers, Senior Managers and the Executive Team on behalf of the Board, to
plan and monitor control measures for risks of all types. The moderate and high risks
and the overall process is monitored and reviewed by the Integrated Governance
Committee via the Risk Management and Patient Safety Group.
The ‘Top Ten Risks’ are reported to the Board 4 times a year, via the Integrated Governance
Committee. For 2 of these reviews, the Integrated Governance Committee also reports the
Risk Register to the Audit Committee to provide the challenge to the Assurance Processes.
4.5 External measurement of the effectiveness of the Board Assurance Framework
and the Risk Register as Control Systems upon which the organisation relies to manage risks
was reviewed by Internal Audit in April 2010. The report concluded that the Board can take
‘substantial assurance’ that these control systems are effective.
4.6 Risks to data security are high on the agenda and effective Information
Governance processes and procedures are in place for all information used for operational
and financial reporting purposes. All HPFT Laptops have now been encrypted, Staff that need
it have been supplied with encrypted memory sticks and port control will be activated from
April 2010, this will ensure that information can only be written to approved Trust encrypted
memory sticks. A Trust wide Information Governance Action Plan resulting from self
assessment against the Information Governance Standards is being implemented and data
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losses are reported and investigated as required by the DH letter of 29th February 2008,
‘Reporting SUIs relating to potential or actual breaches of confidentiality involving person
identifiable data including data loss.’
4.7 Annual Quality Report.
The Board is required under the Health Act 2009 and the NHS (Quality Accounts) regulations
2010 to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year. Monitor has issued guidance to NHS
Foundation Trust Boards on the form and content of Annual Quality Reports which incorporate
the above legal requirements in the “NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual”. To
assure the Board that the Quality Report presents a balanced view and appropriate controls
are in place to ensure the accuracy of data, the following steps have been taken:
a) Governance
• The Executive Directors of Quality and Medical Leadership and of Quality and Patient
Safety are designated as jointly responsible for the development of the Quality Account
• The Executive Director Finance and Performance is confirmed responsible for data quality
• The Executive Team has clearly articulated a commitment to data quality across the Trust,
supported by focussed data quality improvement projects by the Performance Team
b) Policies
• Staff operate within a clear set of policies on data and information
• Policy compliance is closely monitored and audited by the Records Dept and the
Information Governance Team
c) Systems and Processes
• For the Quality Report, the Head of Practice Governance has set up a system of data
collection and reporting in liaison with the Performance and Informatics Teams
• Many of the quality indicators are also performance indicators and these were already
subject to data quality checking
• Quarterly Quality Reports are taken to the Executive Team and then on to the Board and
feedback is received
• More detailed consideration of the data takes place at the Quality and Best Value Sub
Group, reporting to the Integrated Governance Committee
• In accordance with the regulations, the draft Quality Account has been shared with the
PCT who are entitled to challenge data for accuracy and relevance
d) People and Skills
• The Trust has developed its performance and informatics functions in recent years, and in
order to ensure capacity for quality reporting (including CQUIN and the quality schedule in
the contract) a new Performance Data post has been created
e) Data use and reporting
• Data in the Quality Report gets to services as part of the regular Dashboard for Managers
• When data indicates weak performance action is taken with Operational Managers via the
Head of Practice Governance
• In agreeing quality priorities for 2009/2010 and for 2010/2011, Trust-wide data on the
quality of services was considered
The effectiveness of these systems is kept under review by the Head of Practice Governance.
During the year the Quality Steering Group was disbanded as it was seen as blurring the
responsibilities of the Quality and Best Value Sub Group. Further consideration is being given
to the role of the Governors’ Quality sub-group in strengthening the ways the Trust assures
itself of the accuracy of its data on quality.
4.8 Major Incident and Business Continuity Management The Trust response to
the Swine Flu Pandemic during 09-10 enabled the Trust Business Continuity Plan to be tested
and developed. This demonstrated our robust control systems designed to mitigate the risk to
continuity of our services in the event of any type of major incident. We are also founder
members of the Herts Environmental Forum (HEF) and are active partners in the Herts
Resilience Forum (HESMIC) taking part in relevant exercises, including exercises for Flood
and Heat wave.
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4.9 Carbon Reduction
The Trust together with Hertfordshire County Council is undertaking risk assessments and
development of Carbon Reduction Delivery Plans in accordance with emergency
preparedness and civil contingency requirements, as based on UKCIP 2009 weather projects,
to ensure that this organisation’s obligations under the Climate Change Act and the
Adaptation Reporting requirements are complied with.
4.10 Policy and Procedure Framework The approach to Risk Management is
embedded within the organisation in numerous ways. A key aspect of this is that Trust staff
operate within a framework of policies and procedures designed to ensure that the service
users receive care in a physical and clinical environment in which risk levels are controlled
and reduced to a minimum. These policies are introduced to staff on induction and as part of
the Risk Management Training Prospectus. Policy and Procedure documents are readily
available in each site and via the Trust Intranet and key policies which assist in the
assessment and management of specific risks are a particular focus of mandatory training.
Managers are involved in the effective use of these policies in their teams day-to-day.
For example, amongst other things there are policies for:
• Risk Management
• Care Records of Service Users
• Consent to Examination and Treatment
• Learning from Adverse Events (including Serious Untoward Incidents)
• Complaints
• Clinical Risk Assessment and Management of Individual Service Users
• Supportive Observation of Service Users at Risk
• Prevention and Management of Violence
• Integrated Programme Approach and Care Management (CPA)
• Do the Right Thing (whistle blowing)
• Health and Safety (including COSHH)
• Infection Control
4.11 Internal and External Stakeholders are informed and involved in the activities of
the Trust in a variety of ways. The Trust has a framework of forums for consultation with public
stakeholders, e.g. service users and carers, which advise on key areas of risk as appropriate,
an example of which is adherence to delivery of same sex accommodation. Service User
Representatives also hold membership on various committees and groups. Responsibility for
ensuring relevant stakeholders involvement in Risk Management issues is indicated in the
relevant policies and procedures. The SHA and Joint Commissioning Partnership Board are
informed if any risks are identified which seriously threaten the achievement of the Trust’s
objectives or which cannot be adequately managed.
4.12 CQC Essential Standards for Quality and Safety and Standards for Better
Health. The Trust is fully compliant with the core standards for better health, and meets all the
Essential Standards for Quality and Safety Outcome Measures, achieving registration with the
Care Quality Commission with no conditions. The systems in place during 09/10 for SFBH
were reviewed by Internal Audit in October 2009 resulting in ‘substantial assurance’. The
Integrated Governance Committee agreed a CQC compliance monitoring process for all
Service Streams, which will also be reviewed by in October 2010.
4.13 Pension schemes. As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS
Pension scheme and the Local Government Pension scheme, control measures are in place
to ensure all employer obligations contained within the Schemes regulations are complied
with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary, employers’ contributions and
payments in to the Schemes are in accordance with each Scheme rules, and that member
Pension Scheme records are accurately updated in accordance with the timescales detailed in
the Regulations.
-5-

4.14 Equality, Diversity and Human Rights. Control measures are in place to ensure
that the organisation complies with all relevant equality, diversity and human rights legislation.

5. Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources
As Chief Executive I have responsibility to the Board for the economy, efficiency and
effectiveness of the use of resources. This is achieved operationally through good
governance and systems of internal control designed to ensure that resources are applied
efficiently and effectively.
The effective and efficient use of resources are governed by the following key policies
• Standing Orders
• Standing Financial Instructions
• Scheme of Delegation
• Anti-fraud and corruption
The Trust Board places reliance on the Audit Committee, to ensure appropriate and sound
governance arrangements are in place to deliver the efficient and effective use of resources.
The Audit Committee agrees an annual work programme for the Trust’s Internal Auditors and
reviews progress on implementation of recommendations following audit and other assurance
reports and reviews.

6. Review of effectiveness
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control. My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by
the work of the internal auditors and the executive managers within the Trust who have
responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework, and
comments made by the external auditors in their management letter and other reports. The
Head of Internal Audit provides me with an opinion on the overall arrangements for gaining
assurance through the Assurance Framework and on the controls reviewed as part of the
internal audit work. Executive managers within the organisation who have responsibility for the
development and maintenance of the system of internal control provide me with assurance.
The Assurance Framework itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls
that manage the risks to the organisation achieving its principal objectives have been
reviewed.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control by the Board, the Audit Committee and the Integrated Governance
Committee, and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the
system is in place.
The process for maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control
involves review of all the mechanisms described particularly in section 4 of this statement (the
risk and control framework).

The high level co-ordination and monitoring is mainly achieved through the following:
•

The Trust Board places reliance upon both the Audit Committee and the Integrated
Governance Committee in respect to the soundness of the system of internal control,
receiving regular reports from both Committees.
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•

The Integrated Governance Committee is responsible for ensuring that the Trust
fulfils its governance and associated risk management duties. Regular reports are
made to the Board on the management of the most serious risks on the Trust Risk
Register and all aspects of risk management and the Board Assurance Framework.

•

The Audit Committee’s primary role is to independently oversee the governance and
assurance process on behalf of the organisation and to report to the Trust Board on
the soundness and effectiveness of the systems in place for risk management and
internal control. In order to provide this assurance to the Board, both Internal and
External Audit undertake objective reviews of Trust systems

•

Internal Audit review the system of internal control during the course of the financial
year and report accordingly to the Audit Committee.

•

Monitor monitors the Trust’s Performance

•

The Head of Internal Audit has stated in his HOIA Opinion that “based on the work
undertaken in 2009-2010, significant assurance can be given that there is a sound
system of internal control, designed to meet the organisations objectives, and that
controls are being applied consistently”.

7. Conclusion
There are no significant internal control issues that have been identified.

Tom Cahill
Chief Executive
26th May 2010
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Statement of the Chief Executive’s responsibilities as the accounting officer
of Hertfordshire Partnership NHS foundation Trust
The NHS Act 2006 states that the chief executive is the accounting officer of the NHS
foundation trust. The relevant responsibilities of accounting officer, including their
responsibility for the propriety and regularity of public finances for which they are
answerable, and for the keeping of proper accounts, are set out in the accounting
officers’ memorandum issued by the Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts
(“Monitor”).
Under the NHS Act 2006, Monitor has directed the Hertfordshire Partnership NHS
foundation Trust to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form
and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on an
accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of Hertfordshire
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust and of its income and expenditure, total recognised
gains and losses and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the accounting officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and in particular to:
• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by Monitor, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies
on a consistent basis;
• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
• State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation
Trust Financial Reporting Manual have been followed and disclose and explain
any material departures in the financial statements; and
• Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.
The accounting officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the NHS
foundation trust and to enable him/her to ensure that the accounts comply with
requirements outlined in the above mentioned Act. The ac counting officer is also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the NHS foundation trust and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities
set out in Monitor’s NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.

Signed
Tom Cahill, Chief Executive
26 May 2010

NHS Direct
Telephone: 0845 4647
ICAS
Telephone: 0845 456 1082
Independent Complaints Advocacy Service for Hertfordshire and Bedfordshire
If you require this information in a different language or format please contact the
Patent Advice and Liaison Service:
Tel: 01727 804629, Fax: 01727 804967
W razie potrzeby powyższy tekst można otrzymać w innymformacie
lub innym języku. Informacji w tej sprawie udziela: Patient Advice & Liaison Service:
Tel: 01727 804629, Fax: 01727 804967
(Polish)
Se avete bisogno di queste informazioni in una lingua o in unformato
differente, vi preghiamo di contattare: Patient Advice & Liaison Service
(Servizio relazioni e consigli per i pazienti)
Tel: 01727 804629, Fax: 01727 804967.
(Italian)

01727 804629
01727 804967

01727 804629
01727 804967

Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
works toward eliminating all forms of discrimination and
promoting equality of opportunity for all
www.hertspartsft.nhs.uk
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